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T A E ~ S U R E R s REPORT 

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 

State of Tennessee 
Treasury Department 

State Capito! 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 

December 31, 1999 

To the Governor, Members of the General Assembly. 
and Citizens of the State of Tennessee: 

The challenges of this year have been numerous. ft is a pleasure to report to you that the 
Treasury Department staff has been successful in addressing these zssues in an exemplary 
manner. The following pages outline our activities for the fiscal year ended Tune 30, 1999. Our 
outstanding performance and our achievements are the result of your support and the commit­
ment and expertise of an outstanding Treasury staff 

Our Treasury website, www.treasury.state.tn.us, has proven to be a great way to 
communicate with Tennesseans and others regarding our programs. Our Unclaimed Property 
and TCRS ben~fi.ts calculator sites seem to be the most popular with our members and visitors. 
In addition to our web presence, our electronic capabilities continue to enhance our financial 
operations by makmg transactions faster, more efficient and less expensive. 

The new millenium is sure to bring even more requests for our services. With excite­
ment, we look forward to the opportunity to serve each of you and to work with you to make 
Tennessee an even greater place to live. 

I' A 6 E 2 



INTRODUCTOR Y SECTI O N 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The 1999 Treasurer's Report contains reports on vanous programs adnurustered by 
the Treasury Department, including investments, the Tennessee Consolidated 
Retuement System, the Deferred Compensation ProgTam, the Flexible Benefits Plan. 
Clauns Administration, the Tennessee ClallllS Commission. R.t.sk Management, the 
Unclaimed Property Program, the Chairs of Excellence Program, the Baccalaureate 
Education System Trust, and the Careers Now Program. The following comments 
represent a bnef recap of the purpose and operations of each program adminis tered 
by the department. The remainder of this report gives detailed data regarding these 
programs ' activities during the 1998-99 fiscal year. 

The Investment Division has the responsibibty for investing all funds under 
management of the Treasury Department 

State Caslt Management - This secnon manages the State Pooled Investment Fund 
wluchincludes the state's cash, the various dedicated resenres and trust funds of the 
state, and the Local Government Investment Pool. Investments during 1998-99 
averaged $3.34 billion, producing $173.l million m income for an average rate of 
return of 5.22%, Local governments participating in the LocaJ Government Invest­
ment Pool received $78.1 million in interest at a net rate averaging 4.97%. The State 
Trust of Tennessee allows the department to use the Federal Reserve Wire Transfer 
System to transfer funds on a !united baslS. 

Pension Fund Investments -This section manages the investments of the Tennessee 
Consolidated Retirement System (TCRS) which at June 30, 1999 totaled $22.8 billion 
at fair value. For the year, investments produced $1.9 billion in income for a realized 
rate of return of 9.47% on a fair value basis. This secbon also manages investments for 
the Oiairs of Excellence Trust which at June 30, 1999 totaled $231.1 million at fair value. 

The Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System provides retirement coverage to 
state employees, higher education employees, teachers, and employees of political 
subdivisions that have elected to participate in the plan. As of June 30, 1999, there 
were 188,080 active TCRS members: 41,949 state employees; 62,456 K-12 teachers; 
64,540 political subdivision employees; and 19,135 higher education employees. As 
of June 30, 1999, there were 71 ,646 retirees. TCRS paid out $637.7 million in benefits 
during fiscal year 1998-99. The state of Tennessee is responsible for the pension 
liability for state employees and higher education employees and funds a significant 
porbon of the retirement liability for teachers through the BEP. Each participating 
political subdivision is responsible for the liability of its employees. 

The State of Tennessee Deferred Compensation Program offers state employees the 
opportunity to accumulate supplemental retirement income on a tax deferred basis. 
Participants may direct the investment of their deferred salary into a variety of 
investment products contracted for the program. During the 1998-99 fiscal year, the 
state, the University of Tennessee and Board of Regents each matched their 
employees' contributions to the 401(k) plan at $20 per month. As of June 30, 1999, 
47,449 state and higher education employees had accounts in the program. The 
market value of accumulated account balances totaled $540.4 million, an increase of 
$121.8 million during the year. 
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The State of Tennessee Flexible Benefits Plan is an optional benefit plan which enables 
state employees to pay for certain expenses with before-tax dollars. At June 30, 1999, 
37,631 state employees were using the plan: 37,185 paid group medical premiums, 
14,239 paid group dental premiums, 2,511 used the medical expense reimbursement 
account and 351 used the dependent care reimbursement accounL The plan generated 
over $24 million in F.I.C.A. savings for the state during the 1998-99 fiscal year. 

The Djvis1on of Claims Administration is responsible for investigating and making 
determinations on claims made agamst the state for workers' compensation by state 
employees, employee property damage, tort liabiht} and crirnmal injury compensa­
tion . Staff support from the Division of Claims Administration also assists the Board 
of Claims. The Division of Claims Administration received 6,110 clalIDS for tort, 
employee property damage and workers' compensation. Payments made during the 
year for workers' compensation, tort, and employee property damage claims totaled 
S19 million. 

The Board of Claims took action on seven matters regarding claims and insurance, and 
1,544 victims of criminal injury and drunk dnver claims were approved for payment. 
Payments made to victims of cn.minal injuries and drunk drivers totaled $6 million. Since 
the first payments were issued in 1982. over $97 million has been paid to crime victims. 

The Tennessee Clauns Commission is an administrative tribunal created to determine 
monetary claims against the State of Tennessee. There are three commissioners, one 
from each grand division of the state. Claims are payable from the Clauns Award Fund 
by the Division of Cla:uns Administration after adjudication by a commissioner. At 
June 30, 1999, the commission had 1,221 open claims (mcludrng claims transferred to 
administrative law judges). This represented a 16.6°10 reduction from cases open at June 
30, 1998. 

The Division of Risk Management is responsible fo r administering the state's Prop­
erty /Casualty Insurance Program, including the procurement of boiler insurance and 
employee fidelity bond coverage. All state-owned buildings and con tents are provided 
all-risk, replacement cost coverage for the limits of liability listed in the state's Property 
Insurance Schedule. On July 1, 1998, the total scheduled values were $9.l billion. The 
State Reserve for Casualty Losses, in the amount of $5 million, provides an annual 
aggregate retention for the payment of property clauns. Excess property coverage 15 

procured from an independent insurance carrier to provide claim payments in excess 
of the retention, should losses exceed $5 million in a given fiscal year. In fiscal year 1998-
99, the premium cost for total property coverage without the $5 million retention was 
estimated to be $10.9 million. The actual cost of the program for the same period was 
S2.5 million, providing a savings to the state of approximately $8.4 million. 

The Unclaimed Property Division administers the state's Uniform Disposition of 
Unclaimed Property Act. Under this act, the state provides one centralized location for 
the owners of abandoned property, or their heirs, to tum to when searching for 
forgotten assets. The types of property covered by this act are primarily cash property 
such as bank accounts, insurance policies, utility deposits, etc. During the fiscal year, 
$16.4 million of unclaimed property was turned over to the Treasurer and $5.8 million 
was returned to owners or their heirs. Since the program began operations in 1979, over 
$162.7 million in unclaimed property has been reported to the Treasurer and over $47.9 
nullion (29%) of that property has been returned to owners or their heirs. 



I N T R 0 D U C T 0 R Y SECT IO N 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Chairs of Excellence Trust is il non-expendable trust fund authorized in 1984 
to further the cause of education in Tennessee. The funding of the program is 
provided through contributions made by a private donor and a matchmg 
amount by the state, thus, creating a chair. Income from the chair is used to 
offset the cost of retaining a nationally or regionally recognized scholar at a 
state college or university who teaches in a specified academic area. Dunng the 
1999 fiscal year, one chair was created and private contributions of $304,250 
were received. Smee 1984, a total of 97 chairs have been created. The Trust 
totaled $233.6 million fair value at June 30, 1999 and produced income of $26.8 
million during the year. 

The Tennessee Baccalaureate Education System Trust, or BEST, is a prepaid 
college tuition savings program that allows anyone to pay for higher educahon 
costs in advance on behalf of a beneficiary. Through the purchase of affordable 
tuition units, Tennesseans can pay for future tuition at today's price and ease 
their concerns about whether they will have enough funds to pay for their 
children's higher education. Flexibility 1s a key component of the program by 
allowing participants to determine when and how much to save, and by 
providing multiple payment options and unlimited school choices. In addi­
tion, state college savings programs provide favorable tax benefits to partici­
pants. The BEST program began accepting contributions in June 1997. The 
Trust totaled $15.2 million at fair value on June 30, 1999. During the 1998-99 
fiscal year, 2,457 new contracts were opened, bnngmg the total under admin­
istration to 5,450. 

The Careers NOW Program provides Tennessee college students the opportu­
nity to learn more about the operations of state government and career 
opportunities therein by working in one of the three constitutional offices for 
a semester. The program has had 92 students since it began in January 1996. 

I 

The Treasurer has been appointed Refunding Trustee for the Tennessee Local 
Development Authority (TLDA), for the Tennessee State School Bond Author­
ity, and for the Funding Board of the State of Tennessee in connection with the 
sale of bonds issued to refund , in advance of maturity, bonds and notes 
previously issued by the TLDA, School Bond Authority, and Funding Board. 
The Treasurer has established a Refunding Trust Fund for the benefit of the 
holders of the refunded bonds. A portion of the proceeds of the refunding 
bonds were used to acquire direct general obligations of the United States of 
America or obligations which are unconditionally guaranteed by the United 
States of America as to principal and interest. The assets of the Refunding Trust 
Fund totaled $72.5 million at fair value on June 30, 1999. 
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TRE~SURER s REPORT 

TREASURY NUMBERS AT A GLANCE 

FISCAL YEAR 1998-99 

ADMINISTRATIVE Number of Filled Positions 182 
Payroll Expenditures $ 7,967,823 
Other Expenditures s, 4,356,350 

Total Admirustrative Expenditures $ 12,324,173 

CASH General Fwid Earnings $ 38,508,412 
MANAGEMENT LGIP Earnings $ 92,755,592 

PROGRAM 
Restricted Fund Earnings Si 41 ,653,199 

Total Cash Management Earnings $ 172.917,203 

RETIREMENT Retirement Benefits $ 637,732,134 
PROGRAM Number of Retirees 71,646 

Number of Active Members 188,080 
Retirement Contributions $ 474,865,500 
Retirement Investment Earnings $ 1.932,716,042 

CLAIMS Workers' Compensation Payments $ 14,068,257 

ADMlNJSTRA TION Workers' Compensation Claims Filed 3,974 

PROGRAM 
Employee Property Damage Payments $ 33,990 
Employee Property Damage Clauns Filed 226 
Tort Claims Payments $ 4,941,284 
Tort Claims Filed 1,910 
Criminal Injury Payments $ 6,049,873 
Criminal Injury Number of Payments Made 1,544 
Claims Award Fund Revenue $ 14,547,412 

RISK Property Values Insured $ 9,058,235,600 
MANAGEMENT Total Cost of Program 5 2,512,797 
PROGRAM Savings to the State over Private Insurance Rates $ 8,357,086 

CHAIRS OF Chairs of Excellence Contributions $ 304,250 

EXCELLENCE Chairs Of Excellence Investment Earnings $ 26,856,551 

PROGRAM 
Chairs of Excellence Expenses $ 8,173,476 
T otaJ Number of Chairs of Excellence 97 

OTHER Deferred Compensation Contributions $ 50,377,859 

PROGRAMS State Matching Contributions $ 5,019,855 
Deferred Compensation Participants 47,449 
Flexible Benefits Plan Payments $ 3,402,821 
FICA Savings Generated from Flex Plan $ 2,379,874 
Unclaimed Property Revenues $ 16,432,805 
Unclaimed Property Payments $ 5,838,266 
BEST Accounts 5,450 
BEST Contributions (net of fees) $ 7,409,891 

FAIR VALUE OF Retirement Trust Fund $ 23(056,668,747 
Assrrs UNDER Chairs of Excellence Trust Fund $ 233,594,597 

MANAGEMENT State Pooled Investment Fund Investments $ 3,744,267,975 

AT 6/30/99 
Deferred Compensation (outside managers) $ 540,365,561 
Baccalaureate Education System Trust $ 15,178,367 
Bond Refunding Trust $ 72,581,095 

Total Assets Under Managemen t $ 27,662,656,342 

P A G E 6 
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P R 0 G R A M .. DMlttlSTRAT IO N 

STATE CASH MANAGEMENT 

The state of Tennessee receives revenues from 
many sources such as taxes, licenses. fees, and the 
federal government. As these morues are collected, 
they are deposited into one of the 187 financial insti­
tutions in Tennessee that have contracted with the 
state to serve as depositories. Under the state Consti­
tution, the state may not spend more money on its 
programs than it has collected in revenues. Conse­
quently, at any point in time the state has a sizable 
sum of money collected but not yet spent. These 
monies are invested by the Treasury Department 
until needed to pay for state expenses, payroll, or 
benefit program disbursements. 

During the 1998-99 fiscal year, the average balance of 
short term investments in the Treasurer's Cash Man­
agement program was $3,337,252,167 per month and 
interest income of $173,051,920 was earned. This 
includes deposits in the Local Government Invest­
ment Pool administered by the Treasury Department. 

The State Funding Board sets the investment policy 
for the state. The State Fund ing Board is composed of 
the Governor, Com.missioner of Finance and Admin­
istration, Comptroller, Secretary of State, and Treas­
urer. The forem ost investment ob1ective of the State 
Pooled Investment Fund is safety of principal, fol­
lowed by liquidity and then yield. 

STATE CASH M A NAGEM EN T 

The current investment policy for the State Pnoled 
Investment Fund was established to follow SEC Rule 
2a-7-like guidelines for a money market fund. The 
maximum maturity of any security can not exceed 
397 days and the weighted average matunty must be 
90 days or less. 

Funds may be invested in collateralized certificates 
of deposit with authorized Tennessee financial insti­
tutions; bills, notes and bonds of the U.S. Treasury; 
other obllgatlons guaranteed as to principal and 
interest by the United States or any of its agencies; 
and repurchase agreements against obligations ot 
the Uruted States or its agencies. Securities underly­
ing repurchase agreements must be book-entry and 
dehvered to the State Trust of Tennessee. Funds mav 
also be invested in prime commercial paper and 
prime banker's acceptances. 

At June 30, 1999, investments had an average matu­
rity of 65 days, and an average weighted yield of 
4.98%. The total balance in the State Pooled Invest­
ment Fund at June 30, 1999 ($3,672,000,700 par value) 
was a1Jocated as follows: U.S. Treasury government 
and agency securities, 2L04%; repurchase agree­
ments, 5.85%; collateralized certificates of deposit, 
46.63°10; and commercial paper, 26.48%. 

STATE CASH MANAGEMENT COMPARATIVE RETURNS 

In order to ensure that state investment returns reflect current market conditions, several market indicators 
are carefully monitored. Among these are rates reported daily in the Wall Street J oumal, rates on U.S. Treasury 
securities and mstitutional money market funds. The following table illustrates state returns compared with 
two of these ind icators. 

Fiscal 1Total Pool 2Me:rrill Lynch 3New Pool 490 Day Treasury 
Year Funds Institutional Fund Funds (CD Equivalent Yield) 

1998-99 5.22% 5.02% 5.03% 
1997-98 5.64 5.44 5.59 

1996-97 5.50 5.25 5.40 
1995-96 5.69 5.49 5.60 

1994-95 5.34 5.33 5.47 

1lnvestment return on total portfolio. 
2This index most closely resembles the structures and objectives of the total cash portfolio. 
3lnvestment return on funds invested during the year. 
•nus approximates the reinvestment penod for new funds. 

4.59% 

5.17 
5.17 
5.29 
5.45 
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TRE.&SURER s REPORT 

STATE CASH MANAGEMENT 

ADMINISTRATION OF AUTHORIZED STATE 
DEPOSITORY ACCOUNTS 

The Cash Management Division is responsible for 
the administrahon of the state's bank accounts in 
Tennessee financial institutions designated as autho­
rized state depositories. Taxpayers and state agen­
cies can deposit certain tax funds due to the state 
directly to any Treasurer's account at any authorized 
state depository. 

The four mostsigruficant functions of administenng 
the accounts are: (1) authorizing the state depository 
to accept state funds; (2) cash concentrahon; (3) col­
lateralizmg deposits; and (4) monitoring collateral 
and deposits. Financial institutions' requests to be­
come authorized s tate depositories are received in 
Cash Management, reviewed, and forwarded to the 
appropriate state officials for consideration and ap­
proval. 

The Cash Management Th.vision is responsible for 
the cash concentration and management of all state 
depository accounts. Cash Management staff inquire 
on the balances of bank accounts and concentrate 
available funds into the State Trust to meet liquidity 
and investment needs. Account balances are drawn 
to the floor and concentrated by Fed wire or Auto­
mated Clearinghouse (ACH) transactions. The ac­
count floor is the minimum amount required by the 
financial institution for that particular account to 
earn interest. AU of these state accounts are interest 
bearing. 

Changes in branch banking laws and bank owner­
ship due to mergers and acquisitions have brought 
about a need to quickly identify the parent bank, 
holding company and affiliate trustee custodians for 
state depositories. The ability to access and update 
this information on a database enhances the ability to 
monitor deposits and collateral based on appropriate 
bank ownership. 

This same database is accessed for current account 
information for balance inquiry and cash concentra­
tion. It automates the link from balance inquiry to 
cash concentration by generating an ACH transac­
tion . This automation provides more time to inquire 
on more accounts. The account balance floors are 
automatically compared to the balances entered to 
calculate ACH transaction amounts. 

PAGE 10 

ST A TE COLLATERAL PROGRAM 

Collateral is required to secure s tate deposits held m 
authorized state depository m.stJtutions. Statute sets 
the required collateral level at a market value of 105 
percent of the value of the deposit secured, Jess the 
amount secured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation. However, if the state depository is op­
erating with a capital-to-asset ratio of less than five 
percent, adclit10nal collateral with a market value of 
£100,000 is required. The types of investment instru­
ments which are eligible to be pledged as collateral 
are listed in this report. 

The state of the economy and the financial environ­
ment has increased the 101portance of morutoring 
collateral. Cash Management staff rev1e1.v collateral 
daily, weekly, and monthly. Any collateral deficien­
cies at authorized state depository institutions are 
reported to the Funding Board monthly. Reasons for 
under-collateralization include market price volatil­
ity of the security pledged, unexpected high deposits 
to an account, interest accruals. capital-to-asset ratios 
falling below five percent, and principal paydowns 
on asset backed securibes which have been pledged 
as collateral. 

Collateral is held by an authorized trustee custodian 
in the name of the state of Tennessee. Treasury staff 
must authorize the receipt. release, and substitution 
of all collateral. 

8·5-110 COLLATERAL 

Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-5-110 designates 
the Treasurer as the custodian of all negotiable in­
struments deposited with the state or any depart­
ment thereof, and requires the Treasurer to be exclu­
sively responsible for the safekeeping thereof 

Cash Management personnel work directly with the 
personnel of the state agencies to accept and release 
collate.ral held in accordance with therr specific in­
structions. Other state agencies cooperahng with the 
Treasurer in this regard include the Department of 
Health, the Department of Environment and Conser­
vation, the Department of Commerce and Insurance, 
the Department of Transportation, and the Depart­
ment of Financial Institutions. Reports of collateral 
transactions, holdings, and matunties are regularly 
shared with these departments. 



P A 0 G R ~ M J.DMINISTRi>TIO~I 

COLLATERAL POOL 

Legislation passed in March 1990 - "The Collateral 
Pool for Public Deposit<> Act" - authorized the for­
mation of a collateral pool for banks. The Collateral 
Pool operates under the jurisdiction of the Collateral 
Pool Board, which is comprised of four bankers and 
three government members representing state and 
local government divisions. The Collateral Pool Board 
has established rules and procedures that provide a 
low amount of risk and a high degree of efficiency for 
participating institutions. 

While participation in the Collateral Pool is volun­
tary, participation is subject to application to and 
approval by the Collateral Pool Board. The Board has 
established minimum financial performance levels 
for applicants which must be met to ensure that only 
healthy institutions are permitted to participate. 

All public funds held by a pool participant are collat­
eralized based on a collateral target calculated each 
month by the participant. The collateral target is 

STATE CASH MANAGEMENT 

based on the aggregate average balance of all public 
funds for the month multiplied by the pledge per­
centage assigned to the participant by the Board. 

All collateral transactions for the pool are monitored 
and processed through the Treasury Department 
using uniform state-wide procedures. ln addition, 
Treasury Department staff monitors all pool activity 
through the monthly, quarterly, and annual reports 
required to be submitted by pool participants. 

The Collateral Pool began operations on November 
1, 1995 with 13 banks participahng. Only banks were 
irutially eligible to participate in the pool, but in the 
spring of 1996, legislahon was passed to allow thrift 
institutions to participate m the Collateral Pool. The 
Collateral Pool Board began accepting applications 
from thrift institutions on August 29, 1996. 

Currently, the Collateral Pool has 43 participant insh­
tutions collateralizing public funds in excess of $3 
billion. 

P A G E 1 1 



TREASURER s REPORT 

STATE CASH MANAGEMENT 

SECURITIES ACCEPT ABLE AS COLLATERAL FOR ST A TE DEPOSITS 

1. U.S1 Treasury Bills 

2. U.S. Treasury Notes & Bonds 

3. Federal Housing Administration (FHA) debentures 

4. Government National Mortgage Associations (GNMA)~ 

5. Farm Credit System (FCS) 
a. Federal Land Bank Bond (FLBB) 
b. Farm Credit Systemwide Bonds (FCSB) 
c. Farm Credit Systemwide Discount Notes (FCDN) 
d. Farm Credit System wide Floating Rate Notes (FCFR) 

6. Federal Home Loan Banks 
a. Bonds (FHLB) 
b. DlSCOunt Notes (FHDN) 
c. Floating Rate Notes (FHFR) 

7. Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC)• 
a. Mortgage-Backed Participation Certificates and Adjustable Rate Securities (FMPC, FMAR) 
b. Discount Notes (FMDN) 

8. Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA)" 
a. Bonds, Debentures, Secondary Market Debt Obligations (FNSM) 
b. Discount Notes {FNDN) 
c. Floating Rate Notes (FNFR) 
d. Mortgage-Backed Pass-Through Certificates {FNRF) 
e. Residential Financing Securities (FNRF) 
f. Adjustable Rate Mortgage-Backed Bonds (FNAR) 

9. Student Loan Marketing Association (SLMA) 
a . DiscoWlt Notes (SLDN) 
b. Fixed Rate Notes (SL.MN) 
c. Floating Rate Notes (SLFR) 
d. Bonds (SLBD) 

10. Tennessee Valley Authority Bonds and Notes (TV A) 

11. Collaterahzed Mortgage Obligations (CMOs) and Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduits 
(REMICs) that are direct obligations of a U.S. agency or FNMA/ FHLMC, except that the "residual" 
class/ tranche of such securities will not be acceptable. Sufficient excess securities should be 
pledged to allow for the periodic reduction of principal. 

12. Certain Tennessee Municipal Bonds as specified in T.C.A. Section 9-4-103. 

13. Surety Bonds issued by insurance companies meeting certain requirements, including licensure 
under the laws of Tennessee. 

14. Standby Letters of Credit from approved Federal Home Loan Banks. 

•Pass through securities must reflect current paid down values and be kept up to date. 

PAGE 12 



PROGRA M AO M IN I STRl\TION 

STATE CASH MANAGEMENT 

HISTORICAL ANALYSIS OF STATE CASH INVESTMENTS 

Collateralized Time Deposits 

Fiscal Year Average Amount Invested Amount Earned Rate of Return 
1998-99 $ 1,403,271,417 $ 73,497,837 5.2sr:10 

1997-98 1,055,776,333 59,831,252 5.66°0 
1996-97 848,697,167 46,917,097 ss~·i., 

1995-96 8~5,888,333 49,605,934 5.89% 
1994-95 743,203,083 39,498,384 5.34% 

Repurchase Agreements 

Fiscal Year Average Amount Invested Amount Earned Rate of Return 
1998-99 $ 139 ,544,000 $ 6,971,489 5.05% 
1997-98 164,851,917 9.136,064 5.56% 
1996-97 180,228,167 9,743,171 537% 
1995-96 176,878,167 9,988,181 5.62°/o 
1994-95 172,311,500 9,375.039 5.46% 

Commercial Paper 

Fiscal Year Average Amount Invested Amount Earned Rate of Return 
1998-99 $ 1,113,779,-117 $ 58,565,097 5.26~o 
1997-98 890,313,583 50,659,421 5.69% 
1996-9i i39,561,917 41,056,244 5.35% 
1995-96 591,118,167 33,556,447 5.65% 
1994-95 533,771,250 29,860,669 5.60% 

U.S. Government Securities 

Fiscal Year Average Amount Invested Amount Earned Rate of Return 
1998-99 $ 680,657,333 $ 34,017,497 5.14% 
1997-98 652,920,833 36,098,337 5.52% 
1996-97 622,375,583 34,547,557 5.45% 
1995-96 655,638,667 35,684,775 5.46% 

\ 1994-95 692,287,167 34.534,311 5.07% 

Securities Lending Income 

Fiscal Year Average Amount Invested Amount Earned Rate of Return 
1998-99 NIA $ 0 NI A 
1997-98 NI A 0 NIA 
1996-9i NIA 0 NIA 
1995-96 NI A 0 NIA 
1994-95 NI A 487,467 NIA 

Total Funds 

Fiscal Year Average Total Cash Management Composite Weighted 
Funds Invested lnveshnent Earnings Average Rate of Return 

1998-99 $ 3,337,252, 167 $ 173,051,920 522% 
1997-98 2,763,862,666 155,725,07-1 5.64% 
1996--97 2,390,862,834 132,264,069 5.50% 
1995-96 2,259,523,334 128,835,337 5.69% 
1994-95 2,141,573,000 113,761,870 5.34% 
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STATE CASH MANAGEMENT 

CASH MANAGEMENT INVESTMENTS COMPOSITE WEIGHTED AVERAGE RATE OF RETURN 
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p R 0 G R A M A D M I N I s T R A T I 0 N 

STATE CASH MANAGEMENT 

CASH MANAGEMENT PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS 
Fiscal Year Ended fune 30, 1999 

Current Total Avg. Portfolio Composition 
Investment Portfolio Days to Certificates Repurchase U.S. Treasury U.S. Commercial 

Date Yield Yield Maturity of Deposit Agreements Notes Agency Paper 
Jul-98 5.54% 5.59% 69 38.95% 3.38% 1.50% 22.39% 33.77% 

Aug-98 559% 5.60°~ 67 36.87% 4.59% 1.44% 24.48% 32.62% 
Sep-98 551 % 5.58°~ 68 36.18% 4.60~·o 1.47% 23.89% 33.87% 
Oct-98 5.07% 5.43°10 85 44.46% 3.46% 1.53% 16.34% 34.21 ~o 

Nov-98 4.89% 5.22% 87 45.19% 5.41% 1.59% 13.34% 34.48% 
Dec-98 4.93% 5.22% 76 47.31% 6.20% 1.67% 10.57% 34.26°0 
Jan-99 4.76% 5.08% 65 44.82% 4.14% 1.57% 15.47% 33.99% 
Feb-99 4.80% 5.01 % 68 42.95% 4.16% 1 06~o 18.34% 33.49% 

Mar-99 4.83% 5.06°0 78 42.16% 4.13% 1.53% 18.13% 34.05% 
Apr-99 4.83% 4.99% 74 39.72% 4.29% 1.45% 20.28% 34.27% 
May-99 4.80% 4.94% 76 41.39% 2.64% 1.40% 22.58% 32.00% 
Jun-99 4.84% 4.95% 68 45.55% 3.60% 1.41% 19.48% 29.96% 

Dollu 
Weighted 

Avg. 5.03% 5.22% 73 42.13% 7.58% 1.47% 18.77% 33.41% 

General Fund LGIP Other Restricted Total Average 
Date Average Percent Average Percent Average Percent Invested 

Jul-98 s 853,100,232 25.75% $1,675,545,568 50.58% $ 784,121200 23.67% $ 3.312,767,000 
Aug-98 997,249,225 28.76% 1.696,919,480 48.93% 773,631295 22.31% 3,4.67,800,000 
Sep-98 879,977,589 25.94% 1,739 ,771,036 51.28% 773,176.375 22.79% 3,392,925,000 
Oct-98 741,975,277 22.70% 1,706,018,097 52.19% 820,899,626 2511 % 3268,893,000 

Nov-98 681,461,024 21.70% 1,690,757 ,800 53.84% 767,989,176 24.46% 3,140.208,000 
Dec-98 570,628,972 19.12% 1,645,919,648 55.15% 768,149.380 25.74% 2,984,698.000 
Jan-99 550,023,119 17.32% 1,841,227,989 57.97% 784,946,892 24.71% 3,176,198,000 

Felr99 456,652,231 14.18% 1,960.061,982 60.86% 803,803,787 24.96% 3,220,518,000 
Mar-99 432,988,027 13.00% 2,134,484,221 64.07% 763,800,752 22.93% 3,331,273,000 
Apr-99 603,382,284 17.18% 2,088,782,404 59.49% 819,174.312 23.33% 3,511,339,000 
May-99 776,936,274 21.37% 2,019,896,718 55.57% 838,335,008 23.06% 3,635,168,000 
Jun-99 806,521.697 22.37% 1,945,517,268 53.96% 853,200,035 23.67% 3,605,239,000 

Avg. $ 695,907,996 20.85% $ 1,845,408,518 55.30% $ 795,935,653 23.85% $ 3,337,252,167 

P I\ G E I 5 



T A E A 5 U A E A s REPORT 

STATE CASH MANAGEMENT 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT POOL 

Tennessee murucipalities, counties, school districtsJ 
utility distncts, commuruty service agencies, local 
government units, and political subdivisions can 
deposit monies with the Treasurer to be .invested in 
the s tate cash management investment pool. Of 
course, these local governments can inves t their 
monies directly in the money market if they so desire. 
However, by allowing their dollars to be invested by 
the state they eliminate the complexjties of manag­
ing day-to-day investment and collateral relation­
ships with banks and /or securities dealers. This 
allows cash managers who have previously been 
lirruted either by the relativelv small amoW1tof funds 
availableforin~estmentorthecomplexitiesof today's 
investment environment to take advantage of the 
volume and expertise of the Treasurer's cash man­
agement program. 

The Local Go\'emment Investment Pool began oper­
ations in No\'ember ofl 980. Participation m the LGIP 
program currently s tands at 910 active accoW1ts, 
representing 302 local government uruts. In addi­
tion, 405 accounts are active in the Department oi 
Transportation (DOT) program. 

Local governments which enter into agreements with 
the DOT often establish an LGIP account to fund the 
locaJ matching portion of a highway project grant. 
These DOT accounts are available to provide the 
local match to the specific highway project in a timely 
manner while earning interest for the local govern­
ment. In a similar fashion, the Tennessee Board of 
Regents schools provide their matching portion of 

Capital Projects funds while earning interest for the 
benefit of the Board of Regents school. 

The Treasurer's Office has installed a facsimile copy 
machine to assist participants of the LGIP in commu­
nicating their instructions regarding deposits, trans­
fers or wi thdrawals of funds. Thus, participants ha,-e 
the choice of communicating these instructions by 
telephone or telecopier. 

In addition, voice mail telephone service has been 
provided to permit LGlP participants to give tele­
phone transacbon instructions while staff is busy on 
other telephone lines. Voice mail permits an increase 
in productivity while holding costs constant. 

LGIP reports mailed to participants include monthly 
statements and transaction confirmations Monthly 
statements detail all debits and credits to the account 
during the month, the account's average daily bal­
ance, and interest credited. A transaction confirma­
tion is mailed to the participant each time a deposit or 
\'\Tithdrawal is made. Many participants rely on this 
documentation for daily and weekJy reconciliations. 

Participants earn interest on LGIP deposits based on 
the average rate of interest earned on the investments 
acquired for the entire cash management pool each 
month. This average earnings rate is reduced each 
month by six one hundredths ofone percent (.06%) as 
an adrrurustrative fee for participating in the LGIP 
program. During the 1998-99 fiscal year, the average 
rate participants earned on their deposits after the fee 
reduction was 4.97%. Other activity is shoV\rn on the 
following schedule by participant group. 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT POOL SCHEDULE OF ACTIVITY BY ENTITY TYPE 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1999 

Net Net 
Account Deposits/ Interest Account 
Balance (Withdrawals) Credited Balance 
7/1/98 FY 1998-99 FY1998-99 6/30/99 

Cities $ 306,822,901 $ (7.228,414) $ 15,392,304 $ 314,986,791 

Counties 733,845,508 (38,062,132) 36,961,712 732,745,088 

Commitments to D.0.T 54,554,001 (6,749,110) 2,814,8/8 50,619,769 

Educational Institutions 378,169,548 42,591,777 25,853,253 446,614,578 

Community Health Agencies 10.254,003 146,766 469,417 10,870,186 

Restricted Accounts 926,097 (24,465) 46,242 947,874 

Other 175,569,648 58,226,384 10,113,504 243.909,536 

Total $ 1,660,141,706 $ 48,900.806 s; 91,651,310 $ 1,800,693,822 
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ST ATE TRUST OF TENNESSEE 

The State Trust of Tennessee, a not-for-profit corpo­
ration, was chartered in the state of Tennessee on 
Apri.J 20, 1979 and began operations in December 
1980. The State Trust has enabled the Treasury De­
partment to gain limited membership in the Federal 
Reserve Bank System. Being a lirruted member of the 
Federal Reserve gives the Treasury Department ac­
cess to the Federal Reserve Wire System, which is 
used to send, receive, transfer and control funds 
movement expediently under the Treasurer's man­
agement. 

Due to restrictions imposed upon state-o"':ned trust 
companies by the Federal Reserve Board, the State 

STATE CASH MANAGEMENT 

Trust of Tennessee is limited in the number of daily 
outgomg Wll'e transfers and can no longer settle 
ACH transacnons through its account at the Federal 
Reserve. 

The restrictions required the State Trust of Tennes­
see to contract w ith an agent bank to execute these 
transactions. First American National Bank in Nash­
ville serves as the Trust's agent for the penod July 1, 
1999 through June 30, 2004. 

The State Trust became an associate member of the 
Nashville Clearinghouse on April 1, 1994. Approxi­
mately 85% of all check items presented for redemp­
tion are processed through the clearinghouse. 

STATE TRUST OF TENNESSEE FEDERAL RESERVE BANK TRANSACTIONS 
Fiscal Year 1998-99 

Transaction Type Number Amount 

(1) Wire Disbursements 8,207 $ 6,658,985,381 

(2) Wire Receipts 7,445 12,271,363,265 

(3) Security Disbursements 1,072 37,563,740,529 

(4) Security Receipts 1,041 37,432,380,291 

(5) Check Redempbons 6,454,001 7,782,057,303 

Total 6,471,766 $ 101,708,526,769 

Explanabon of Transaction Types: 

(1) Disbursements of cash for the purpose of non-Fed eligible securities, settlement wires to agent bank, 
and other non-recurring wires. 

(2) Receipt of cash for payment of interest and principal for non-Fed eligible securities, concentration of 
cash deposited in local banks, drawdown of Federal funds, and Local Govenunent Investment Pool 
(LGIP) deposits. 

(3) Disbursement of cash against the receipt of Fed eligible securities (U.S. Government securities held in 
book-entry form by the Federal Reserve Bank). 

(4) Receipt of cash against the disbursement of Fed eligible securities. 

(5) Redemption of warrants, drafts, and checks issued by the state. 
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TCRS INVESTMENTS 

TCRS INVESTMENTS 

Investment objectives for the TCRS Investment Divi­
sion are to obtain the highest a\·ailable return on 
investments consistent with the preservation of prin­
cipal, while maintaining sufficient hqu1dity to react 
to the changing environment and to pay beneficia­
ries in a timely manner. 

TCRS Investment Division's policies and strategies 
serve to benefit plan members in several ways. The 
emphasis on a conservative asset allocation and high 
quality securities helps to ensure the soundness of 
the system and the ability to provide the needed 
funds upon a member's retirement 

Funds in the retirement system are actively managed 
with a diversified portfolio of high-quality domestic 
and international bonds, domestic and rntemational 
stocks, and money market instruments. 

The investment authority for TCRS is set out in 
Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-37-104(a), which 
provides that, with certain specific exceptions, in­
vestments of TCRS assets are subject to the same 
terms, conditions, and limitations imposed on do­
mestic life insurance companies. It further provides 
that investment policy for TCRS funds is subject to 
the approval of the Board of Trustees. 

An Investment Advisory Council was established by 
the Consolidated Retirement Act of 1972 to provide 
policy guidance to the Board of Trustees and the 
investment staff. The current Advisory Council is 
compnsed of senior investment professionals from 
within the state of Tennessee. All members hold the 
Chartered Financial Analyst designation or Certified 
Public Accountant designation. 

Effective January 1, 1998, State Street Bank began 
providing Master Trust Custodial services to TCRS. 
The master custodian p rovides safekeeping and ac­
counting services. 
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INITIA Tl VES 

Since the Tennessee General Assembly enacted leg­
islation to authorize TCRS to further diversify its 
portfolio by allowing investments in real estate, the 
system has been achve m establishmg the necessary 
infrastructure to manage this asset class. The system 
hired an ex'Perienced real estate portfol10 manager, 
employed the services of a real estate investment 
consultant, adopted m temal operating procedures to 
carry out the provisions of the real estate policy as 
adopted by the TCRS Board of Trustees, and em­
ployed the services of real estate investment advi­
sors. The first purchase of real estate occurred in 
September 1999. 

During the next six months. the investment diVlSion 
will conduct an asset allocation study to evaluate the 
risk and return of vanous asset allocation strategies. 

EXrERNAL MANAGERS FOR INTERN A TI ON AL 
EQUITY 

TCRS utilizes external managers for the investment 
management of the international equity asset class. 
The use of external managers for this asset class 
began in November 1995 when the number of coun­
tries in which stock purchases could be made was 
increased from seven to 39. Pursuant to T.C.A. Sec­
tion 8-3-113, the initial selection of external managers 
included one emerging investment manager. The 
initial allocation included $10 million for emerging 
managers. Subsequent allocahons in April 1997 and 
November 1998 mcluded $40 million for emerging 
managers. 
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TCRS INVESTMENTS 

INVESTMENT SUMMARY 
As of June 30, 1999 

Domesbc International Total 
% of '}D Of 0·o of 
Total Total Total 
Fair Fair Fair 

Fair Value Value fair Value Value Fair Value Value 

Fixed income 
Government bonds $ 8,191,771,379 36.05°u $ 1,016.111,118 4.47°n $ 9 ,207 ,882,497 40.52% 
Corporate bonds 2,902,474,974 12.77% 430,839,1q9 1.90% 3,333,314,173 14.6no 
Convertible bonds 82.102,275 036% 6,512,667 0 .03% 88,614,942 0.39~o 

Total bonds $ 11,176,348,628 49.18% $ 1.453,462,984 6.40% $ 12.629,811,612 5558°•0 
Preferred stock 158,089,250 0.70% 11,.534,349 0.05% 169,623,599 0.75~o 

Total fixed income $ 11,334,437,878 49.88% $ 1,464.997,333 6.45% $ 12,799,435,211 56.33% 

Common stock 
Banks $ 610,760,852 2.69% $ 161,351,608 0.71% $ 772, 112,460 3.40% 
Business services 223,966,925 0.99% 211,818,954 093% 435,785.879 1.92% 
Capital goods 372.393,812 l.64% 223,705,361 0.98% 596,099,173 2.62% 
Commingled fund 0 O.OO~o 11,853,922 0.05% 11,853,922 0.05°h 
Consumer durables 115,605,903 0.51°b 121,307,127 0.53'}o 236,913,030 1.04°0 
Consumer non-durables 527,432,292 2.32~o 151,198,838 0.6na 678,631,130 2.99°h 
Consumer services 306,550,375 l.35~o 113.011,896 050% 419,562,271 1.85'}c. 
Energy 384,990,906 1.69% 179,796,018 0.80% 564,786,924 2.49'lo 
Financial services 503,652,137 2.22°~ 151,260,599 0.67% 654,912,736 2 89~o 
Health care 861,734,457 3.79% 75,396,869 0.33% 937,131,326 4.12% 
Multi-indus try 11,113,188 0.05% 48,800,878 021% 59,914,066 026% 
Private placement 0 0.00% 15,780,481 0.07% 15,780,481 0.07% 
Raw materials 247,501,469 1.09% 180,146,937 0.79% 427,648,406 1.88% 
Retail 505,676,933 223% 66,416,422 029% 572,093,355 2.52% 
Rights I warrants 0 0.00% 4,325,571 0.02% 4,325,571 0.02% 
Technology 1,527,535,705 6.72% 225,286,202 0.99% 1,752,821,907 7.71% 
Transportabon 68,488,437 0.30% 54,256,970 024% 122,745,407 0.54% 
Unclassified 0 0.00% 5,649,994 0.02% 5,649,994 0.02% 
Utilities 813,661,521 3.58% 107,073,583 0.47o/., 920,735.104 4.05% 

Total common stock $ 7 ,081,064, 912 31.17% $ 2,108,438,230 927% $ 9,189,503,142 40.44% 

Short-tenn investments 
Commercial paper $ 537,038,847 2.37~o $ 0 O.OO'}o $ 537,038,847 2.37% 
U.S. gov't securibes 196,069,017 0.86°~ 0 0.00% 196,069,017 0 .86% 

Total short-term 
mvestments $ 733,107,864 323% $ 0 0.00% $ 733,107,864 323% 

Total investments $ 19,148,610,654 84.28% s 3,573,435,563 15.72% $ 22,722,046,217 100.00% 
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TREASURER ' S A E P 0 A T 

TCRS INVESTMENTS 

TCRS INVESTMENTS BENCHMARK ANALYSIS 

1Public Fund 1Yield To 
Fiscal Index Median 2TCRS Maturity on 
Year Total Return Total Return New Bonds 

1998-99 10.0% 9.5°~ 6.6% 
1997-98 17.9 15.1 6.4 
1996-97 18.9 15.7 6.7 
1995-96 15.8 12.8 6.2 
1994-95 15.4 12.8 7.3 
1993-94 1.6 0.5 5.9 
1992-93 13.2 15.1 6.5 
1991-92 12.1 13.7 8.2 
1990-91 7.9 7.8 8.7 
1989-90 10.4 11.6 9.0 

1lhis index most closely resembles the structure and objectives of TCRS. 
2This is the time weighted method used to cakulate returns and is the most accurate way to mea­
sure performance. 

'Th.is is the yield-to-maturity on bonds acquired with new funds during each fiscal year 

SUMMARY OF TCRS EARNINGS 
Fiscal Years 1994-95 through 1998-99 

Fiscal Year 

1998-99 

1997-98 

1996-97 

1995-96 

1994-95 

TCRS Portfolio 
Earnings1 

$1,932,716,042 

2,758,267,944 

2,514,952,816 

1,806,673,555 

930,425,055 

•Beginning ...,rith fiscal year 1995-96, TCRS portfolio earnings include unrealized appreciation on invest­
ments. 
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TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT 
SYSTEM 

The Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System 
(TCRS) was established July 1, 1972. Prior to this 
date, there were seven different public employee 
retirement systems. The TCRS, a defined benefit plan 
which is qualified under 401(a) of the Internal Rev­
enue Code (IRC), is a retirement system for state 
employees, higher education employees, teachers, 
and local government employees. 

MEMBERSHIP 

Membership in the retirement system is a condition 
of employment for full-time state employees, teach­
ers, general employees in higher education, and the 
employees of local governments that participate in 
TCRS. Membership is optional for certain part-time 
employees. Faculty employees in higher education 
may participate in either TCRS or an Optional Retire­
ment Program (ORP), which is a de.fined contribu­
tion plan designed for faculty employees in institu­
tions of higher education. When an employee joins 
TCRS, he receives an introductory letter and mem-

ACTIVE MEMBERS 
Fiscal Years 1995-1999 
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bership pamphlet outlining various aspects of retire­
ment membership. 

State employees and teachers become vested after 
five years of service. Political subdivision members 
attain vested status upon completion of 10 years 
unless five year vesting has been authorized. A vest­
ed member is guaranteed a retirement benefit once 
the age requirements are met. 

As of June 30, 1999, there were 188,080 active mem­
bers of TCRS and 10,656 higher education employees 
participating in the ORP. 

Since July 1, 1976, all new members of the TCRS 
except state judges have been classified as Group I 
members. State judges have been permitted to enroll 
in Group IV since September l, 1990. From July 1, 
1972 to June 30, 1976, all employees were classified as 
Group I, with the exception of state policemen, wild­
life officers, firemen and policemen who were classi­
fied as Group II, and judges and elected officials who 
were classified as Group Ill. Members of seven su­
perseded systems are permitted to retain their origi­
na1 nghts and benefits. 

0 --~--1.~--1.--lllml._...!-..J_..J_ ........ _.l..-L.--1..----L-..l.-..L-..L-.....,. __ _.__.__.__.""" 

1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 

D State Employees D K-12 Teachers 

D Higher Education Employees D Political Sub. Employees 
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T ENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED R ETIREMEN T SYSTEM 

CONTRIBUTIONS 

The funding of retirement benefits is financed by 
member contributions, employer contributions, and 
the earnings of the invested assets. Effective July 1, 
1981, the employee contributions of certain state 
employees and higher education employees were 
assumed by the state. Local governments can also 
adopt these noncontributory provisions for their 
employees. Group I K-12 teachers and contributory 
local government employees contribute to TCRS at 
the rate of 5% of gross salary. Employee contribution 
rates vary for superseded classificabons. 

Effective January 1, 1987, all state employees and 
teachers who contribute a portion of their income to 
the retirement system became covered by Section 
414(h) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under 414(h), 
payment of federal income tax on an employee's 
retirement contributions is deferred until these con­
tribubons are withdrawn in the form of a refund or 
monthly benefit payments. Political subdivisions may 
pass a resolution adopting Section 414(h) coverage 
for their employees. 

Upon tennination of employment, a member may 
elect to withdraw his contributions and accumulated 

RETIREMENT CON TRIBUTIONS 
Fiscal Years 1990-1999 
(in Millions) 
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mterest from the retirement system in a lump sum. 
By obtaining a lump sum refund, a member waives 
all nghts and benefits in the retirement system. A 
vested member may leave his account balance in 
TCRS and apply for benefits upon meeting the age 
requirements. A non-vested memben•;ho tenninates 
employment may only leave his account balance in 
TCRS for up to seven years. During the 1998-99 fiscal 
year, 4,874 refunds totaling $25.6 million were is­
sued. 

The contribution rate for the employers participating 
in the retirement system is determined by a biennial 
actuarial valuation performed by an independent 
actuarial firm. The contribution rates include fund­
ing for the basic benefit, the cost-of-llving increase 
provisions, and amortization of the accrued liability 
over a 40 yearperiod which began in July of 1975. The 
employer contribution rates for the year ending June 
30, 1999 were as follows: 

Noncontributory State and 
Higher Education Employees 5.43% 

5.47% 
Individually 

K-12 Teachers 
Political Subdivisions 

Faculty Members Electing 
to Participate in the ORP 

Determined 

10.00%"' 

•11 % for salary above the social secunty wage base. 

' 90 '91 '92 '93 '94 '95 '96 '97 '98 '99 

O Local Government IIJ Employee Contributions 0 State Contributions 
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TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

RETIREMENT BENEFITS 

The benefits provided by TCRS are designed1 when 
combined with the benefit payable from social secu­
rity, to allow career employees to maintain their 
standard of living at retirement. 

As of June 30, 1999, 71,646 retirees were receiving 
monthly benefit payments. This represents a 3.92% 
increase over the previous year. 

Group I state employees and teachers become eli­
gible to retire from the TCRS at age 60 with five years 
of service or at any age with 30 years of service. State 
employees and teachers become vested after five 
years of service. Political subdivision members attain 
vested status upon completion of 10 years unless five 
year vesting has been authorized. Retirement ben­
efits are based on the average of the member's five 
highest consecutive years of salary and the years of 
creditable service. A reduced retirement benefit is 
available to vested members at age 55 or upon comple­
tion of 25 years of service. 

ANNUAL BENEFIT PAYMENTS 
Fiscal Years 1990-1999 
(in Millions) 

1999 

1998 

1997 

~ 1996 

"' QI 1995 >-
;; 

1994 v 
<I> 

ii: 
1993 

1992 

1991 

1990 

$0 $100 $200 $300 

Disability benefits are available to active members 
with five years of service who become disabled and 
can not engage in gainful employment. There is no 
serYice requirement for disability benefits paid to 
active members whose disability is a result of an 
accident or injury occurring while the member was in 
the performance of duty. 

Cost-of-living adjustments after retirement are based 
on the Consumer Price Index (CPI). If there is an 
increase in the CPI of as much as .5% in any calendar 
year, the retired member's benefit will be adjusted by 
an amount equal to the increase in the CPI, not to 
exceed 3%. 

Certain death benefits are available to the 
beneficiary(s) of a member who dies prior to rehre­
ment. At retirement, a member can select an optional 
benefit which is actuarially reduced so that his ben­
eficiary may continue to receive a benefit after his 
death. 

Benefits paid in fiscal year 1998-99 totaled $637.7 
million, an increase of $58.8 million over 1997-98 
benefit payments. 

$400 $500 $600 $700 

Millions of Dollars 
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TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

TENNESSEE'S RETIREMENT PROGRAM, TCRS AND SOCIAL SECURITY BENEFITS 
for Calendar Year 1999 

Five-Yeu Projected Annual 15 Years 0o of 20 Years 0 o of 25 Years 0
:. ot 30 Years 0 o of 35 Years 

AFC• Retirement Income Service AFC Service AFC Service AFC Service AFC Service 

515,000 TCRS $ 3,5-14 $ 4.725 $ 5,906 $ 7,088 $ 8,269 

Social Secunty 7,968 7,968 7,968 7,968 7,968 

Total $ ll,512 76.7° .. $ 12,693 84.6C:o $ 13,874 92.5°0 $ 15,056 100 4°0 $ 16,237 

$20,000 TCRS $ 4 ,725 $ 6,300 s 7,875 $ 9 ,450 $ 11 ,025 

Socia I Security 9.552 9.552 9,552 9,552 9,552 

Total $ 14,277 714°'<> $ l 5.852 79.3°;, $ 17.427 87.1% $ 19,002 95.0°n $ Z0,577 

$25,000 rcRS $ 5 906 $ 7,875 $ 9,844 $ 11,813 $ 1.3.781 

Social 5<.'CW1ty 11 , lH 11, 124 11,124 11,12.t 11 124 

Total s 17,030 68.l "o s 18,999 76 0°n $ 20,968 83 9°-o s 22,937 91.7°0 s 24 905 

$30,000 TCRS s 7 ,088 s 9,450 s 11 ,813 s 14,175 s 16.538 

Social Security 12,708 12,708 12.708 12,708 12,708 

Total $ 19,796 66 0°0 ~ 22,158 73.9~o s 24,521 81 7"o $ 26,883 89.6'lo $ 29,2-16 

$35,000 TCRS $ 8,418 $ 11.225 $ 14.031 $ 16,837 $ 19,643 

Socia 1 Security 14,064 14,064 14.064 14 064 14.064 

Total s 21,482 64 2% $ 25,289 72.3°~ $ 28,095 80.3°0 $ 30 901 88.3~0 s 33 .707 

$40,000 TCRS s 9,797 s 13.062 $ 16.328 $ 19,593 s 22,859 

Social Security 14,616 14,616 14,616 14,616 14,616 

Total $ 24,413 61.0' 'o $ 27,678 69.2% $ 30,944 Ti 4°0 $ 34.209 85.5°0 $ 37.475 

$45,000 TCRS $ 11.175 $ 14,900 s 18,624 $ 22,349 s, 26,074 

Social Secunty 15.096 15,096 15,096 15,096 15,096 

Total $ 26,271 58.4°•0 $ 29,996 66.no $ 33,720 74.9% $ 37,445 83 2% $ .n ,110 

S50,000 TCRS $ 12.553 $ 16,737 $ 20,921 $ 25.106 $ 29.290 

Socia I Security 15,528 15,528 15,528 15.528 15.528 

Total $ 28,081 56 2~. $ 32,265 64 5°0 $ 36,449 729% $ 40,634 81.3°0 s 44,818 

$55,000 TCRS $ 13,931 $ 18,575 $ 23,218 $ 27,862 $ 32,505 

Socia l Secunty 15,936 15,936 15,936 15,936 15,936 

Tot.ii $ 29,867 54.3°0 $ 34,511 62.7°0 $ 39,154 71.2% $ 43,798 79 6% $ 48,441 

560.000 TCRS s 15,309 s 20,412 $ 25,515 $ 30,618 s 35,721 

Social Security 16,296 16,296 16,296 16,296 16,296 

Total $ 31,605 52 7°0 $ 36,708 61 2°0 S •U,811 69.7°·0 $ 46,914 7& 2°·o $ 52,017 

• Average FmaJ Compensation (AFC) is the average of the member's five highest consecutive years of salary. 

0o of 

AFC 

108.2°0 

102.9°0 

99.6°~ 

9~ - .. I ;) 0 

96.J•. 

9"'"' ~o .) /O 

91.5°0 

89 6~o 

88 1°10 

86 7°0 

This chart 1s based on a date of rehrem1mt in 1999. Social security benefits have been calculated by Bryan, Pendleton. Swats & 
McAllister, actuarial consultants for the TCRS, utilizing the following assumphons· 

(1) Rehrement 1s taking place at age 65 m l 999; 

(2) The rehree has worked a full career (TCRS plus other employers, 1f necessary) of 35 years or more; and 

(3) Salary increases throughout the retiree' s career have followed the same pattern as National Average Earnings. 

An on-line benefits calculator has been added to the TCRS web site to allow members to receive an immediate estimate 

www.treasury.state.tn.us / tcrs/ 
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TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION 

An actuarial valuation of the TCRS is performed by 
an mdependent actuarial firm every two years. The 
purpose of the valuahon is to determine the funding 
requirements for the employers parncipatmg in the 
TCRS. The latest valuation was performed June 30, 

1997 to establish employer contribution rates. The 
system's accrued liability at June 30, 1997 is $169.2 

million. The accrued liability is being amortized 
over a 40 year period which began in 1975. 

In addition to the biennial actuarial valuation, an 

experience study is conducted every four years for 
the purpose of establishing actuarial and economic 
assumptions to be used m the actuarial valuation 
process. Following are the assumptions used in the 
June 30, 1997 actuarial valuation of the plan: 

Economic Assumptions 

(1) 7.5% annual return on investments 

(2) 5.5% salary increases annually 

(3) 4.5% annual increase in social security wage 
base 

Actuarial Assumptions 

(1) Pre-Retirement mortality based on age and 
sex 

(2) Post-Retirement mortality based on age and 
sex 

(3) Disability rate based on age 

(4) Turnover rate based on age and length of 
service 

(5) Retirement age distribution based on age and 
service 

POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS 

Political subdivisions may participate in the TCRS if 
the chief governing body passes a resolution author­
izing coverage and accepting the liability associated 
with the cm·erage. Each political subdi,·ision is re­
sponsible for the retirement cost of its employees 
and, in addition to employer contribubons, payc:; the 
TCRS a fee for TCRS administration. 

POLITICAL SUBDIVISION PARTICIPATION 
as of June 30, 1999 

Cities 147 

Counties 87 

Utility Districts 34 

Special School Districts 21 

Joint Ventures 25 

Regional Libraries u 

Development Agencies 14 

Housing Authorities 10 

911 Emergency Communication Districts 25 

Miscellaneous Authorities 

Total 394 
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TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

MAJOR LEGISLATIVE lMPROVEMENTS 
1980-1999 

1980 Death benefits for members dying in-service 
with 10 years of service was improved by 
offenng a 100% joint nnd survivor annuity of 
the member's accrued benefit for the spouse. 

1981 Non-contributory retirement for state em­
ployees and higher education employees was 
adopted. The employees' contributions- up to 
5%-were assumed by the state. Salaries of 
employees in active service on the date these 
provisions were adopted were indexed by 3.6%. 
Subsequent legislation has continued this in­
dexing each year since. 

1983 An actuarially reduced retirement benefit at any 
age with 25 years of service was authorized. 

1984 Credit for out-of-state service for the purpose 
of determining retirement eligibility was au­
thorized. 

Part-time employees were permitted to par­
ticipate in TCRS and members were allowed 
to establish credit for previous part-time em­
ployment. 

The minimum benefit was increased from $7 to 
$8 per month per year of service. 

Retirement credit for armed conflict military 
service was approved. 

1985 An ad hoc mcrease was granted to retirees at a 
lump-sum cost of $22 million. 

Death benefits for spouse and children were 
provided when member's death is in the line of 
duty. 

1987 Service credit for half of peacetime military 
service was made available. 

Another ad hoc increase to retirees was pro­
vided at a lump-sum cost of $17 million. 

A retirement incentive program was offered 
for state employees retiring during a 90-day 
window. 

Section 414(h} of the IRC was ad opted to pro­
vide that employee contributions are. made on 
a tax-deferred basis. 
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1989 Retirement service credit for members receiv­
ing worker's compensabon due to a temporary 
disability was made available. 

1990 A retirement incentive program was offered 
for state employees retiring dunng a 120-day 
window. 

1991 The Board of Trustees was authorized to desig­
nate addihonal vendors for the optional retire­
ment plan for higher educabon employees. 

1992 The mirumum number of years required to 
qualify for retirement was reduced from 10 to 
five years 

Disability and death benefits were made avail­
able to inactive, vested members. 

1993 Salaryportabilityforserviceindifferentclassifi­
cations was authorized effective January 1, 
1994. 

A 5% benefit improvement was authorized 
effective January 1, 1994. 

1996 An installment payment plan for prior service 
was authorized. 

3.6% indexing of salaries for noncontributory 
employees wasextendedforan additional year. 

1997 Compounding of future cost of li\'ing adjust­
ments and catch up adjustments was autho­
rized. 

3.6% indexing of salaries for noncontnbutory 
employees was extended permanently. 

1998 Group 2 and Group 3 service requirements 
were amended to permit service retirement 
with 30 years of service, regardless of age. 

Group 1 and Prior Class C benefit linutations 
were increased to 80 percent. 

Supplemental bridge benefit established Ill 
conjunction with reestablishment of manda­
tory retirement for all state public safety offic­
ers. 

1999 Group I benefit limitation increased to 90%. 
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TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

SOCIAL SECURITY 

The Old Age & Survivors Insurance Agency (OASI) 
administers Section 218 of the federal Socia] Security 
Act for Tennessee public employees. This section 
relates to coverage agreements and modifications as 
well as to coverage determinations. 

Prior to 1951, social security coverage was not avail­
able to public employees. Amendments to the Social 
Security Act made in 1950 allowed certain groups of 
state and local government employees who were not 
covered by an employer-sponsored retirement plan 
to voluntarily participate in social security. Amend­
ments made in 1954 allowed coverage for publlc 
employees who were covered by an employer-spon­
sored retirement plan if federal referendum require­
ments are met. 

The Tennessee Master Agreement was executed on 
August 16, 1951. It provided full social security 
coverage (retirement, survivors, disability, and hos­
pital insurance) to public employees who were not 
covered by an employer-sponsored retirement plan. 
A modification to the agreement, effective January 1, 

1956, provided social security coverage to employ­
ees serving in positions which were then covered by 
the Tennessee State Retirement System and the Ten­
nessee Teachers' Retirement System. After the Ten­
nessee Consolidated Retirement System was estab-
1.J..shed July l , 1972, a state-wide social security cov­
erage referendum was held among eligible employ­
ees 

The 1985 Budget Reconciliation Act mandated Medi­
care hospital insurance coverage for public employ­
ees hired after March 31, 1986 who do not have full 
social security coverage. The Omnibus Budget Rec­
onciliation Act of 1990 (OBRA) generally mandated 
full social secunty coverage for state and local gov­
ernment employees who are not covered by an em­
ployer-sponsored retirement plan. 

Effective in 1991, separate wage bases were imple­
mented for social security and Medicare and sepa­
rate reporting of withholding was required . Since 
1991, the social security tax rate has been 6.20% each 
for employers and employees and the Medicare 
(hospital insurance) rate has been L45% each. 

SCHEDULE OF HISTORICAL SOCIAL SECURITY CONTRIBUTION RA TES 

Social Security Medicare 

Calendar Year Employee Rate Employer Rate Wage Base Wage Base 

2000 7.65% 7.65% $ 76,200 No Limit 

1q99 7.65 7.65 72,600 No Limit 

1998 7.65 7.65 68,400 No Limit 

1997 7.65 7.65 65,400 No Limit 

1996 7.65 7.65 62,700 No Limit 

1995 7.65 7,65 61,200 No Limit 

1994 7.65 7.65 60,600 No Limit 

1993 7.65 7.65 57,600 $135,000 

1992 7.65 7.65 55,500 130,200 

1991 7.65 7.65 53,400 125,000 
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DEFERRED COMPENSATION PROGRAM 

The Deferred Compensahon Program 1s a voluntary 
program designed to provide state employees with 
the opporturuty to accumulate supplemental retrre­
ment income on a tax deferred basis. Participants 
may postpone income taxes on contributions and 
earnings by agreemg to defer receipt of a porhon of 
their current income until retirement. 

ThIS p rogram offerc; employees two plans. The 457 
plan was implemented in the 1981-82 fiscal year, and 
the 40l(k) plan was implemented in the 1983-84 fiscal 
year. In.accordance with changes to Internal RPvenuc 
Code Section 457, the state's 457 plan was converted to 
a trust, effective January l, 1999. 

As of June 30, l 999, 43,621 individuals had accounts 
in the 401(k) plan and 3,828 individuals had accounts 
in the 457 plan. At June 30, 22,256 state employees, 
7,628 Uruversity of Tennessee employees, and 7,401 
Tennessee Board of Regents employees were actively 
contributing to the 40l{k) plan and 1,281 state em­
ployees, 98 University of Tennessee employees, and 
four Tennessee Board of Regents employees were 
actively contributing to the 457 plan. 

The program is used by state employees of all ages 
and salary levels. The majority are under age 50 and 
earn below $35,000 per year. 

IRS regulations for 1999 allow a maximum deferral in 
the 457 plan of 25% of taxable salary up to the maxi­
mum annual contribution of $8,000. The maximum 
deferral in the 401(k) plan is 20% of taxable salary for 
most members, up to the maximum annual contribu­
tion of $10,000. Participants who use more than one 
tax-deferred savings plan are subject to additional 
hmits. 

During the 1998-99 fiscal year, the state, the Tennes­
see Board of Regents and the University of Tennessee 
each matched their employees' contributions to the 
401(k) plan at $20 per month as authorized by the 
General Assembly. The amount contributed by the 
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s tate during the year was SS,019.855. 

Participants m the program may direct the mvest­
ment of their deferred salary to Union Planters Time 
Deposit Account, Aetna's Fixed Account, Calvert's 
Lncome Fund, State Street Bank & Trust's S&P 500 
Index Fund, Fidelity Investments' Magellan Fund, 
Puritan Fund, OTC Portfolio, Contrafund, Interna­
tional Growth and income Fund, Asse t Manager, 
and Government Money Market Portfolio. 

Enrollment and record keeping services for the 
program are provided by Security First Group. The 
use of an unbundled arrangement enables partici­
pants to receive an objective presentahon of the 
investment products, to avoid the sales fees tradi ­
tionally associated with bundled products, and to 
receive consolidated account statements and ben­
efit estimates. All of the products available for new 
enrollment are offered without sales fees, surren­
der fees, mortality and expense risk fees, or mini­
mum deposit requirements 

Participants receive a quarterly statement show­
ing their contributions and earnings during the 
quarter. ln addition, on ce a year, participants re­
ceive a specia l statement projecting theu account 
balance to a variety of retirement ages and show­
ing the monthly income those account balances 
might p rovide. The program provides a variety of 
communicat10n and education materials and ser­
vices, including a comprehensive Internet site, a 
video, a handbook for participants, several book­
lets on special topics, investment seminars around 
the s tate, and a voice response telephone system 
which provides participants with telephone access 
to account balances account activity, and loan ini­
tiation 24 hours a day. 

The Internet site, www.treasury.state.tn.us/ dc/, 
provides full information about the program. In­
formation available through the site includes forms, 
participation information and illustrations, descrip­
tions of the investment choices and historical per­
formance figures, an interactive benefit calculator, 
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complete information for participants who may be 
approaching retirement age or considering wHh­
drawing funds from the program, and an e-mail 
address for participants to request additional per­
sonalized information. The National Association 
of Government Deferred Compensation Adminis­
trators awarded the site its outstanding achieve­
ment award in communication. 

For the year ending June 30, 1999, employees con­
tributions to the program totaled $55,397,714. Con­
tributions are wired through the State Trust of 
Tennessee for immediate crediting. 

At June 30, 1999, accumulated account balances 
totaled $540,365,561 . At June 30, 1999, the program's 
assets were invested as follows: 80% in variable 
mutual funds, 3% in variable annuity products. 11110 
in insurance companies' fixed accounts, and 6% in a 
federally insured bank account. Distribution of the 
program's assets among the program's six invest-

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PROGRAM ASSETS 
Fiscal Years 1990-1999 
(in Thousands) 

ment providers is shown on the following page. 

Under the loan program offered in the 401 (k) plan, 
active employees who have accumulated $4,000 or 
more in their 401 (k) account may borrow up to half of 
their account value. Participants repay principal and 
interest to their 401 (k) account through salary deduc­
tion . Taxes continue to be deferred while funds accu­
mulated in the plan are in loan status. As of June 30, 
1999, there were 650 loans outstanding from the 
401(k) plan. Outstanding loan balances totaled $2.9 
million. 

Benefits from the program may be distributed in 
periodic payments, in an annuity, or in a lump sum. 
At June 30, 1999, therewere678 individuals receiving 
periodic payments and 177 individuals receiving 
annuity payments from the program. In addition, a 
total of 3,427 lump sum distributions were issued 
during 1998-99. 
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DEFERRED COMPENSATION CONTRIBUTIONS AND ASSETS 

Market Value 
Contributions of Account Balances 

FY 1998-99 FY 1997-98 June 30, 1999 June 30, 1998 

Plan I: 457 
AEtna (closed) $ 0 $ 0 $ 20,780,50-l s 21.235,441 
AEtna (open) 338,204 448,825 16,346,539 15,080, 164 
American General 46,125 49,508 967.544 1,030,304 
Calvert Group 36,792 39,302 1,021,916 737,749 
Fidelity Inves tments 2,065,326 2,205,015 97,058,597 79,553,813 
Great West 0 0 1,181,840 2,269,353 
State Street 37,833 0 1.696,749 0 
Union Planters 326,459 397,879 13,976,341 14,176,840 

Total $ 2,850,739 $ 3,140,529 $ 153,030,030 $ 134,083,664 

Plan II: 401(k) 
AEtna (closed) $ 0 $ 0 $ 9,654,444 $ 10,339,249 
AEtna (open) 3,985,068 3,833,461 29,134,227 24,398,700 
Calvert Group 6411808 523,770 3,661,617 2,469.652 
Fidelity Investments 44,463,240 37,065,324 322,970,288 230,395,117 
Great West 0 0 1,029,936 2,042,208 
State Street 986,904 0 3,850,530 0 
Union Planters 2,469,955 2,396,052 17,034,489 14,792,123 

To tal $ 52,546,975 s 43,818,607 $ 387,335,531 $ 284,437,049 
Total for both plans $ 55,397,714 $ 46,959,136 $ 540,365,561 $ 418,520,713 
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FLEXIBLE BENEFITS PLAN 

The Flexible Benefits Plan is an ophonal benefit 

plan which enables state employees to pay for 

certain expenses with tax-free salary. Authorized 

under Section 125 of the lntemal Revenue Code, 

this plan allows employees to avoid income tax 

and social security tax on the portion of the upcom­

ing year's salary they agree to set aside for that 

year's (1) group medical insurance premiums, (2) 

group dental insurance premiums, (3) out-of-pocket 

medical expenses, and ( 4) dependent care expenses. 

ln exchange for its favorable tax treatment, the 

plan must comply with specific rules set forth by 

the Internal Revenue Code and Regulations. Em­

ployees must decide what they will purchase 

through the plan and how much they will spend 

before the year begins. State employees enrolled in 

a group health or dental insurance program are 

automatically enrolled in the insurance premium 

portion of the plan unless they elect not to partici­

pate. Use of the other benefit options requires a 

new election each year. 

Enrollment in the plan is for a full calendar year. 

Enrolhnents may not be changed after the year has 

begun unless the employee experiences a change 

in family status and reports that change promptly. 

Employees must use the amounts set aside in each 

category for corresponding expenses incurred dur­

ing the year and any amount not used by the 

employee must be subject to forfeiture. 

Tennessee's Flexible Benefits Plan, or "cafeteria" 

plan was implemented January 1, 1989. The Trea­

sury Department took over administration of the 

program effective January 1, 1992. 

FLEXIBLE BENEFITS PLAN 

At June 30, 1999, 37,631 state employees were en­

rolled in one or more of the plan's four options: 

37,185 employees used the plan to pay medical 

insurance premiums, 14,239 paid dental insurance 

premiums, 2,511 used the medical expense reim­

bursement account, and 351 used the dependent 

care reimbursement account. 

Since contributions to the plan are exempt from 

both employee and employer F.1.C.A. (social secu­

rity) tax, employees' use of the plan creates F.l.C.A. 

savings for the state. In fiscal year 1998-99, the 

state's F.I.C.A. savings totaled $2.4 million. Since 

the program began operation in January 1989, the 

state's F.l.C.A. savings have totaled $1 q.6 milhon. 

Sa,'ings exceeding the costs of administering the 

plan have been designated for offsetting costs of 

the state's wellness program, providing assistance 

for day care programs, and funding matchmg con­

tributions to the 401(k) plan. As of June 30, 1999, 

$16.4 million had been transferred to offset costs of 

other benefit programs. 
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CLAIMS AGAINST THE ST A TE 

The Division of Claims Administration processes 

claims filed against the s tate for the negligent op­
eration of motor vehicles or machinery; negligent 
care, custody and control of persons or property; 

professional malpractice; workers' compensation 

clauns by state employees; dangerous conditions 

on state maintained highways and bridges; and 
nuisances created or rnamtained by the state. The 
Division of Claims Administration operates m con­
junction with the Attorney General's Office and 
the Tennessee Claims Commission in this claims 
process 

The Division of Claims Administration contracts 

with a third party adminis trator for the processing 
of workers' compensation claims. The division 's 

s taff monitors the work done by the third party 
administrator and acts as a liaison between state 

employees and the third party administrator. 

The division contracts with a managed care orga­

nization which has established a workers' com­
pensation preferred provider network for medical 

treatment for injured state employees. Currently, 
98% of state employees have access to this net­
work. The managed care organization also pro­

vides case management services such as pre-certi­
fication for inpatient hospital care, bill review, 

large case management and other services to man­
age the costs of workers ' compensation claims. The 
use of a preferred provider network has enabled 

the s tate to obtain approximately 33% savings off 
billed charges on workers' compensation medicaJ 

bills. 

The Division of Claims Administration also han­

dles all employee property damage claims and tort 
claims up to a certam monetary limit. 
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During fiscal year 19q8-99, the Division of Claims 

Administra tion received 6, 1 lOclaims fallmg within 

these categories (includ ing workers' compensa­
tion claims filed with the third party administra­
tor). 

In order for a claim to be acted upon by the Divi­

s10n of Claims Administration, notice must be filed 

with the division. The division then has 90 days to 
make a determination on the claim. If the division 
is unable to act, the claun 1s automatically referred 
to the Tennessee Claims Commission. This proces5 
ensures that clauns will be processed in a timely 
fashion. 

This division also provides staff support to the 
Board of Claims. The Board of Claims has the 

authority to hear claims which do not fall within 

the jurisdiction of the Tennessee Claims Com.mis­
sion. During the 1998-99 fiscal year, the Board took 

action on a total of seven matters regarding claims 
and insurance. The Board also reviews and ap­
proves the purchase of insurance policies by the 

state and makes recommendahons to the Commis­

sioner of Finance and Administration and the Gen­
eral Assembly regarding the required funding for 
the Claims Award Fund. 

The primary function of the Division of Claims 
Administration, Board of Claims, and Tennessee 

Claims Commission is to provide an avenue for 
persons who have been damaged by the state to be 
heard and, if appropriate, compensated for their 

loss or damage. All claims are paid through the 
Claims Award Fund. This fund is supported b y 

premiums paid by each state department, agency 
and institution. The required funding is based 

upon an actuarial study which reflects risk assess­

ment and estimated losses. 



CLAIMS AND PAYMENT ACTIVITY 
Fiscal Year 1998-99 

Workers' Compensation Clauns 

Death Payments 

Medical Payments 

Assault Injury Payments 

Temporary Disability (Lost Time) 

Permanent Disability 

Subtotal 

Employee Property Damage 

Tort Claims 

Death Payments 

Bodily Injury Payments 

Property Damage Payments 

Subtotal 

Total 
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CLAIMS AGAINST THE ST A TE 

Oaims Filed Payments Made 

3,974 

$ 435,731 

7,087,668 

() 

1,474,693 

5,.070,165 

$ 14,068,257 

226 $ 33,990 

1,910 

$ 927,750 

3,014,917 

998,617 

$ 4,941,284 

6,110 $ 19,043,531 
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VICTIMS COMPENSATION PROGRAM 

Assisting persons who are innocent victims of crime 
is the purpose of the Cnnunal Injury Compensahon 
PrograrrL Payments made under the Criminal Injury 
Compensation Program are intended to defray the 
costs of medical services, loss of earnings, burial 
costs, and other pecumary losses to either the victim 
of a crime or to the dependents of deceased victims. 
This program is funded through privilege taxes as­

sessed in courts against criminal defendants and 
other offenders upon conviction, fees levied against 
parolees and probationers, the proceeds of bond 
forfeitures m felony cases. and a federal grant. Jurors 
may also elect to donate theu jury serv1ce reimburse­
ment to the Fund. 

Applications for Criminal Injuries Compensation are 
filed with the Division of Claims AdministratJ.on. 
The division's staff reviews the application and ob­
tains supporting information from the appropriate 
District Attorney's Office to determine ehgibility for 
payment from the Criminal Injuries Compensation 
fund. Uthe division cannot process a claim within 90 

days, then the claim is referred to the Tennessee 
Claims Comnuss1on. 

During the 1998-99 fiscal year, the Division of Claims 
Administration made payments on t544 criminal 
injury claims for a total of $6,049,873. Payments are 
issued promptly to the victim and, if appropriate, his 
or her attorney. Federal funding assistance for the 
program has aided m allowing prompt claim pay­
ment. 

Victims of drunk drivers are also paid from the 
Criminal Injury Compensation Fund. Identicalmone-
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tary benefits are available to both drunk driver and 
criminal mjury victims. When the proximate cause of 
a death or injury is the operator's intoxication as 
prohibited by T.C.A. 55-10-401, the victim 's death o r 
injury is eligible for compensation in the same man­
ner as criminal inJUI)' compensation. not to exceed a 

maximum award of $8,000 per claim plus attorney 
fees for injuries occurring on or after July 1, l 997. A 
supplemental award of up to $4,000 was available for 
crimes occurring during the 1998-q9 fiscal year. 

Smee the first claims were paid in 1982, t11e program 
has awarded a totaJ of over $97 million to crime 
victims. The Division of Claims Administration has 
made an effort to educate members of the public of 
the existence and benefits of the Crirrunal lnjury 
Compensation Program by printing and distributing 
informative brochures explaining the program. Pub­
lic awareness efforts and the use of victim assistance 
coordinators in each judicial district have also aided 
in providing the public with information about the 
availability of cruninal injury compensation. 

In the spring of 1999, the Tennessee General Assem­
bly enacted legislation to increase compensation to 
victims. The maximum compensation available was 
increased from $8,000 to $12,000; the supplemental 
award was mcreased from $4,000 to $8,000; and the 
maximum funeral and burial reimbursement was 
increased from $3,000 to $4,500. In addition, the 
percen tage of a victim's weekly wage used to calcu­
late lost wages and disability was increased from 
66.66% to 85%. New coverage to '\'ictirns will mclude 
cleanup of the homicide scene occurring m the resi­
dence of a victim or a victim's relative reimbursable 
up to $1,500. The aforementioned changes are effec­
tive for crimes occurring on or after July 1, 1999. 
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VICTIMS COMPENSATION AWARDS PAID FISCAL YEAR 1998-99 
Percentage of Awards Based on Crime Classification 

Child Sexual All Others 
Assault 5% 

34% 

DUI 
4% Homicide 

25% 

Robbery by 
Force 
lO~o 

Assault 
8°-o 

During fiscal year 1998-99, 1,544 awards totaling $6,049,873 were made. Of that amount, $216,881 can be 
attributed to claims involving DUI with the remaining $5,832, 992 related to all other crime types. The average 
award for all types was $3,918. 

CRIMINAL INJURIES COMPENSATION FUND 
Sources of Funds 

Bond Forfeitures 
3% 

CIC Taxes 
49% 

Other 
2% 

Federal Funds 
12% 

13% 

Interest 
21 % 
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CLATMS COMMISSION 

Chapter 972 of the 1984 Public Acts (codified as 
Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 9-8-30 I et seq.) 
created the Tennessee Claims Comm1ss1on as the 
administrative tribunal to determine m onetary 
chums against the state. The commission has three 
commissioners, one from each grand division of 
the state. The three commissioners, w ho are ap­
pointed by the Governor and confirmed by the 
General Assembly, serve s taggered six-year terms. 
Each commissioner has a legal assistant and an 
executive secretary. 

The commission has a central office in Nashville 
with an administrative clerk, an administrative 
services assistant and an administrative secretary. 
For administrative purposes, the commission is 
attached to the Department of the Treasury. {Prior 
to July I, 1997, the commission was attached to the 
Department of Commerce and Insurance.) 

The commission adjudicates claims involving tax 
recovery, state \-.•orkers' compensation, and alleged 

negligence by state officia ls o r agencies (e.g., neg­
ligent care, custody, or control of persons, personal 
property, or animals; professional malpractice; neg­
ligent operation or maintenance of a motor vehicle; 
and dangerous conditions on state-maintained 
highways or state controlled real property). These 
claims are payable from the Claims Award Fund. 
Damages are limited to $300,000 per claimant and 
$1,000,000 per occurrence. In addition, the commis­
sion awards compensation to victims of crime 
through the Criminal Injuries Compensation Fund. 
The Department of the Treasury's Division of 
Claims Administration is responsible for paying 
all claims. 

PAGE 3 6 

CLAIMS PROCESSING 

The vast majority of claims are rust filed w1th the 
Division of Claims Administration. Claims involv­
ing taxes are filed directJy with the Chums Com­
mission, and claims involving workers' compen­
sation are filed directly with a third-party admin­
istrator. 

Both the Division of Claims Administration and 
the third party administrator have 90 days to ac­
cep t or deny a claim before the claim is automati­
cally transferred to the commission. Claimants can 
appeal both entities' decisions to the Claims Com­
mission . 

The commission has two separate dockets: a regu­
lar docket for claims greater than $15,000 and a 
small claims docket for claims under that amount. 
Commission decisions on regular docket claims 
can be appealed to the Tennessee Court of Appeals 
or, in the case of tax and workers' compensation 
claims, to the Tennessee Supreme Court. Small 
docket claims cannot be appealed, but such claims 
can be moved to the regular docket (at the discre­
tion of either party) before a hearing is held. 

As of July l, 1997, upon request by the Governor, by 
an individual claims commissioner, or by the ma­
jority of the claims commissioners, the Secretary of 
State may assign administrative law judges to '' as­
sist in the removaJ of unacceptable congeshon or 
delay on the claims commission docket." Jn adju­
dicatingclaims, the administrative law judges have 
the same powers as commiss ioners. 
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CLAIMS STATUS OPEN ANO NUMBER OF DISPOSITIONS BY CLAIM TYPE 
Fiscal Year 1999 
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DIVISION OF RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Div1.S1on of Risk Management administers a 
\'ariety of insurance programs for the state. The Prop­
erty / Casualty Insurance Program pro\'1des all-risk, 
replacementcostcoverage, including flood and earth­
quake, for all state-O\l\."Iled buildings and contents. 
Tius is accomplished through a £5 million annual 
aggregate retention-ti property I casualty reserve 
fund appropriated for the payment of property claims 
within a given fiscal year- and an excess property 
insurance policy purchased from a private carrier. 

All property exposures are thoroughly inspected and 
evaluated to determine appropnate rates for pre­
mium development and allocation of premium costs 
to the vanous departments. As of July 1, 1998, the 
state's property values exceeded 59 billion. The pre­
mium cost for excess property coverage and fi delity 
bond amounted to 5514,507. Th1.S translates to an 
annual rate of .0057 cents per $100 of coverage. 

The Builders' Risk Insurance Program provides prop­
erty insurance coverage fo r butlding construction or 
renovation projects which have been approved by the 
State Building Commission. The Division of Rlsk Man­
agement reVIews all construction contracts and insur­
ance specificabons and issues builders risk policies 
providing all-risk coverage for the state agency, con­
tractor and subcontractorsforthe durat:ion of theproiect. 

Boiler insurance must be provided to ensure protec­
tion for all s tate-owned boiler objects. A boiler insur­
ance poUcy is purchased from a pnvate insurance 
carrier which is not only responsible for the insur­
ance coverage, but must also provide a boiler inspec­
tion service. Certified insp ectors evaluate all boiler 
objects on a regularly scheduled basis to ensure the 
safe operation of these systems. This loss prevention 
program has proven veryeffecbvewithresults show­
ing no major incidents within the past five years. 

In order to protect the s tate from financial loss due to 
employee dishonesty, the Division of Risk Manage­
ment procures an Honesty Blanket Position and Faith­
ful Performance Blanket Position Bond. This bond is 
provided by the excess property insurance carrier 
and is negotiated as part of the property insurance 
package. Fidelity coverage is provided in the amount 
of $1 million per inc1den t for 29 scheduled employees 
and $100,000 per incident for all remaining state 
employees. 
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The DivlSlon of Risk Management also has the re­
sponsib1lit} to investigate and process all property, 
boiler. and hdelity bond claims. A detailed property 
inventory schedule is maintained whkh provides 
the msu;able values for both buildings and contents 
in the event a loss occurs. There is a 55,000 deductible 
per occurrence which must be assumed by the indi­
vidual departments. Documented losses above the 
deductible amount are indemnified by the property I 
casualty reserve fund, through an allotment revision 
proces4'. Should thJs r~ erve fund become completely 
exhausted within a given fiscal year, the excess prop­
erty policy would provide the primary fund resource 
fo r claim payments. 

During fiscal year 1998-99, a total of 158 claims were 
reported. Of this number, 113 did not exceed the 
S5,000 deductible and were closed with no payment. 
The rem aining 45 incurred losses amounted to 
510,989.070, with resulting net losses of Sl0,764,070. 
Of this total, $8.915,000 was the result of the Jackson 
and Clarksville tornadoes. Fortunately, the actual 
loss to thestate'sproperty / casualty fund will only be 
$1,945,448. FEMA wtll provide disaster assistance of 
approximately $3,054,552, and the state's property 
insurance earner, Royal and SunAlliance Insurance 
Company. will ass~e approXJ.mately SS,764,070 of 
the total losses. Considering actual losses of $1.9 
million and a manual premium for first dollar cover­
age of $10.9 million, the state's pure property loss 
ratio would be 17.9°/o. Since the generally expected 
s tandard m the insurance industry for loss ratio 
break-even is approximately 48%, the state's prop­
erty Joss expen ence remains at an excellent level. 

The prevention and control of losses continues to be 
an item of growing importance in the area of state risk 
management. Effective July 1, 1995, the Division of 
Risk Management irutiated a statewide fire I life safety 
inspecbon program. This in-depth inspection pro­
cess targets high nsk s tate-owned facilities in an 
effort to prevent extensive loss to property and hu­
man life. The individual departments are issued de­
tailed safety reports which outline all safety hazards 
and provide recommendations for corrective action. 
Also, with the continuing rise in workers compensa­
tion and tort liability loss costs, the Division of Risk 
Management will expand its loss control program in 
an effort to mitigate the growth in these areas. 
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COST OF PROPERTY/CASUAL TY PROGRAM VERSUS PRIVATE INSURANCE 
Fiscal Year 1998-99 

1Premium - Excess Property & Bond Coverage 

Premium - Boiler Insurance Coverage 

Total Premium 

2Total Net Incurred Losses 

Less FEMA Disaster Assistance 

Less Insurance Company Coverage 

Total Cost of State Program 

3Private Insurance Premium Cost at Manual Rates with No State Retention 

Net Savings to State 

1 Based on July 1, 1998 values totaling $9,058,235,600 
2 Includes $8.9 m111ion catastrophic loss (January tornadoes ) 
3 Estimated based on July 1, 1998 values at .12 cents per $100 of coverage 

Rates provided by Royal &SunAlliance Insurance Company 

5 514,507 

52,842 

$ 567.349 

10,764,070 

(3,054,552) 

(5,764,070) 

$ 2,512,797 

10,869,883 

$ 8,357,086 

COST OF PROPERTY/CASUAL TY PROGRAM VERSUS PRIVATE INSURANCE 
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UNCLAIMED PROPERTY DIVISION 

The Treasury Department has administered the 

Uruform Disposition of Unclaimed Property Act 

since it was enacted in 1978. Administration of this 

act is carried out by the Unclaimed Property Divi­

sion which operates the program in a manner 

designed to return unclaimed property to the right­
ful O\.Vner. 

The Unclaimed Property Act provides that cash 

property which an organization or individual is 
holdmg for another person will be delivered to the 

Treasurer for custody if the holder of the property 

has had no contact with the owner for a period of 

frve years and if the holder cannot locate the owner. 

Once property is delivered, the Treasurer adverHs­

es the owner's name and last known address in 

order to locate the owners. Since the program 

began operations in 1979, $162.7 million in un­

claimed property has been reported to the Trea­

surer and $47.9 million (29'Yo) has been returned to 
owners or heirs. 

During the period July 1, 1998 through June 30, 
1999, $16,432,805 of cash property was turned over 

to the Treasurer. This includes $3,960,171 in cash 

and stock remitted by third party audit organiza­

tions from out-of-state non-reporting holders for 

Tennessee residents. The pie chart on the follow­

ing page illustrates the sources of cash collections 

for fiscal year 1998-99. 

In addition to adverhsing the property, the Trea­

surermakes several other efforts to locate the right­
ful owner. Another location method used is to 

send nohfication to the last known address of each 
owner. If no response is recejved, additional search 

efforts are made through employment security 

P~GE 4 0 

records1 telephone directories, drivers' license 

records, and other sources. 

Further, a searchable database of the owners' names 

and addresses has been made available on our 

Internet site: www.treasury.state.tn.us/ unclaim. 

This site logged more than 84,000 visitors at June 

30, 1999. 

The records of unclaimed property owners are also 

available for viewing by the public m the Un4 

claimed Property office. All property turned over 

to the Treasurer is held in trust for the rightful 

owner or his heirs in perpetuity , thereby aJlowing 

the owners or their heirs to make claims on it at 

anytime. 

During the period July 1, 1998 through June 30, 

1999, $5,838,266 of cash property was returned by 

the Unclaimed Property Division to the owners or 

their heirs. An analvsis of the methods used to 

return this property is shown on the next page. 

Any local government in Tennessee which turns 

over unclaimed property to the state may request 
that the property be returned to the local govern­
ment for safekeeping after it has been held by the 

state for 18 months. Tlus fiscal year, $534,709 was 

refunded to 13 local governments. 

Tennessee has reciprocal agreements with other 

states' unclaimed property programs to exchange 

property held by one state for owners with a last 

known address in the other state. Dunng this fiscal 
year, Tennessee received $814,327 for residents or 

former residents and paid $843,886 to 41 other 

states' unclaimed property offices. 
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SOURCES OF UNCLAIMED PROPERTY 

Corporations Escheat & Other 
& Retailers so~ Other States 

Utilities 
6% 

Institutions 
33°0 

14% 

METHODS USED TO RETURN PROPERTY 
/11ly 1, 1998 - June 30, 1999 

Location Method 

Post cards 
Independent locator 
Advertisement and television 
Telephone directory 
Holder referral 
Web site inquiries and other 
Employment Security 
Legislator listing 
Total claim payments 

Refunds to local governments 
Interstate exchanges 

Total Ea~ents 

Ins urance 
Companies 

22% 

Secu rities Counties 
6% 

Number Value of 
of Accounts Claims 

3,531 $ 624,354 
240 312,177 

2,103 401,370 
178 89,193 
526 222,984 
842 2,675,803 
495 89,193 

65 44,597 
7,980 $ 4,459,671 

13 $ 534,709 
41 843,886 

$ 1,378,595 
8,034 $ 5,838,266 

Percentage of 
Claim Value 
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CHAIRS OF EXCELLENCE TRUST 

The Chairs of Excellence (COE) Trust provides funds 
WJth \·vh1ch state colleges and universities are able to 
contract with persons of regional or national promi­
nence to teach m specified academic areas. The pro­
gram JS open to all s tate four-year colleges and uni­
versities, and the ITT Space lnsbtute. 

The funding of the program is provided through 
contribuhons made by a private donor and a match­
ing amount by the state. thus, creating a chair. Interl-!sl 

THE UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE 

Chattanooga 
Miller COE in Management & Technology 
Sun Trust Bank COE in the Humanities 
Provident Life & Accident Ins. Co. COE in 

Applied Math 
West COE in Communications & Public Affairs 
COE in Judaic Studies 
Cline COE in Rehabilitation Technology 
Fnerson COE in Business Leadership 
Harris COE in Business 
Lyndhurst COE in Arts Education 

Knoxville 
Racheff Chair of Ornamental H orticuJture 
Racheff Chair of Mat4:!rial Science & Engineering 
COE in English 
Condra COE in Computer Integrated 

Engineering & Manufacturing 
Condra COE in Power Electronics Applications 
Ptlot COE m Management 
Holly COE in Political Economy 
Schmitt COE in History 
COE in Science, Technology & Medical Writing 
Shumway COE in Romance Languages 
Goodrich COE in Civil Engineering 
Clayton Homes COE in Fmance 
COE in Policy Studies 
Blasingame COE m Agricultural Policy Studies 
Lmcoln COE m Physics 
Hunger COE irl Environmental Studies 

and dividends on the trust are used to fund expendi­
tures for the chair. Gaines and losses must be rein­
vested in the corpus of the fund for use m supporting 
the trust irl future ye;:irs. 

Smee the start of the program in 1984, there have been 
97 chairs created, with statt' appropriations totaling 
$44,000,000 and matching contributions totaJmg 
$54,230.456. For the vearendingJune 30, 1999. invest­
ment income totaled $26,856,551 with expenses of 
$8,173.476. 

Martin 
Hendrix COE m Free Enterprise & Economics 
Dunagan COE m Banking 
Parker COE in Food & Fiber Industries 

Memphis 
Van Vleet COE m Microbiology & Immunology 
Van Vleet COE in Pharmacology 
Van Vleet COE in Biochermstry 
Van Vleet COE in Virology 
Muirhead COE in Pathology 
COE in Obstetrics & Gyneco1ogy 
LeBonheur COE irl Pediatrics 
Crippled O uldren's Hospital COE in 

Biomedical "Engineering 
Plough COE in Pediatrics 
Gerwin COE m Physiology 
Hyde COE in Rehabilitation 
Dunavant COE in Pediatrics 
First Tennessee Bank COE irl Pediatncs 
Federal Express COE in Pediatncs 
Semmes-Murphey COE in Neurology 
Bronstein COE in Cardiovascular Physiology 
Goodman COE in Medicine 
LeBonheur COE in Pediatrics (II) 
Soloway COE in Urology 

Space Institute 
Boling COE in Space Propulsion 
H. H. Arnold COE m Computation al Mechanics 
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TENNESSEE BOARD OF REGENTS 

Austin Peay State University 
Acuff COE in Creative Arts 
Harper/James and Bourne COE in Business 
The Foundation Chair of Free Enterprise 
Reuther COE in Nursing 

East Tennessee State University 
Quillen COE of Medicine m Geriatncs 
& Gerontology 

AFG Industries COE m Business & Technology 
Harris COE m Business 
Long Chair of Surgical Research 
Dishner COE in Medicine 
Quillen COE in Teaching and Leaming 
Basler COE for Integration of Arts, Rhetoric, 
and Sciences 
Leeanne Brown and Universities Physicians 
Group COE in General Pediatrics 

Middle Tennessee State University 
Seigenthaler Chair of First Amendment Studies 
Jones Chair of Free Enterprise 
Adams COE in Health Care Services 
National Healthcorp COE in Nursing 
Russell COE in Manufacturing Excellence 
Murfree Chair of Dyslexic Studies 
Miller COE m Equine Health 
Miller COE in Equine Reproductive Physiology 
Jones COE in Urban & Regional Planning 

Tennessee State University 
Frist COE in Business Administration 

• COE in Banking & Finance 

CHAIRS OF EXCELLENCE TRUST 

Tennessee Teclmologica/ University 
Owen Chair of Business Adrrurustration 
Mayberry Chair of Business Administration 

University of Memphis 
COE in Molecular Biology 
Herff COE in Law 
Fogelman COE in Real Estate 
Sales & Marketing Executives of Memphls 

COE in Sales 
COE in Accounting 
Arthur Andersen Company Alwnni COE in 
Accounhng 

Moss COE in Philosophy 
Wunderlich COE in Finance 
Herff COE in Biomedical Engineering 
Bomblum COE in Judaic Studies 
Shelby County Government COE in 
International Economics 

Wang COE in International Business 
COE in Free Enterprise Management 
COE in English Poetry 
Herff COE in Computer Engmeering 
Lowenberg COE in Nursing 
COE in Art History 
Federal Express COE in Mgmt. Info. Systems 
Moss COE in Psychology 
Moss COE in Education 
Hardin COE in Combinatorics 
Hardin COE in Economics/ Managerial Journalism 
Sparks COE in International Relations 

•Chair established during fiscal year 1998-99. 
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BACCA LA UREA TE EDUCATION SYSTEM 
TRUST 

The Baccalaureate Education System Trust, or BEST, 
is a prepaid college tuition savings program that 
allows anyone to pay for lugher education tuition in 
advance on behalf of a beneficiary. The BEST pro­
gram was created under TC.A. Section 49-7-8 to 
make higher education more affordable for the citi­
zens of Tennessee. 

Tuition and mandatory fees may be purchased Ui 
increments known as tuition units. One tuition unit 
represents a value of one percent of the weighted 
average undergraduate tuition at Tennessee's four­
year public universities plus an amount to cover 
adrrunistration and actuarial soundness of the pro­
gram. The cost for one academic year of tuibon at the 
average-priced, four-year undergraduate Tennes­
see public university will be covered by roughly 100 
tuition uruts. ffigher education mstitutions that cost 
more than the average Tennessee four-year public 
university will require more units; those that cost 
less will require fewer uruts. 

Over the last 10 years, the weighted average tuition 
for Tennessee four-year public mstitutions has in­
creased an average of 5.5% per year. 

\ 

Anyone who wants to set up a tuition prepayment 
p lan for a child can participate. The person who 
opens the account or the child must be a resident of 
Tennessee when the tuition account is opened. There 
IS no age limit for enrollment; however, tuition units 
must be on account with BEST for at least two years 
prior to use. Flexibility is a key component of the 
program by allowing participants to determine when 
and how much to save and by providing multiple 
payment options. 

The BEST units may be used for tuition, fees, room 
and board at any accredited higher education insti­
tution- in-state or out-of-state, public or private. 
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The units mav also be used at vocational and techru­
cal schools o r professional and graduate schoob. 
Participants do not have to choose a specific school 
when they enroll m the program. 

The BEST program also offers favorable tax benefits 
to its participants. Federal income tax on the appre­
ciabon of tuition units is deferred until the units are 
used. In addition, the tax IS assessed at the child 's 
rate, rather than the parent's rate. BEST contracts are 
exempt from all state and local taxes. 

The Treasury Department uses technology to keep 
interes ted parties and participants informed about 
the BEST program. The Internet site, located at 
v.·wv.r. treasury.state.tn.us/ best/ provides full infor­
mation about BEST. The site also features the con­
tract application which can be downloaded, com­
pleted, and mailed to the BEST office. Quesbons or 
comments to BEST staff can be e-mailed through this 
site. In addition participants are provided with 
telephone access to accoWlt balances and activity 24 
hours a day. 

The Baccalaureate Education System Trust began 
accepting contracts and contnbutions in June 1997. 
Unit prices are calculated annually on August 1. At 
June 30, 1999, Wlit prices were $26.75 for ACH and 
payroll deduction while cash and check unit pur­
chases were $28.00. The weighted average tuibon 
value of one unit was $25.00. 

During the 1998-99 fiscal year, 2,457 new contracts 
were opened, bringing the total under adaunistra­
tion to 5,450. Contributions received during the year 
totaled $7.4 million. At year-end, the market value of 
the funds under management was $152 million. 
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AVERAGE TUITION INCREASES FOR TENNESSEE PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS 
1990-1999 
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CAREERS NOW PROGRAM 

College students in Tennessee have the opportunity 
to learn more about the operation of state govern­
ment and the various career opportunities in s tate 
government through the Careers NOW Program. 
Students in the program work in one of the three 
constitutional offices for a semester. The Treasurer, 
the C omptro Iler of the Treasury, and the Secretary of 
State work together to match opportunities with 
students' interests. 

The Careers NOW Program's first class of 12 stu­
dents began in January 1996. Since the program's 
inception, 92 students have been selected to parhci­
pate. Ninety percent of the students come from within 
an 80-mile radius. 

Applicants have come from Austin Peay State Uni­
versity, East Tennessee State University, Fisk Uru­
versity, David Lipscomb University, Middle Tennes­
see State University. Rhodes College, Tennessee State 
University, Tennessee Technology Center, Univer­
sity of Memphis, University of Tennessee at Martin, 
University of Tennessee at Knoxville, University of 
the South, and Vanderbilt University. The majority 
of the participants have been Business or Accounting 
majors and have come from Middle Tennessee State 
University, Tennessee State University and Tennes­
see Technology Center. Thirty-eight percent of the 
student participants have beenminon ties. Forty per~ 
cent of the students come from Tennessee State Uni­
versity 

The goal of the program is to develop a pool of 
students who, upon graduation. will be candidates 
for career positions in one of the three constitutional 
offices. Based on participation, there has been about 
a 28 p ercent job offer rate. 

The students receive hands on work experience and 
the participating institutions and constitutional of-
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fices jointly facilitate the development of a detailed 
curriculwn to meet the academic comnutment made 
to higher education instituhons. 

Careers NOW is designed to offer students a combi­
nation of practical work cxpenence and formal tram­
mg, while giving them the opportunity to see the 
challenges of public service. In addition to their daily 
work responsibilities, students attend seminars, visit 
other state agencies. complete written work assign­
ments or special pro3ects, and engage in other oppor­
tunities to increase their overall understanding and 
knowledge of Tennessee state government. 



P R 0 G R A M AD~l l N iS TR ATIO N 

STATUTORY DUTIES OF THE STATE TREASURER 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
Baccalaureate Education Svstern Trust Board 
Bank Collateral Pool Board 
Board of Claims 
Board of Equalization 
Board of Trustees of the Tennessee Consolidated Rehrement System 
Chairs of Excellence Trust · 
Comn11ssion to Purchase Federal Property 
Council on Pensions and Insurance 
funding Board 
National Resource!) Trust Fund 
Public Records Commission 
Sick Leave Bank Board 
State Building Commission 
State Capitol Commission 
State Insurance Committee 
State Library and Archives Management Board 
State School Bond Authonty 
State Teacher Insurance Comm. 
State Trust of Tennessee 
Tennessee Child Care Loan Guarantee Board 
Tennessee Competibve Export Corp. 
Tennessee Higher Education Commission 
Tennessee Housing Development Agency 
Tennessee Local Development Authority 
Tennessee Sports HaU of Fame 
Tennessee Student Assistance Corp. 
Tennessee Tomorrow 
Tuition Guaranty Fund Board 
Volunteer Public Education Trust 
Workers Compensation Fund Board 

ADMINISTRATION 
Baccalaureate Education System Trust 
Board of Claims 
Chall's of Excellence Trust 
Collateral Pool 
Collateral Program 
Council on Pensions and Insurance 
Criminal Injunes Compensation Fund 
Deferred Compensation 
Escheat 
Flexible Benefits Plan 
Investment Advisory Council 
lnvestment of State Idle Cash Funds 
Local Government Investment Pool 
Old Age and Survivors Insurance Agency 
Pooled lnvestment Fund 
Receipt and Disbursement of Public Funds 
State Cash Management 
State Treasurer's Office 
State Trust of Tennessee 
Tennessee Claims Commission 
Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System and Miscellaneous Systems 
Unclaimed Property 
Victims of Drunk Drivers Compensation Fund 

T ennessee Code Annotated Section 
49-7-801 e t seq 
94-501, et seq. 
Q-8-101, e t seq. 

4-3-5101 
8-34-301 - 8-34-319 
49-7-501 - 49-7-502 

12-1-103 
3-9-101 
9-9-101 

11-14-304 
10-7-302 
8-50-903 
4-15-101 

4-8-301, et seq. 
8-27-101 

10-1-101. et seq. 
49-3-1204 

8-27-301 
9-4-801, et seq. 

4-37-101, et seq. 
13-27-104 

49-7-201. et seq. 
13-23-106 

4-31-103 
4-3-5402 
49-4-202 
4-17-405 

49-7-2018 
49-3-401, et seq. 

50-6-004 

49-7-801 , et seq. 
9-8-101, et seq. 

49-7-501 - 49-7-502 
9-4-501 - 9-4-523 
9-4-101 - 9-4-105 

3-9-101 
29-13-101, et seq. 
8-25-101, et seq. 
31-6-101, et seq . 

8-25-501 
8-37-108 

9-4-602 
9-4-704 

8-38-101, et seq 
9-4-704 

8-5-106 - 8-5-111; 9-4-301, et seq. 
'l-4-106 - 9-4-1 08; 9-4-401 - 9-4-409 

8-5-101, et seq. 
9-4-801, et seq. 
9-8-301, et seq. 

Title 8, Chptrs. 34, 35, 36, 37 & 39 
66-29-101 1 et seq. 

40-24-107 
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TRE.tSURER R E P 0 R T 

EXECUTIVE STAFF DIRECTORY 

Treasurer's Office 
Treasurer 
Executive Assistant 
Executive Assistant 
Assistant to the Treasurer 
Human Resource Dll'ector / Careers 

Now Coordinator 

Investments 
Chief Im·estrnent Officer 
Senior Fixed Income Portfolio Manager 
Fixed lncome International Portfolio Manager 
Seruor Shorl-Term Portfolio Manager 
Senior Equity Portfolio Manager 
Senior Equity Portfolio Manager 
Director of Eqw ty 
Seruor International Portfolio Manager 

Retirement Administration 
Director of TCRS 
Assistant Director of TCRS 
Dll'ector of Deferred Compensation, 

Research and Publications 
Publications Editor 
General Counsel 
Counsel 
Drrector of Old Age and Survivors Insurance 
Manager of CoW'\Sehng Services 
Manager of Member Services 
Manager of Financial Services 

Other Divisions 
Director of Accounting 
Director of Adrnirustrative Services 
Director of Baccalaureate Education 

System Trust 
Director of Computer Operations 
Director of Information Systems 
Director of Internal Audit 
Director of Risk Management 
Director of Unclaimed Property 
Manager of Treasury Operations 
East Tennessee Claims Commissioner 
Middle Tennessee Claims Commissioner 
Executive Administrative Assistant, 

Claims Com.mission 
Budget Officer 

Steve Adams, CPA 
Dale Suns 
Janice Cunningham 
Steve Curry. CPA, CEBS, CCM 

Ann Taylor-Tharpe 

Thomas ~1ilne, CFA 
Jeff Bronnenburg, CFA, CPA 
Leighton Shantz, CF A 
Randv Graves, CPA 
Jere~y Conlm, CLU, ChFC 
Jim Robinson, CF A 
Michael Keeler, CFA 
Roy Wellington, CFA 

Ed Hennessee, CFP 
Jill Bachus, CPA 

Deana Reed Hannah. CRC. CRA 
Janice Reilly 
Mary Roberts-Krause, JD 
Vernon Bush, JD 
Marv E. Smith 
Donna Finley 
Velva Booker 
Connie Gibson, CPA 

Rick DuBray, CPA 
Rhonda Hicks, CPA 

Diana Coll.ins 
Sam Baker, CCP, CDP 
Newton Molloy, ill, CDP 
Jamie Wayman, CPA 
Steve Gregory 
Beth Chapman, CPA 
Gaylon Bandy 
Michael Lacy, JD 
William Baker, JD 

Margie Douglas 
Wendy Padgett 

The Treasurer is housed on the 1st floor of the State Capitol Bu1/dmg. 

(615) 741-2956 
(615) 741-2956 
(615) 741-2956 
(615) i·ll-2734 

(615) 7.JJ-2956 

(615) 532-1157 
(615) 532-1182 
(615) 532-1183 
(615) 532-1154 
(615) 532-1152 
(615) 532-1177 
(615) 532-1165 
(615) 532-1151 

(615) 741-7063 
(615) 741-7063 

(615) 74.1-7063 
(615) 741-7063 
(615) 741-7063 
(615) 741-7063 
(615) 741-7902 
(615) 741-1971 
(615) 741-1971 
(615) 741-4913 

(615) 532-3840 
(615) 532-8552 

(615) 532-8045 
(615) 532-8026 
(615) 532-8035 
(615) 532-1164 
(615) 741-90i6 
(615) 741-6499 
(615) 741-4985 
(423) 854-5330 
(615) 792-7471 

(615) 741-0741 
(615) 741-4985 

Divisions are housed on the 9th, 10th, 11tli. and 13th floors of the Andrew Jackson Building. 
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I N " E s T M E N T p 0 R T F 0 ~ I 0 :; 

S TATE CASH 

Rating Maturity Yield to Maturity Par Value Fair Value 
US TREASURY AND AGENCY OBLIGATIONS 
FED HOME LOAN MORTGAGE CORP DlSC NOTES Aaa 7/1/1999 -t80~o SS0,000,000 £50,000,000 
FED HOME LOAN ~10RTGAGE CORP DISC NOTES Aaa 7 / 6/1999 4.74~v 127.000,000 126,91 J,100 
FED HOME LOAN MORTGAGE CORP DISC NOTES Aaa 9 / 2/1999 4.86° ... 97.603.000 96.773,375 
FED NA TL MORTGAGE ASSOC DISCOUNT NOTES Aaa 7 / 7/ 1999 4.7,'iD{, 150,000,000 149,880,000 
FEDERAL HOME LN BANK BONDS Aaa 2/24/2000 501% 50,000,000 49,825,000 
FEDERAL HOME LN BANK BONDS Aaa 4/ 28 / 2000 5.03% 50,000,000 49 765,000 
FEDERAL HOME LN BANK BONDS Aaa 2125/ 2000 5.01 "~ 50.000,000 49,825,000 
FEDERAL HOME LN BANK DISCOUNT NOTES Aaa 7 / 28/1999 5.03'}o 150,000.000 149.460.000 
UNITED ST A TES TREASURY NOTES Aaa 2 ' 29/ 2000 s.01°0 50.000,000 50,625,000 

TOTAL U.S. TREASURY AND OBLIGATIONS $774,603,000 5773,064,475 

Maturity Yield to Maturity Par VaJue Fair Value 
CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT 
BANK OF ALAMO, ALAMO 11 / 5 / 1999 4.85% 53,000 000 53,000,000 
PEOPLES BANK, BARRETVILLE 2/1 / 2000 5.25'} .. 10,000,000 10,000,000 
PEOPLES BANK, BARRElVILLE 12/ 23/1999 5.00'}o 10.000,000 10,000.000 
BANK OF CROCKETT, BELLS 1 /26/ 2000 5.25°?. 300.000 300,000 
BANK OF CROCKETT, BELLS 1/ 7 / 2000 4.85% 200.000 200,000 
PEOPLES BANK, BENTON 7/ 27/ 1999 4.85% l00,000 100,000 
PEOPLES BANK, BENTON 11 / 8 / 1999 5.00% 200,000 200,000 
FIRST SOUTH BANK, BOLN AR 11/ 5 / 1999 4.85~10 2,142,700 2,1-12,700 
BANK OF BRADFORD 9/ 30/ 1999 5.00'}o 100,000 100,000 
TWIN CITY FED SVCS BK, BRISTOL 2/ 18/2000 5.40% 500,000 500.000 
PEOPLES BK & TR. BYRDSTOWN 10/26/1999 4.85% 200,000 200,000 
PEOPLES BK & TR, BYRDSTOWN 10/ 13/1999 5.00% 100,000 100,000 
PEOPLES BK & TR, BYRDSTOWN ll / 15/ 1999 5.15% 100,000 100,000 
PEOPLES BK & TR, BYRDSTOWN 10/ 8/1999 -1.85% 200,000 200,000 
PEOPLES BK & TR, BYRDSTOWN 9/ 17/ 1999 4.85% 100.000 100,000 
PEOPLES BK & TR, BYRDSTOWN 10/ 4 /1999 4.85% 100,000 100,000 
CUMBERLAND BANK, CARTHAGE 10/ 1211999 4.90% 9(),000 90,000 
CUMBERLAND BANK, CARTHAGE 2/ 1/ 2000 5.25% 500,000 500,000 
CUMBERLAND BANK, CARTHAGE 1/ 7 / 2000 5.25% 1,000,000 1,000,000 
FIRST ST ATE BANK, CHAPEL HILL 2 / 8/ 2000 5.40% 200,000 200,000 
SUNTRUST, CHA TI ANocx:;A 8 / 24/ 1999 4.75% 20,000.000 20,000,000 
SUNTRUST, CHA TT ANocx:;A 9/14/ 1999 4 75°10 20,000,000 20.000.000 
SUNTRUST, CHA TT ANocx:;A 12/13/ 1999 5.25'>o 10.000,000 10,000.000 
FIRST FED SVCS BK, CLARKSVILLE 10/ 22/ 1999 4.85% 2,000,000 2,000.000 
FIRST FED SVCS BK, CLARKSVILLE 2/ 8 / 2000 5.40% 3,000,000 3,000,000 
FIRST FED SVCS BK, CLARKSVILLE 2/15/ 2000 5.40% 100,000 100,000 
HERITAGE BANK, CLARKSVILLE 9 / 21/1999 4.85% 1,900,000 1,900,000 
FIRST BANK POLK CO. COPPERHILL 12/7/1999 5.00% 4,300,000 4,300,000 
RHEA CO NATL BANK, DAYTON 9/17 /1999 5.20% 1,200,000 1,200,000 
RHEA CO NA T'L BANK, DAYTON 10/ 29/1999 4.85% 950,000 950.000 
PEOPLES BANK, DICKSON 10/ 8 / 1999 4.85% 500,000 500,000 
PEOPLES BANK, DICKSON 10/ 8 / 1999 4.85% 500.000 500,000 

WEAKLEY CO BANK, DRESDEN 1 / 26/ 2000 5.25% 1,000,000 1,000,000 
HOME BANK, DUCKTOWN 11/3/1999 4.75% 1,500,000 1,500,000 
FLRST CITIZENS, DYERSBURG 10/ 1/ 1999 4.85% 2,000,000 2,000,000 
FIRST CITIZENS, DYERSBURG 12/ 6/ 1999 5.00% 2,000,000 2,000,000 
FIRST CITTZENS, DYERSBURG 10/ 8/ 1999 4.85% 2.000.000 2,000,000 
FIRST CITIZENS, DYERSBURG 10/ 12/1999 485% 2,000,000 2,000,000 
ARST CITIZENS, DYERSBURG 10/12/ 1999 4.85% 1,000,000 1.000,000 
FIRST CITlZENS, DYERSBURG 11 / 23/ 1999 4.85% 6,000,000 6,000,000 

(continued) 
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lREASURER 

STATE CASH 

FIRST CITIZENS. DYERSBURG 
FIRST CITIZENS, DYERSBURG 
FIRST CITIZENS, DYERSBUHG 
SECURlTI BANK, DYERSBURG 
SECURfn BANK, DYERSBURG 
SECURfn' BANK, DYERSBURG 
SECURm BANK, DYERSBURG 
BANK OF FRIENDSHIP 
BANK OF FRIENDSHIP 
CJTIZENS BANK, GAINESBORO 

s A E P 0 R T 

f ACKSON BANK & TRUST. GAINESBORO 
JACKSON BANK & TRUST, GAINESBORO 
JACKSON BANK & TRUST. GAINESBORO 
JACKSON BANK & TRUST, GAINESBORO 
JACKSON BANK & TRUST. GAINESBORO 
JACKSON BANK & TRUST, CAJNESBORO 
JACKSON BANK & TRUST. GAINESBORO 
GA TES BANKING & TRUST 
GA TES BANKING & TRUST 
TENNESSEE ST BANK, GATLINBURG 
TENNESSEE ST BANK, GATLINBURG 
TRUST ONE BANK, GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK. GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK. GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK, GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK, CERMANfOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK. GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK, GEJU,..1ANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK, GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK, GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK, GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK, GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK, GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK, GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK. GERMANTOWN 
TRUST ONE BANK. GERMANTOWN 
BANK OF GLEASON 
BANK OF GLEASON 
BANK OF GLEASON 
BANK OF HALL.5 
BANK OF HALLS 
BANK OF HALLS 
BANK OF HALLS 
BANK OF HALLS 
CmZENS BANK. HARTSV]LLE 
CHESTER CO BANK, HENDERSON 
VOLUNTEER BANK, JACKSON 
FENTRESS CO BANK. JAMESTOWN 
FENTRESS CO BANK, JAMESTOWN 
FENTRESS CO BANK, JAMESTOWN 
FENTRESS CO BANK, JAMESTOWN 
FENTRESS CO BANK, JAMESTOWN 
FENTRESS CO BANK, JAMESTOWN 
PROGRESSNE SAVINGS BANK, JAMESTOWN 
CITIZENS BANK, JASPER 
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M aturity Yield to r-.uturitv Par V;i lul' 

11 /24/1999 
11/2/ 1999 
9/ 2111999 
101511999 

10/12/1999 
1 2812000 
1/21 / 2000 
l 1.31 / 2000 
9/ 29/ 1999 
9/ 27/ 1999 
2/ 1812000 
9/17/ 1999 
2/1/ 2000 

9/24/1999 
I / 31 / 2000 

10/29/1999 
2/ 25/ 2000 

10/ 27/ 1999 
11/2/ 1999 
12 1/1999 

10/ 29/ 1999 
12/7 /1999 
2/16/ 2000 
9 / 21 / 1999 
10/7/1999 
9 / 2111999 
12/ 2/1999 
1127 / 2000 
9/21 / 1999 
12/ 2/1999 
1/ 27/ 2000 
10/7/1999 
Uli/1999 
2/ 16/ 2000 
9/ 21 / 1999 

11/10/1999 
2/ 11/ 2000 

12/20/1999 
10/12/ 1999 

2/ 8/2000 
1/ 31/ 2000 

10/20/1999 
10/ 1/1999 
2/14/2000 

12/ 24/ 1999 
10/12/ 1999 
1 l / 22/ 1999 

1/3/2000 
10/15/1999 

3/7/2000 
10/ 13/ 1999 
10/2711999 
11/16/ 1999 
2/ 25/ 2000 
10/ 4/1999 

5.25°:. 
5.00% 
4.850,n 
-i s5~ o 

4 85°0 
5 25"o 
5.250,., 
5 25°0 
S 100.o 
4 85°0 
4.85~o 

4 75°0 
5.25'}o 
5.10°/.1 
5.25% 
5.00% 
5.55°0 
4.b0°o 
SOO~o 

5 :!.5°o 
4.85% 
525°'.. 
5.40% 
4.60% 
4.850,., 
5.25% 
5.00~o 

5.250,o 
525°;, 
5.00% 
S.25°0 

4.85°0 
4.75% 
4.75% 
4.75% 
5.00% 
5.40% 
5.25% 
4.85% 
540% 
5.25% 
5J)()o/n 
485% 
5.40% 
5.00'}o 
4.85% 
515% 
5.25% 
5.00% 
5.55% 
4.mo 
4.~o 

5.15° ... 
5.550,o 
4.85% 

5.425.000 
3,000,000 
3,000,000 

J00,000 
300,000 

1,000,000 
250000 
90,000 

525.000 
300,000 

2,500.000 
1,000,000 

500,000 
500,000 
500,000 

1,000,000 
250.000 
450,000 
350,000 

5,000,000 
-l,000,000 
2,000,000 
2,000,000 
2,000,000 
1,000,000 
l ,000,000 
1,000.000 
1,000,000 
2,000,000 
2.000,000 
2,000,000 
2,000,000 
1,000,000 
1,000,000 
1.000.000 
3,000,000 

350,000 
300,000 
200,000 
300,000 
200,000 
200.000 
700,000 
400,000 

2,000,000 
100,000 

2,500,000 
500,000 
200,000 
500,000 
450,000 
300,000 
500,000 
300,000 
100.000 

fair Value 

5 4:!5.000 
3,000,000 
3.000,000 

300.000 
300,000 

l 000,000 
250,000 
90000 

";25000 
300,000 

2,500.000 
l,000,000 

500,000 
500.000 
500,000 

J,000,000 
250,000 
450000 
350.000 

5,000000 
4 000,000 
2. 000,000 
2,000,000 
2,000,000 
1.000,000 
1,000.000 
1,000,000 
1,000,000 
:Z.000,000 
2.000.000 
2,000,000 
2,000,000 
1,000,000 
l,000,000 
1,000,000 
3,000,000 

350,000 
300,000 
200,000 
300.000 
200,000 
200.000 
700,000 
400,000 

2.000,000 
100,000 

2,500,000 
500.000 
200000 
500,000 
4.50,000 
300,000 
500,000 
300,000 
100,000 

(contmut:d) 



I N v E s T M E N T p 0 R T F 0 l I 0 s 

STATE CASH 

Maturity Yield to Maturity Par Value Fair Value 

CITTZENS BANK, JASPER 10/ 5 / 1999 4.85°., 200,000 200.000 
OTIZENS BANK. JASPER l0/15/ 1999 -l .85~ .. 200,000 200,000 
FIRSTSTATEBANK, KENTON 1/ 14 / 2000 5.25°0 5,000,000 5,000,000 
FTRST ST A TE BANK, KENTON 2/ 18/ 2000 5 ..io•r,, 8.000 000 f>,000,000 
FlRST UNlON BANK, KINGSPORT 117 / 2000 5.25~<.> 1,050.000 1,050,000 
NA TL BANK OF COMMERCE, KNOXVILLE 10/ 1/ 1999 5.00% 2,000.000 2,000,000 
NA TL BANK OF COMMERCE, KNOXVlLLE 10/l -l / 1999 4.90~o 10 000,000 10.000,000 
SUNTRUST BANK. KNOXVILLE 9 / 1- /1999 4 75u,Q 40.000,000 40,000,000 
SUNTRUST BANK. KNOXVlLLE 11 / 12/ 1999 -l .85~o 15,000,000 15,000,000 
SUNTRUST BANK, KNOXVILLE 12/ 8/]999 5 25°10 15,000,000 15,000.000 
SUNTRUST BANK. KNOXVILLE 12/ 3 / 1999 485% 50,000,000 50,000,000 
SVNTRUST BANK, KNOXVJLLE 12/ 8/ 1999 5.25% 25,000,000 25,000,000 
SVNTRUST BANK. KNOXVILLE 12/8 /1999 5.25% 10,000,000 10,000,000 
CITIZENS BANK, LAFA YETrE 1/ 28 /2000 5.25% 500,000 500.000 
CITIZENS BANK, LAFA YElTE 3/3/2000 5.55% 100,000 100,000 
CITIZENS BANK, LAPA YETTE 9 / 28 / 1999 5.10% 250.000 250.000 
cmZENS BANK, LAFA YEITE ll / 3 / 1999 4.60% 100,000 100.000 
FIRST CENTRAL BANK, LENOIR CITY 11 / 17 /1999 5 15~n 500,000 500,000 
FlRST CENTRAL BANK, LENOTR CITY 10/ 8 / 1999 4 90°·0 500,000 500,000 
FlRST NA TL BANK, LENOIR CITY 9/ 21 / 1999 4.85% 200,000 200,000 
Fl.RST NATL BANK, LENOIR CITY 1/25/ 2000 5.25% 300,000 300,000 
FIRSr NA TL BANK, LENOIR CITY 1217/ 1999 5.00% 100,000 100.000 
COFFEE CO BANK, MANCHESTER 12110/ 1999 S.OO'}o 280,000 280,000 
COFFEE CO BANK, MANCHESTER 2/ 1/ 2000 5.SO~o 350,000 350.000 
CITY Sf A TE BANK. MARTIN 10/ 19/ 1999 4.85~o 500,000 500,000 
CITY Sf A TE BANK, MARTIN 1/18 / 2000 5.25°0 2,000,000 2,000,000 
CITY SfATE BANK. MARTIN 10/ 29/ 1999 4.60% 1,500,000 1,500,000 
PLANTERS BANK, MAURY CITY 10/ 12/1999 5.00% 200,000 200,000 
BOATMAN'S BANK, MEMPHIS 10/ 4/ 1999 4.85% 10,000,000 10,000,000 
BOATMAN'S BANK, MEMPHIS 2/ 4/2000 5.25% 10,000,000 10,000,000 
BOATMAN'S BANK, MEMPHIS 10/ 4 / 1999 4.85% 5,000.000 5,000,000 
ENTERPRISE NATIONAL BANK, MEMPHIS 9 / 21 / 1999 4.85% 500,000 500.000 
ENTERPRISE NA TI ON AL BANK, MEMPHIS 9 / 21 / 1999 4.85% 500,000 500,000 
ENTERPRISE NATIONAL BANK, MEMPHIS 10/ 22/ 1999 4.85% l ,000.000 1,000,000 
ENTERPRISE NA TI ON AL BANK, MEMPHIS 9 / 24/1999 4.85% 500,000 500,000 
E~ERPRISE NA TI ON AL BANK, MEMPHIS 12/ 28 /1999 5.25% 1,000,000 1,000.000 
ENTERPRISE NATIONAL BANK, MEMPHIS 9 / 30/ 1999 5.00% 500.000 500,000 
ENTERPRISE NATIONAL BANK, MEMPHIS 2 / 22/ 2000 5.55% 500,000 500,000 
ENTERPRISE NA TlONAL BANK MEMPHlS 10/ 22/ 1999 4 .60'}o 500,000 500,000 
INDEPENDENT BANK, MEMPHIS 9 / 22/1999 485% 2,000,000 2,000,000 
INDEPENDENT BANK. MEMPHIS 9 / 22/ 1999 4.75~o 1,000,000 1,000,000 
INDEPENDENT BANK, MEMPHIS 11 / 26/ 1999 4.85% 2,000,000 2,000,000 
NA TL BANK OF COMMERCE, MEMPHIS 1 / 10/ 2000 5.25% 20,000,000 20,000.000 
NA TL BANK OF COMMERCE, MEMPHIS 9117/ 1999 5.20~o 30,000,000 30,000,000 
NA TL BANK OF CO:M:MERCE, MEMPHIS 10/ 25/1999 4.85% 25,000,000 25,000,000 
NATL BANK OF COMMERCE, MEMPHJS 7/ 27/1999 4.75% 25,000,000 25,000,000 

NA TL BANK Of COMMERCE, MEMPHIS 11 / 24/ 1999 5.25% 30,000,000 30,000,000 
NATL BANK OF COMMERCE, MEMPHIS i / 30/1999 5.10% 25,000,000 25,000,000 

NA TL BANK OF COMMERCE, MEMPHIS 11/ 10/ 1999 5.15% 25,000,000 25,000,000 
NATL BANK OF COMMERCE, MEMPHIS 9/ 27/1999 4.85% 30,000,000 30,000,000 
NA TL BANK OF COMMERCE. MEMPHIS 7/28 /1999 4 75~o 50,000,000 50.000,000 
NATL BANK OF COMMERCE, MEMPHIS 10/ 29/ 1999 5.00% 50,000,000 50,000,000 
NA TL BANK OF COMMERCE, MEMPHIS 10/14/ 1999 4.90% 50,000,000 50,000,000 

NA TL BANK OF COMMERCE, MEMPHIS 9 / 17/1999 5.20% 50,000,000 50,000,000 
NA TL BANK OF COMMERCE, MEMPHIS 9 / 21 / 1999 5.20% 50,000,000 50,000,000 

(con tinued ) 
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T A E A S U A E A s A E P 0 R T 

STATE CASH 

NATLBANKOFCOMMERCE MEMPHIS 
NA TL BANK OF COMMERCE, MEMPHIS 
SOUTHTRUST BANK, ME1'.1PHIS 
SOUTHTRUST BANK, MEMPHIS 
SOUTHTRUST BANK, MEMPHIS 
SOUTI-ITRUST BANK, MEMPHlS 
SOUTHTRUST BANK, MEMPHJS 
BANK OF MURFREESBORO 
CAP!T AL BANK AND TRUST, NASHVILLE 
CAPITAL BANK AND TRUST, NASHVILLE 
FIRST AMERICAN NA TL BK, NASHVlLLE 
FIRST AMERJCAN NATL BK, NASHVILLE 
~'T AMERICAN NATL BK, NASHVILLE 
FfRST AMERICAN NATL BK, NASHVILLE 
FTRST AMERJCAN NATL BK, NASHV1LLE 
FlRSf AMERICAN NA TL BK, NASHVILLE 
FIRST AMERICAN NATL BK. NASHV1LLE 
FIRST AMERICAN NA 11.. BK, NASHVILLE 
NA T'L BANK OF COMMERCE, NASHVILLE 
SOUTI-ITR UST BANK, N ASJ-MLLE 
SOUTHTRUST BANK, NASrMLLE 
SOUTHTRUST BANK, NASHVILLE 
SOUTHTRUST BANK. NASHVILLE 
SOUTI-ITRUST BANK, NASHVILLE 
SOUTHTRUST BANK, NASHVILLE 
SOUTHTRUST BANK, NASHVILLE 
SOUTHTRUST BANK, NASHVILLE 
SOUTHTRUST BANK, NASHVILLE 
SOUTHTRUST BANK, NASHVILLE 
NEWPORT FEDERAL S&L, NEWPORT 
NEWPORT FEDERAL S&L, NEWPORT 
NEWPORT FEDERAL S&L, NEWPORT 
EFS FED SAVINGS BK, OAKLAND 
EFS FED SA VlNGS BK, OAKLAND 
EFS FED SA VlNGS BK, OAKLAND 
EFS FED SA \1NGS BK, OAKLAND 
EFS FED SA VJNGS BK, OAKLAND 
FIRST NATL BANK, ONEIDA 
FIRST NA TL BANK, ONEIDA 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK, PIKEVILLE 
COMMUNITY BANK, PULASKI 
COMMUNITY BANK, PULASKI 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK, PULASKI 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK, PULASKI 
FTRST NATIONAL BANK, PULASKI 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK, PULASKI 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK, PULASKI 
FTRST NATIONAL BANK, PULASKI 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK, PULASKI 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK, PULASKI 
BANK OF RIPLEY 
BANK OF RIPLEY 
BANK OF RIPLEY 
BANK OF RIPLEY 
BANK OF RIPLEY 
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M aturity 

9/ 2211999 
11 / 26/ 1999 

2/ 18 / 2000 
12/15/1999 
12/7 1 1999 

10/ 15/ 1999 
I / 26/ 2000 
9/ 24 /1999 
3/ 3 12000 

9/17/ 1999 
10/29/1999 

2/ 4/ 2000 
12/ 24 / 1999 
2/ 29/2000 
11 / 1/ 1999 
9/ 24/ 1999 
1/26/ 2000 
10/ 4/ 1999 

10/ 2511999 
2/ 9/ 2000 
3/ 7 / 2000 

10/ 15/ 1999 
2 /9/ 2000 
3/ 7/2000 

11 / 1/ 1999 
9/ 29/ 1999 
9 / 29/1999 

10/ 29/ 1999 
2/ 4/2000 

12/ 17/ 1999 
9/28/ 1999 

12/17/ 1999 
2 / 4/ 2000 

1/26/ 2000 
10/ 15/ 1999 

11 / 5/ 1999 
10/ 22/1999 

2 I '22. /2000 
9/29/1999 
2/ 29/ 2000 

12/31 / 1999 
10/ 15/1999 
2/15/2000 
1/31 / 2000 
2/ 4/ 2000 
2/ 8/ 2000 
2/ 4/ 2000 

2/15/2000 
1/ 31 / 2000 
2/ 8/ 2000 

11 / 8/ 1999 
10/ 4/1 999 
11/ 9/1999 
9/21 / 1999 

10/ 13/ 1999 

Yield to Maturity 

5.20°0 
5.25'lo 
5 40'ln 
S.OO"tc 
5 00°0 
485% 
5.25% 
-1 .75% 
5~55°0 

'1.85u'o 
4.60% 
5.25% 
5.00~u 

5,55u{, 
4.85'lo 
4.85~o 

5.25% 
4.85~o 

4.85% 
5.55% 
5.55'}o 
5.00"to 
5.55% 
5.55% 
5.00°lo 
5.00% 
5.00% 
5.00% 
5.25% 
5.00% 
5.10°1> 
5.00% 
5.25% 
5.25% 
4.85% 
4.85% 
4.60% 
5.55% 
5.00% 
5.55% 
5.25% 
490% 
5.40% 
525% 
5.25% 
5.40% 
5.25% 
5.40% 
5.25% 
5.40% 
5.00% 
5.00% 
5.00% 
4.85% 
5.00% 

Par Value 

50,000 000 
50,000,000 
25,000,000 
25.000,000 

1,000.000 
l,000,000 
2,000,000 
],000,000 
1,000,000 
2,000.000 

50,000,000 
100,000,000 
50,000 000 
50,000,000 
50,000,000 
50,000,000 
50.000,000 
50,000,000 
50,000,000 
50,000,000 
40,000,000 

4,000,000 
10,000,000 
6,000,000 
3,500,000 
3,000,000 
2,800,000 
4,000,000 

30,000,000 
95,000 

500,000 
300,000 

2,500,000 
2,500,000 
2,500,000 
1,500,000 
1,500,000 

500,000 
500,000 
300,000 
7'XJ,OOO 
750,000 

1,000,000 
300,000 
300,000 
300,000 
500,000 

1,000,000 
700.000 

1,000,000 
100,000 
100,000 
150,000 
200,000 
100,000 

fair Value 

50.000,000 
50,000,000 
25,000,000 
25,000,000 
1,000,000 
1,000,000 
2,000,000 
1 000,000 
1.000,000 
1,000,000 

50,000,000 
L00,000,000 
50,000,000 
50,000,000 
50,000,000 
50.000,000 
50,000,000 
50,000,000 
50,000,000 
50,000,000 
40,000,000 
4,000.000 

10,000,000 
6,000,000 
3,500.000 
3,000,000 
2,800,000 
4,000,000 

30,000,000 
95,000 

500,000 
300,000 

2,500,000 
2,500,000 
2,500,000 
1.500,000 
1.500 ,000 

500,000 
500,000 
300,000 
790,000 
750,000 

J ,000,000 
300,000 
300,000 
300,000 
500,000 

1,000,000 
700,000 

1,000,000 
100,000 
100,000 
150,000 
200,000 
100,000 

(continued) 



I N v E s T M E N T p 0 A T F 0 l I 0 s 

STATE CASH 

Matu.rity Yield to Maturi ty Par Value Fair Va lue 

FIRST UNION BANK, ROGERSVILLE 2 / 1/ 2000 5.25°:, 1,650,000 1,650.000 
FIRST UNION BANK, ROGERSVILLE 2/ 1 / 2000 5.25% 1.600,000 1.600,000 
BANK OF SHARON 10; 15/ 1999 4.85°10 1,500,000 1,500,000 
BANK OF SHARON 12/7 / 1999 5.00% 1,000,000 J ,000,000 
BANK OF SHARON 10/ 22/ 1999 4.60% 1,000,000 1,000.000 
BANK OF SHARON 2 / 22/ 2000 5.55% 1,000,000 1,000,000 
BANK OF SHARON 2/14/ 2000 5.40% 1,000,000 1,000,000 
SOMERVILLE BANK AND TRUST 2/15 / 2000 5.40'Yu 200,000 200,000 
MERCHANTS & PLANTERS BK, TOONE 2 / 22/ 2000 555°10 100.000 100.000 
MERCHANTS & PL.<\NTERS BK. TOONE 9/ 24 11999 5 lO~o 100,000 100,000 
MERCHANTS & PLANTERS BK, TOONE 2 / 4 / 2000 S.25'7o 200.000 200,000 
MERCHANTS & PLANTERS BK, TOONE 2 / 8 / 2000 540% 200,000 200,000 
FIRST ST ATE BANK, UNION OTY 10/ 18 / 1999 4.60% 5,000.000 5,000,000 
WAYNE COUNTY BANK, WAYNESBORO 10/ 29/1999 5.00% 900,000 900,000 

TOTAL CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT S1, 705,987, 700 Sl,705,987,700 

Maturity Yield to Maturi ty Par Value f air Value 
REPURCH ASE AGREEMENTS 
LEHMAN - OVERNIGHT 7/1/1999 4.75% $48,835.000 $48,835,000 
LEHMAN - OVERNIGHT 711/ 1999 4.75% 48,835,000 48,835,000 
LEHMAN - OVERNIGHT 7/1/ 1999 4.75% 48,835,000 48,835,000 
LEHMAN - OVERNIGHT 7/ 1/ 1999 4.75% 48,835,000 -18,835,000 
LEHMAN - OVERNIGHT 7/1/ 1999 4.75% 3,660,000 3.660,000 
SUNTRUST - TERM REPO 7 / 1/ 1999 4.75% 15,000,000 15,000,000 

TOT AL REPURCHASE A GREEMENTS $214,000,000 $214,000,000 

Maturi ty Yield to M aturi ty Par Value Fair Value 
COMMERCIAL PA PER 
APRECO 8 / 4 /1999 5.23% $50,000,000 $49,919,167 
APRECOINC. 7 / 13/ 1999 4.89% 50,000,000 49,754,444 
ASSOCIATES CAPITAL 8/17 / 1999 5.62% 25_.000,000 24,836,153 
BTRDUNLOP 9 / 15/ 1999 5.11% 100,000.000 98,933,889 
CORP ASSET FUNDING COMPANY 8 / 9 / 1999 4.91% 50,000.000 49,737,292 
CORPORA TE RECETV ABLES CORP. 8 / 2 / 1999 4 .91% 50,000,000 49,784,000 
CORPORA TE RECEIVABLES CORP. 8 / 9 / 1999 4.96% 75,000.000 74,600,250 
CORPORATE RECEIVABLES CORP. 8 / 10/1999 4.91% 50,000,000 49,730,000 
DELA WARE FUNDING 7/ 15/1999 5.05% 50,000,000 49,902,194 
FALCON ASSETSECURITlZATION CORP. 8/17/ 1999 4.93% 30,000,000 29,809,258 
GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORP. 8 / 4 / 1999 4.91% 50,000,000 49,770.500 
HOUSEHOLD FINANCE CORP. 8/3/ 1999 4.89% 50,000,000 49,778,167 
HOUSEHOLD FINANCE CORP. 8 / 9 / 1999 5.04% 50,000,000 49,729,167 
MERRILL LYNCH & CO .. INC. 7 / 9 / 1999 4.85% 40,000,000 39,957,244 

NATlONA L RURAL ELECfRIC CORP. 10/ 4 / 1999 5.16% 50,250,000 49,463,139 
NATIONAL RURALUTILITY 9 / 16 / 1999 5.09% 50,000,000 49,576,371 
RECEIVABLES CAPITAL CORP. 8 / 4/ 1999 5.07% 48,406,000 48,176,045 

SHEFFIELD RECEIVABLES 7 / 20/ 1999 5.07% 63,754,000 63,584,078 

US WEST COMMUNlCA TIONS 7 / 19/ 1999 5.12% 45,000,000 44,885,249 

TOT A L COMMERClAL PAPER $977,410,000 $971,926,607 

TOTAL PORTFOLIO $3,672,000,700 $3,664,978,782 

P'AG E S S 



TREASURER ' S REPORT 

BACCALAUREATE EDUCATION SYSTEM TRUST 

Moody's 
Rating Maturity Yield to Matunty Par Value Fair Value 

U.S. TREASURY AND AGENCY OBLIGATIONS 
FEDERAL HOME LN MTG CORP NR 1/ 27/ 2005 5.31% $ 450,000 $ 486,562 
FEDERAL HOME LN MTG CORP Aaa 4/ 29 / 2009 6.77% 200,000 192,938 
FEDERAL NA TL MTG ASSN Aaa l1 / 12/ 2002 6.06°0 1.100,000 1,134.199 
FEDERAL NA TL MTG ASSN MTN Aaa b / 19 / 2003 6 03°0 650,000 639,333 
FEDERAL NA TL MTG ASSN MTN Aaa 3 / 4/ 2009 6.66°n 350,000 .U4.306 
STUDENT l...f\i MARKETING ASSN Aaa 9 / H/2000 5.95~o 600,000 603,000 
UNITED ST A TES TREAfiURY BONDS Aaa 11115/2004 5 44'}o 275,000 347,058 
UNITED ST A TES TREASURY BONDS Aaa I 1 / 15/2009 7.56% 250,000 298,828 
UNITED ST A TES TREASURY BONDS Aaa 11/15/2012 6.08% 100,000 255,124 
UNITED STATES TREASUR)' NOTES Aaa 10/ 31/2001 5 980,o 475,000 481 .826 
UNITED ST A TES mEASURY NOTES Aaa 6/ 30/ 2002 5.83% 150,000 152.508 
UNITED STA TES TREASURY NOTES Aaa 7/ 31/ 2002 5.14% 1,750,000 1,768,043 
UNITED ST A TES TREASURY NOTES Aaa 3 / 31 / 2003 s.24°;,, 725,000 720,24-1 
UNITED ST A TES TREASURY NOTES Aaa 11 ' 15 / 2004 5AS~o 400,000 437,564 
TOTAL U.S. TREASURY AND 

AGENCY OBLIGATIONS $ 7,851,533 

Moody's 
Ra tins_ Maturi!}' Yield to Maturity P.u Value Fair Value 

CORPORA TE BONDS 
CALIFORNIA INFRASTRUCTURE Aaa o/ 25/2004 6.10% s 200,000 $ 199,760 
DUKE CAP CORPORATION .A3 7/ 15/ 2005 6.34% 200,000 193,248 
FORD MTR CO DEL A l 10/ 1/ 2008 6.09% 500,000 508,025 
GENERAL ELEC CAP CORPORA TJON Aa;) 2/ 15/2003 5.93% 350,000 378,277 
GENERAL MTRS ACCEPTANCE CORP. A2 6 / 17 / 2004 6.84% 200,000 201,594 
MERRILL LYNCH AND COMPANY, INC Aa3 3 / 15/2006 597% 100,000 101.395 
MORGAN STANLEY GROUP INC. Aa4 1/ 20/2004 5.94°~ 500,000 481,920 
TELE COMMUNTCA TJONS INC. Aa5 8 / 1/ 2005 5.83% 300,000 307,488 
WAL MART STORF.S INC PASS 11-IRU Aa2 7/1/ 2004 722% 87,355 92,494 
TOT AL CORPORATE BONDS s 2,464,201 

Units Fair Value 
MUTUALAJN D 

S &P SOO 68,104 $ 4,058,016 

TOT AL MUTUAL FUND s 4,058,016 

TOTAL PORTFOLIO $14,373,750 

P~GE S6 



Shares 

3.406.000 
2,392,000 
1,344,000 
3.284,000 
2,281,500 
1,597,339 
2,018,250 
2,192,000 
1,666,000 
1,529,000 

Par Value 
250,000,000 
184,960,000 
195,000,000 
170,300.000 
177,575,000 
200,000,000 

200.000.000 
199,698,660 
198,566,434 
196,587,019 

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIOS 

TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

LARGEST STOCK HOLDINGS BY FAm VALUE 

Security Name FaiT Value 

.MICROSOFT CORPORATION 5307,178,625 
GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY 270.296,000 
INfERNA TIONAL BUSIN"FSS lviACHINES 173,il2,000 
WAL.MART SI'ORES INCORPORATED 158,453,000 
CISCO SYSTEMS INCORPORATED 147.01-1,156 
MO WOLROCOM Il\.TCORPORATED 137,470,988 
LUCENT TEQ-INOLOGIFS INC 136,105.734 
INTEL CORPORATION 130,424,000 
MERCK & COMPANY, Il\.TC. 122,6.59,250 
FXXON CORPORATION 117,924,125 

TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

LARGEST BOND HOLDINGS BY FAIR VALUE 

Moody's 

Quality 
Security Name Yield Maturity Rating Fair Value 

UNITED Sf A TIS lREASURY BONDS 6.12% 8/ 15/ 2013 Aaa S331,445,000 
UNITED Sf A TFS TREASURY BONDS 6.28% 2 / 15/ 2019 Aaa 238,829,600 
UNITED ST A TES TREASURY BONDS 6.28°0 8 / 15/ 2019 Aaa 235,950,000 
UNITED STATES TREASURY BONDS 6.27% 5 / 15/ 2017 Aaa 215,243,873 
UNITED STA TFS TREASURY WIFS 5.81% 11 / 15/ 2004 Aaa 194,251,068 
Q\JMA Il POOL 002767 7.14% 6/ 20/ 2029 Aaa 192,062,000 
FEDERAL NATIONAL MOR1GAGE ASSN. 6.17% 2 / 13/ 2004 Aaa ] 91,906,000 
GJMA II POOL 002754 7.14% 5/20/2029 Aaa 191,772,620 
FEDERAL HOME WANK' C00716 6.%% 2/ 1/ 2029 Aaa 187,271,975 
FEDERAL HOME WAN PC C00680 6.97% 11/ 1/ 2028 Aaa 185,405, 149 

A complete portfolio /isling is available upon req11est. 
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TREASURER s REPORT 

CHAIRS OF EXCELLEN CE 

LARGEST STOCK HOLDINGS BY FAm VALUE 

Sha.res Security Name 
54,000 MirnOSOFT CORPORA.. TION 
37,600 GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPAN'l' 
48,000 INTELCORPORATION 

22,000 INTERNATIONAL BUSINFSS MAG-ilNE'S 
39 ,500 OSCO SYSTEMS Il\X::ORPORA TED 
49,500 GAP 11\CORPORA TED 
50,000 WAI.MARTSfORES INCORPORATED 
30,000 EXXON CORPORATION 
29,000 MERCK & COMPANY, JNCORPORA TED 
42,000 CID GROUP INCORRJRA TED 

CHAIRS OF EXCELLENCE 

LARGEST BOND HOLDINGS BY FAIR VALUE 

Pa.r Value Security Name 
17,000,000 UNITED ST A TFS TREASURY NOTES 
10 ,000 ,000 TENNESSEE V ALl.EY AUTHORITY 
7,000,000 UNITED ST A TFS TREASURY NOTES 
7,150,000 CALIR)RNlA INFRA & ECONOMIC 
5,000,000 RJRD CAPITAL BV 
5,000,000 MERRILL LYN:H & COMPANY, INC. 
5,000,000 A&>P FDGD, LLC 
5,000,000 INIERNA TIONAL LEASE FIN. CORP. MIN. 
5,000,000 UNITED Sf A TES TRFASURY f'.OTES 
4,805,349 SMALL BUSINESS ADMIN PAR1NERSHIP CIF 

A oomplete 'fJOTtfolio listing is available upon request. 

KEY TO RA TINGS 

Yield 

5.92':<• 
8.04% 
5.85% 

6.55% 
630% 

6.75% 
6.s~c. 

649% 
5.69% 

6.94% 

Moody's 
Yield to Quality 

Maturity Rating 

8/ 15/ 2007 Aaa 

7/ 15/ 2024 Aaa 

8/ 15/2005 Aaa 

9/ 25/2005 i\aa 
11 / 15/ 2000 Al 

5/ 15/ 2006 Aa3 
10/ 20/ 2003 Aaa 

8/ 1/ 2001 A1 
3/ 31/ 2003 Aaa 

9/ 10/2001 NR 

Fair Value 

$ 4,870,125 

$ 

4,248,800 
::! .856,000 
2,843,500 
2,545,281 
2,493,563 

~.412,500 

2,313,750 

2.135,125 
1.995,000 

Fair Value 
17,220,490 

10,008,900 
7,2.11 ,840 

7,100,808 
5,247.500 

5,170,000 
4,989,000 

4,979.200 
4,967,200 

4,937,496 

Ailratmgs presented are from Moody's Investors Service. GovemmentSecuritiesarenotrated perse' but are considered 
the best quality securities. 

Moody's rates securities as follows: 
Aaa ............. Best Quality 
Aa ............. High Quality 

A ............ Upper Medium Quality 
Baa ...... ....... Medium Quality 

Moody's applies numerical modifiers in each rating classification as follows: 

1 ............. Higher End 
2 ............. Mid-range 
3 ............. Lower End 

NR indicates the security is not rated by Moody's. 
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Financial Statements 

State Pooled Investment Fund 

Tennessee Consolidated Retir~ment System 

Deferr0d Compensation 

Flexit>I~ Benefits Plan 

Claims Award fund 

Criminal Injuries Fund 

Baccalaureate Education System Trust 

Chairs at ExceH@nc' 

Bond Refunding 

f't\-ri s Lt\-n~in~ 5tt\-te f't\-rk. 
We.st Tenne.sse.e. 



F N A N C A. L S T A T E M f N T S 

STATE P OOLED IN VESTMENT FUND 
INDEPENDENT A UDITOR'S R EPORT 

COMPTROLLER OF THE TREASURY 
DEPARTMENT OF AUDIT 

DIVISION OF STATE AUDIT 
SUITE 1500. JAMES K. POLK ST.ATE OFFICE BUILDING 

NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243-0264 

December 10. 1999 

The Honorable John G. Morgan 
Comptroller of the Treasury 
State Capitol 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 

Dear Mr. Morgan: 

PHONE (615} 741 -3697 

We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets of the State Pooled Investment Fund as of June 30, 1999, 
and June 30, 1998, and the related statements of changes in net assets for the years then ended. These financial statements 
are the responsibility of management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audits 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we plan and perfonn the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion . 

In our report dated December 29, 1998, we qualified our opinion on the 1998 financial statements because insufficient 
audit evidence existed to support the State Pooled Investment Fund's disclosures required by the Governmental 
Accounhng Standards Board (GASB) Technical Bulletin 98-1, Disclosures about Year 2000 Issues. The State Pooled 
Investment Fund's year 2000 disclosures are now reported as required supplementary information as permitted by 
GASB Technical Bulletin 99-1, Disclosures about Year 2000 lssues~n amendment of Technical Bulletin 98-1. Accordmgly, 
our present opinion on the 1998 financial statements, as expressed herein, is different from our prior report on the 1998 
financial statements. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the State Pooled Investment Fund as of June 30, 1999, and Jnne 30, 1998, and the results of its operahons for the years 
then ended m conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 10, 1999, on our 
consideration of the State Pooled Investment Fund 's internal control over financia l reportmg and our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, and contracts. 

Sincerely, 

A Hayes Jr., CPA 
Director, Div1sion of State Au 
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T R E ~ S U R E R s R E P 0 R T 

STATE POOLED INVESTMENT FUND 

COMPARATIVE STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS 

JUNE 30, 1999 AND JUNE 30, 1998 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash eqwvalents 
Short-term investments, at amortized cost 
Accrued income receivable 
TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABIUTIES Al\TD NET ASSETS 

j une 30, 1999 

$ l ,996,757,469 
l ,716.248,368 

31262,138 
$ 3,744267.975 

NET ASSETSHELD1NTRVSTFORPOOLPARTICTPANTS $ 3,744.267,975 

Set' accompnnying Notes to l/tl' Fmonc1al Statements 

STATE POOLED INVESTMENT FUND 

COMPARATTVE STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 1999 AND JUNE 30, 1998 

For the Year Ended 
June 30, 1999 

OPERATIONS 
1nvestment income $ 172,917,203 

Expenses 
Administrative fee 1,525.729 
Custodian and banking services fees 37,741 

Total expenses 1,563,470 

NET INVESTMENT INCOME 171,353,733 

CAPITAL SHARE TRANSAcnONS (OOLL.\R 
AMOUNTS AND NUMBER OF SHARES ARE 
IBESAME) 
Shares sold 22.090,043,617 

Less shares redeemed 21,887,507.944 

INCREASE FROM CAPTT AL SHARE TRANSAcnONS 202,535,673 

TOT AL INCREASE IN NET ASSETS 373.889,406 

NET ASSETS HELD IN TRUST FOR POOL PARTICIPANTS 
BEGINNlNG OF YEAR 3,370,378,569 

END OF YEAR $ 3.744,267,975 

See accompanying Notes to the F1nanc1al Statements 
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June 30, 1998 

$ 2,3-18,874.13-l 
1,001,246,478 

20,257 ,957 
s 3 ... 170.378,569 

$ 3,370,378.569 

For the Year Ended 
June 30, 1998 

$ 155,913,698 

1,636,816 
58.656 

1,095,472 
154,218,226 

20.641,304,102 
20,170,760,242 

470,543,860 
624 .762,086 

2,745,616,483 
$ 3,370,378,569 



F N A. N C 

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1. Reporting Entity 

A l STt, T EMEN i S 

STATE POOLED I NVESTMENT FUND 
NOTES TO THE FINANClAL STATE!VfENTS 

}UNE 30, 1999 AND }UN E 30, 1998 

The State Pooled ln\'estment Fund (SPIF) is an external investment p ool sponsored by the State of Tennessee The 
external portion of the State Pooled lnYestrnent Fund . consishng of flmds be longing to entities outside of tJie Sta te of 
Tennessee Financial Rcporhng Enti ty, has b~en included as a sepa rate mve:.tment trus t fund in the Tenne,see Compre­
henswt! Annual Fmancial Report The internal portion, cons1stmg off unds belonging to the State and its component um ts 

has been included in the vanous parhClpating funds and component units in the Trn11~ssee Comprellfnsive 'l nnual Fm.i 11-
CUll Repo1t 

2. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
The accompanying financial s tatements have been prepared in conform1ty with generally accepted accounting pnn­
c1ples as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The SPIF follows all applicable GASB 
pronouncements, as well as apphcable private sector pronouncements issued on or before November 30, 1989. The 
hnanc1aJ statements luwe been prepared using the flow of econorruc resources measurem,ent focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting. Under this basis, revenues arc recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the hme liabili­
ties are incurred . 

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
This classtficahon includes deposits in demand accounts as well as s hort-tenn mvestments with a matunty date withm 
three months of the date acqwred by the State. 

4. Method Used to Report lnvestments and Participant Shares 
The SPCF is not regtstered with the Securities and fa.change Corrurussion (SEC) as an investment compan} but, through 
its mvestment policy adopted by the Funding Board of the State of Tennessee (Fundmg Board), operates in a manner 
consistent with the SEC's RuJe 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 Rule 2a7 allows SEC registered mutual 
funds to use amortized cost to report net assets in computing share prices. Likewise. the SPIF uses amortized cost 
accounting measures to report in\'estments and share pnces. During the year~ ended June 30, 1999 and June 30, 1998, 
the State had not obtained or provided any legally binding guarantees to support the value of participant shares 

B. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

1. Investment Policy 
The State Pooled Investment Fund is authorized by statute to invest funds m accordance with policy gwdelmes ap­
proved by the Funding Board. The current resolution of the Funding Board giVes the Treasurer approval to invest m 
collateralized certificates of deposit in authorized s tate depositories, prime commercial paper, prime bankers' accep­
tances, bonds, notes, and treasury bills of the United States or other obligations guaranteed as to principal and interest 
by the United States or any of its agencies, repurchase agreements for obligations of the United States or its agenoes, 
and in certain obligations of the State of Tennessee pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 9-4-602(b). Tnvestment 
in denvative type securities and investments of high risk is prohibited. 

This resolution further states that the dollar weighted average maturity of the State Pooled Investment Fund shall not 
exceed 90 days and that no investment may be purchased with a remaining matunty of greater than 397 calendar days. 
In adctition, it is the intent of the Funding Board that the market value of the SPIF not deviate more than 0.5 percent 
from amortized cost. If it does, actions may include but not be limited to selling securities whose market value substan­
tially deviates from amortized cost and investing in securities with 90 days or less to maturity 

The State Pooled Investment Fund is also authorized by policy to contractually loan securities to investment brokers. 
The contract for a secunty loan provides that the fund loanspeofic secunties from its holdings to the broker in return 
for coll a ter a 1 secun bes. Statute req wres that the loaned securities be coll a teralized at 102% of their market value. There 
were no securities on loan from the State Pooled Investment Fund during the years ended June 30, 1999 and June 30, 
1998. 

Statutes require that state deposits be secured by collateral secunties with a market value of 105°/c, of the face of the 
deposit secured thereby after considering the applicable FDIC coverage, or the depository must be a member of the 
State Collateral Pool and the pool must have secunbes pledged which in total equal the required percentage estab­
lished by the Collateral Pool Board. 

Certificates of deposit are not placed or renewed with a financial mstituhon until adequate collateraJ is pledged. 
Open accounts maintained for deposit of state revenues are collateralized on an esttmate of the average daily 
balance 111 the account based on previous balances and monitored for variation to actuaJ baJances. The Treasurer 

(continued 
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1s required, by statute, to evaluate the market value of required collateral monthly, and more frequently i{ 
market conditions require. Statutes provide for the Cornrruss1oner of FU1anoal lrubtutions to advise, on a hmely 
basis, the Treasurer and the Commissioner of Finance and Adounistrahon of the condition of each state bank and 
s tate chartered savmgs and loan associahon. including his recommendanons regardrng its cond1t:1on and safety as a 
state depository. Similar provisions apply to federally chartered banks and savings and loan associations designated 
as state depositories. Tius process ensures that instituhons whosefmanciaJ status 1s u_ncertam are morutored for collat­
eral suihc1ency. All repurchases are done with pnrnary dealers m gO\'emmentsecurihes which have executed a mas­
ter repurchase agreement with the State which provides for securities underlying repurchase agreements to have a 
market value of not less than 100 percent (100%) nor more than 102 percent (102%) of the cost of the repurchase 
agreement plus accrued mterest. Pnme commercial paper may be acquired from authonzed broker dealers or directly 
from the iss uer. There is no collateral requirement for prime commeroal paper. 

2. Deposits 
Deposits with financial tnshtutions are required to be categorized to indicate the level of custodial credit nsk as­
sumed by the State Category 1 consists of deposits that are insured or collateralized with securities held by the State 
or by its agent in the State·s name C!lltegory 2 consists of deposits collateralized with securities held by the pledging 
financial 1.I1Stitution's trust department or agent in the State's name. Category 3 deposits are uncollateralized. This 
includes any bank balance that 1s coUateralized with secUiities held by the pledging financial institution, or by its 
trust de>partment or agent but not in the State's name. 

As of June 30, 1999 and )tme 30, 1998, the carrying amounts of the State Pooled Investment Fund deposits were 
$1 ,754,023,326 and $1,453,344,189 respectively. The bank balance, including accrued interest, was $1,783,453,845 as o( 
June 30, 1999 and $1,471,715,287 as of June 30, 1998 Of the bank balance, $1,783,274,895 at June 30. 1999 and $ 
1,471,663,653 at June 30, 1998 was considered category 1, covered by insurance or collateral (at fair vaJue) held in the 
state' s name by independent custodial banks or in the state's account at the Federal Reserve Bank. At June 30, 1999, 
$178,950 (atfrur value) and atJune30,1998, $51,634(at fair value) was considered category 3, Wlinsured and uncollaterahzed. 
There were no material amounts uncollateralized during the years ended June30, 1999 and June 30, 1998 

At June 30, 1999 and June 30, 1998, the pnncipal amount of certificates of deposit in state depositories was $1,705,987,700 
and $1,425,275.000 respectively Interest rates on certificates of deposit held at June 30, 1999 ranged £rom 4.60% to 
555% and at June 30, 1998 ranged from 5.40% to 6.00%. The days to matunty ranged from 27 to 365 days at June 30, 
1999 and 3 to360 days at June 30,1998 

3. Investments 
Investments are also required to be categorized to indicate the level of custodial credit risk assumed by the State. 
Category I in dudes investments that are insured or regIStered, or for which securities are held by the State or Hs agent 
in the name of the State. Category 2 includes uninsured and WU'egistered investments for which the securities are 
held by the counterparty's trust department or agent in the name of the State. Category 3 includes uninsured and 
unregistered mvestments for which the securities are held by the broker or dealer or by the counterparty's trust 
department or agent but not in the name of the State. 

Cash equivalents and 
short-term investment5 
Repurchase agreements 
U.S. government and 
agency obligations 

Commercl.31 paper 
Total cash equivalents and 

short-term invest:men~ 

Less short-term investments 
classified as cash equiv a le:nts 

Canying 
.'\mount 

$ 214,000,000 

773,682.306 
971,926,607 

1,959 ,608,913 

on Statement of Net Assets (1,513,123,245) 
Add: certificates of deposit 

classified as short-term in vestments 
on Statement of Net As.sets 1,269,762,700 

Short-term investm.."'flt:l as shown 
cm Statement of Net Assets 
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$ 1,716,248,368 

F.iir Value 

$ 214,000,000 

773,064,475 
971,926,607 

$1,958,991,082 

June 30, 1999 
Interest Rate Days to 

Pu Value Range Maturity 

$ 214,0001000 4 75% to4 75% J to 30 days 

774,603,000 4.74% to ?. 13% 28 to 369 days 
977.410,000 4..85% to 5.62% 26to104 days 

$1, 966,013,000 
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Cash eqwi;alen~ and 
short-term investment!> 
Repurchase agreements 
U S govemmt!nl and 
agency obligahons 

Commernal paper 
Totdl cash eqwvalent.s and 

short-term uwestments 

Less. short-term uwestments 
classified as ca.,h eqwva lents 
on Statement of Net Assets 

Add· certifica tcs ol deposit 
classified as short-tenn investments 
on Statement ot Net Assets 

Short-term uwestment~ as shown 
on Statement of Net Assets 

Carrying 
Amount 

$ '.?.7,500,000 

742,642,7 13 
1,126,633,'710 

1,896,776,423 

( 1,424.964,945) 

52Y,435,000 

$ l ,001.246,47S 

N ~ N C 

FaarV.alue 
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NOTES TO THE FINANC IAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 1999 AND JUNE 30, 1998 
June 30, 1998 

Par Value 
lnterei.t Rate 

Range 
Days lo 
Maturity 

$ 27,500,llOO 'ii 27,500.000 :>.J0°'u t(l S.56"0 J d.; , 

73Q,214,75l 745,167,000 4.950,o to 5.70"o 1 to 289 <.fay-. 

1, 126,633,710 1,131 ,62.9,UOU 5 500,o to 5.7J"u I to SY day~ 

$1.893,348,4{11 $1 904.296,000 

The State Pooled Investment FU!ld's investments, shown above as of June 30, 1999 and June 30, 1998, are a U consid­
ered category 1. All securihe5, whether owned outright or pledged as collateral agamst repurchases, are held in the State's 
account m the Federal Resenre Bank or at a third party trustee custodian in the State's name 

C OTHER ACCOUNTING DISCLOSURES 

Description of the State Pooled Investment Fund 
The State Pooled Investment Fund ts established by Tennessee Code Anrwtated, Secl7on 9-4-603 "for the purpose of recei v­
ing and inves ting any money in the custody of any officer or officers of the state unless prohibited by sta tute to be 
invested" Participants in the SPlF mclude the general fund ot the State and any deparb:nent or agency of the State wluch 
is required by court order, contract, state or federal law or federal regulation to recel\"e interest on invested funds and 
which are authonzed by the State Treasurer to participate in the SPIF. In addition, funds in the State of Tennessee Local 
Goverrunent Investment Pool (LGIP) are consolidated with the SPIF for investment purposes only. The SPIF, as noted in 
A.4 above, is not registered as an investment company with the SEC. The primary oversight responsibility for the invest­
ment and operahons of the SPIF rests w ith the Funchng Board, 

Investment in the SPIF by local governments and certain state agencies is optional and participants may invest an}' 
amount for any length of time tn the SPIF. However, some deposits made to the LGIP are contractually reqwred and 
comrrutted to the State Department of Transportation coon. The only withdrawals allowed from these accounts are to 
pay the DOT in accordance with progress billings for construction projects contracted between the entity and the DOT. 

An average rate of return lS calculated on the investments made each month in the SPIF and is used to credit eanungs to 
LGIP participants and the State departments and agencies required to earn interest. The State's general fund is credited 
with the residual earnmgs. Accordingly, participants' shares are sold and redeemed at a value equal to the amount of the 
principal plus accrued earnings while investments are reported at amortized cost. An administrative fee of .06 percent 
for LGIP participants and .08 percent for the State's departments and agencies was charged against each partiapant's 
average daily balance to provide funding for admirustrative expenses to operate the SPIF. 
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YEAR 2000 ISSUE 

UNAUDITED 

The State Treas urer is currently addressing the ''Year 2000" (Y2K) issue relabng to computer systems and oth er electronic 
equipment. The Y2K issue refers to the fact that many computer software programs use only the last two digits of a data field 
to refer to "year" on the assumption that the first two digits are "19". These programs wouJd interpret the )'ear2000 as the Year 
1900. the Year 2001as1901, etc. The issue therefore extends to computer hardware, electronics and other equipment dependent 
on m1crochip technology. In addition, some computer programs may not recogrnze that the Year 2000 is a leap year, resuJting 
in incorrect date calculations. Without reprogramming, such software and egwprnent could impact the ability to input data 
into computer programs and the ability of s ucl1 programs to correc t! ~· process data. Y2K affects the computer systems utilized 
directly by the SPIF as well as the other systems upon which the SPIF depends to fulfill its m1ss1on. The S1ate Treasurer 's Y2K 
utihati ves relating to the SPIF did not result m the commitment of significant resources as of June 30, 1999 and June 30, 1998. 

The State Treasurer has assessed the impactofY2K on the SPIF computer systems and has determined that certain computer 
systems are mission-cr1hcal, certain are critical, and certain are supportive. Mission-critical computer systems are those for 
whJCh there are n o reliable manual alternatives, and for which failure to be in Y2Kcompliance would prevent the SPIF from 
fulfiUing its mission. Critical computer systems are those for which there are manual alternatives, but the State Treasurer 
wouJd be unlikely to be able to full y or efficiently perform the functions manually, because of the volume of manual activity 
that would be required. Supporave computer systems are those tor which there are manual alternatives that couJd be per­
formed if necessary. 

The SPIF relies prinopally upon two major computer systems, the Treasury Earnings c'lJ1d Account Management System (TEAMS) 
for participant level accounting and the Cash Movement Control System (CMCS) for the actual transfer of funds between the 
Fund and participants. Other systems critical to the SPIF operations include the Statewide Accounting and Reporting System 
(STARS), utilized to record SPIF transactions and in the preparabon of financial statements, the State Treasurer's general 
ledger accounting system, utilized to reconcile the subsidiary ledgers and to produce financial statements, and the m vestment 
system which maintams a perpetual inventory of ail the securities owned by the SPIF and mamtains a record of all acqmsi~ 
tions, dispositions and maturibes of securities in the SPIF portfolfo 

The State Treasurer has identified the above mentioned computer systems that are nussion-cntJcal and has subjected those 
systems to the following stages of work to address Year 2000 issues. 

Awareness stage - Establishing a budget and project plan for dealing with the Year 2000 issue. 
Assessment stage - Identi.fymg the systems and components for wluch the Year 2000 compliant work is needed . 
f{n11ed1ation stage - Making changes to systems and equipment 
Valtdalion/ testmg stage - Validating and testing the changes that were made during the remediation stage. 

The State Pooled Investment Funds Year 2000 remediation work for its mission-critical systems and electronic equipment are 
in the following stages of work. "C" means complete and "P" means in progress. While the completion of such .stages is an 
indication of progress made iJ1 addressing the Y2K issue, 1t JS not a guarantee that the systems and equipment will be Year 2000 
compliant. 

Awareness Assessment Remediation Validationffesting 
TEAMS c c c c 
CMCS c c c c 
In vestment System c c c c 
General Ledger System c c c c 
STARS c c c c 
Electronic Equipment c c c p 

The State Treasurer has solicited information from other organizations whose Y2I< compliance could affect the SPIF regarding 
the status of their assessment. remediation, and testing of their computer systems. Of the organizations that have responded to 
date, all expect to achieve compliance in a manner that will not have a materially negative effect on the SPIF operations. The 
State Treasurer does not have full and complete information from these organizations regarding the status of implementing 
Y2K compliance. Any failure by some or all of these organizations to be in Y2K compliance may have a material negative 
impact on the SPIF operations or financial status. 

Because of the unprecedented nature of the Year 2000 issue, its effects and success of related remediation efforts will not be 
fully determinable until the Year 2000 and thereafter. Management cannot assure that the State Pooled Investment Fund is or 
will be Year 2000 ready, that the remediation efforts will be successful in whole or in part or that parties with whom the SPIF 
does business will be Year 2000 ready. 
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December 10, 1999 

The Honorable John G. Morgan 
Comptroller of the Treasury 
State Capitol 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 

Dear Mr. Morgan. 

F N A N C 
" l 

S T A T c M E N T S 

TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

COMPTROUER OF THE TREASURY 
DEPARTMENT OF AUDIT 

DIVISION OF STATE AUDIT 
SUITE 1500, JAMES K . POLK STATE OFFICE BUILDING 

NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243-0264 
PHONE (615) 741-3697 

We have audited the accompanying statements of plan net assets of the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System, as of 
June 30, 1999, and June 30, J<J98, and the related statements of changes in plan net assets for the years then ended. These 
financial statements are the responsibility of management. Our responsibility is to e>.press an opinion on these financ.1al 
s tatements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Tho!>e standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fmanaal statements are free of material 
mLSStatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and sigruficant esbmates made by management. 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation, We believe that our audits p rovide a reasonable basts for 
our opm1on. 

rn our report dated December 29, 1998, we qualified our opinion on the 1998 financial statements because insuffiaent audit 
evidence existed to support the Tennessee Consolidated Rett.rement System's disclosures reqwred by Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Technical Bulletin 98-1, D1sc/os11res about Year 2000 Issues. The Tennessee Consolidated Retirement 
System's year 2000 disclosures are now reported as required supplementary information as permitted by GASB Technical 
Bulletin 99-1, Disclosures about Year 2000 lssues-an amendment of Teclm1cal Bulletm 98-1 Accordmgly, our present opinion on 
the 1998 fmancial statements, as expressed herein, is different from our prior report on the 1998 financial statements. 

ln our opinion, the finanCTaJ statements referred to above present fairl y, in all material respects, the financial posihon of the 
Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System as of June 30, 1999, and June 30, 1998, and the results of its operations for the 
years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forrrung an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The 
supplementary schedule of actuarial balances on page 80 is p resented for purposes of additional analysis and 15 not a required 
part of the basic financial statements. Such informahon has not been subjected to the aud1bng procedures applied 1.n the 
audit of the basic financial statements, and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

In accordance with Government Audit mg Sumdards, we have also issued our report dated December 10, 1999, on our consideration 
of the system's internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance w1th certain provISions of laws, 
regulations, and contracts 

A. Hayes Jr., CPA 
Director, Division of State A 
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&pressed i" Thousamls State Employees, 
Teachers, Higher 

Education Employees 

ASSETS 

Cash 

Receivables 
Member contributions receivable 
Employer contributions receivable 
Accrued interest recejvable 
Accrued dividends receivable 
Other investment receivable 
ln vestments sold 

Total receivables 

Investments, at fair Ya]ue 
Shorl-term securities 
Domestic securities 
Government bonds 
Corporate bonds 
Corporate stocks 

International securities 
Goverrunent bonds 
Corporate bonds 
Corporate stocks 

Total investments 

TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABTLTTIES 

Retired payroll payable 
Warrants payable 
Accounts payable 
Death benefits and refunds payable 
Other 

Investments purchased 
Other investment payables 

TOT AL LIABILITIE.5 

NET ASSETS HELD IN 1RUST FOR PENSION 
BENEFITS (Schedule of funding progress 
for the PSPP is presented on page 78) 

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Pension Plan 
(SETHEEPP) 

J0.024 

13,-167 
20,131 

159.933 
9,299 

0 
75,993 

278,823 

638,904 

7.139,133 
2.601.061 
6,308,927 

885,541 
381,152 

1,847,558 

19,802,276 

20,091,123 

12,207 
599 

851 
13 

206,994 

4.366 
225,030 

$ 19,866,093 

Political 
Subctivisions 
Pension Plan 

(PSPP) 

$ 1,478 

2,911 

5,230 
23,581 

1,371 
0 

11,205 
44,298 

94,204 

1,052,638 
383,516 
930,2'.!7 

130,570 
56,200 

272.415 
2,919.,770 

2,965,546 

l,774 
533 

655 
1 

30.520 
644 

34, 127 

$ 2,931,419 
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FINANCIA~ S T ' T ~ M E N T S 

(CONTINUED) 

State Employees, 
Teachers, Higher Poli tical 

Education Employees Subdivisions 
June 30, 1999 Pension Plan Pension Plan June 30, 1998 

Total CSETHEEPP) CPSPPl Total 

$ 11,502 s 23,097 s; 234 5 23.331 

16,378 12,681 2,596 15,277 
25,361 13,491 4,899 18,390 

183,514 140,343 20,395 160,738 
10,670 8,442 1,227 9,669 

0 927 135 1,062 
87,198 26,631 3,870 30,501 

323,121 202.515 33,122 235,637 

i33,108 802,397 116,608 919,005 

8,191,771 6,426,129 933,874 7,360,003 
2,984,577 2.697,109 391,956 3.089,065 
7,239,154 5,655,385 821,866 6,477,251 

1,016,111 994,674 144,551 1.139,225 
437,352 370,476 53,840 424,316 

2,119,973 1,264,607 183,778 1,448,385 
22,722,046 18,210,777 2,646,473 20,857,250 

23,056,669 18,436,389 2,679,829 21,116.218 

13,981 12,463 1,778 14,241 
1,132 408 298 706 

1,506 789 428 1,217 
14 54 58 112 

237 ,514 35,760 5,197 40,957 
5,010 1,308 190 1,498 

259,157 50,782 7,949 58,731 

$ 22,797,512 $ 18,385,607 $ 2,671,880 $ 21 ,057,487 
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COMPARATIVE STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PLAN N ET ASSETS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED J UNE 30, 1999 AND } UNE 30, 1998 

&pressed in Thousands 

ADDITIONS 
Contributions 
Member contribuhons 

Employer contributions 
Total contributions 

Investment income 
Net appreciation m faJI vaJue 
of investments 

Interest 
Dividends 
Total investment income 
Less: In vestment expense 

Net income from investing activities 

Securities lendmg activities 
Secunties lending income 
Less: Securities lending expense 

Net income from securities lending actjvitJes 
Net investment income 

TOT AL ADDITIONS 

DEDUCTIONS 
Annuity benefits 
Retirement benefits 
Survivor benefits 
Disability benefits 
Cost of living 

Dea th benefits 
Refunds 
Administrative expense 

TOTAL DEDUCTIONS 
NET INCREASE 
NET ASSETS HELD IN 1RUST FOR PENSION 
BENEFITS 
BEGINNING OF YEAR 

END OF YEAR 

See accompanying Notes to the Fnumcial Statements 
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State Employees, 
Teachers, Higher 

Education Employees 
Pension Plan 
<SE.THEEPP) 

$ 

$ 

122,564 
244 ,453 
367,01 7 

883,577 
705,10i 
106,778 

1,695,462 
9,682 

1,685,780 

0 
0 
0 

1,685,780 
2,052,797 

414.149 
25,934 
13,948 
99,823 

2,616 
13,491 
2,350 

572,311 
1,480,486 

18,385,607 
19,866,093 

$ 

$ 

Political 
Subdivisions 
Pension Plan 

CPSPP) 

38,618 
69,230 

107,848 

129,430 

103,288 
15,64 1 

248,.359 
1,423 

246,936 

0 
0 
0 

246,936 
354,784 

60,182 
3,769 
2,027 

14,506 
778 

12,143 
1,840 

95,245 
259,539 

2,671.880 
2,931.419 
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$ 

$ 

For the Year 
Ended 

June 30, 1999 
Total 

161 .182 
313,683 
474,865 

1,0 13,007 
808,395 

122.419 
1,943,821 

11,105 
1,932,716 

0 
0 
0 

1,932,716 
2.407,581 

474,331 
29,703 
15,975 

114,329 
3,394 

25,634 
4,190 

667,556 
1,740,025 

21,057,487 
22,797,512 

F INANCIAL S T A T E " E N T S 

State Employees, 
Teachers, Higher 

Education Employees 

s 

$ 

Pension Plan 
(SITHEEPP) 

116.196 
166.756 
282,952 

1,655,0-17 
655,178 
108,996 

2,419,221 
9,332 

2,409,889 

2,080 
1,857 

223 
2,410.112 
2,693,064 

378,485 
24,127 
12,694 
88,435 

2,557 
14,311 

2,191 
522,800 

2,170,264 

16,215,343 
18,385,607 

$ 

$ 

Political 
Subdivisions 
Pension Plan 

(PSPP) 

39,086 
65,276 

104,362 

239,084 
94,644 

15,745 

349 473 
1,350 

348,123 

301 
268 

.33 
348,156 
452,518 

53,991 
3,441 
1,811 

12,615 
746 

10,338 
1,694 

84,636 
367,882 

2,303,998 
2,671,880 

s 

$ 

(cONTINUED) 

for the. Year 
Ended 

June 30, 1998 
Total 

] 55.282 
232,03~ 

387,314 

1,894,131 
749,822 
124,741 

2,768.694 
10,682 

2,758,012 

2,381 
2,125 

256 
2,758,268 
3 145,582 

432,476 
27,568 
14,505 

101,050 
3,303 

24,649 
3,885 

607,436 
2,538,146 

18,519,341 
21,057,487 
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The Tennessee Consolidated Rehrement System (TCRS) administers h"·o dehned benefi t pension plans- State Employ­
ees, Teachers and Higher Education Employees Pension Plan (SETHEEPP) and Political Subdi\·isions Pension Plan 
(PSPP). Although the assets of the plans are commingled for investment purposes, each plan 's assets may bt:? used onJ~· 
for the payment of benefits to members of that plan, in accordance with the terms of the plan . 

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1. Reporting Entity - The TCRS 1s included in the State of Tennessee Finanoal Reporting Enhty. Beca use of the state's 
fiduciary responsibility. the TCRS has been included as pension trust funds m the T1!1111essee Comprel1en::.ive Annual 
Fmanc1al Repori. 

2. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting - The accompanying finanoal statements have been prepared m 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Govemmenta 1 Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB). The TCRS follows all appLicable GASB pronouncements, as well as applicable private sector pro­
nouncements issued on or before November 30, 1989. Th~ financial statements have been prepared using the flow of 
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting Under this method , revenues are rt>­
corded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time 1Jab11ihes are iflcurred. 

Plan member contnbut1ons a re recogmzed in the period lfl which the contributions are due. Plan employer contnbu­
hons are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions 
Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable if! accordance with the terms of each plan. 

3 Cash - Cash and cash eqwvaJents, by definition, includes cash and short-term investments with a maturity date 
within three months of the acqwsihon date. The state's accounting policy regard mg the defimtion of cash and cash 
equivalents includes cash management pools as cash. In addition, under the policy. short-term securities otherwise 
defined as cash equivalents, that are m portfolios where the pn.mary purpose is to faciUtate the placement of funds 
m long-term investments, are classified as uwestments. 

Cash received by the TCRS that cannot be invested immediately if! securities is iflvested m the State Pooled Invest­
ment Fund adm1mstered by the State Treasurer. The State Pooled Investment Fund is authonzed by state statute to 
l.Ilvest funds in accordance with policy guidelines approved by the FUtldiflg Board of the State of Tennessee The 
current resolubon of that board gives the Treasurer authority to invest in collaterahzed certihcates of deposit in 
authorized state depositories, pnrne commercial paper, prime bankers' acceptances, certain repurchase agreements, 
various U.S. Treasury and Agency obligations, and in obligations of the state of Tennessee pursuant to Tennessee 
Code Annotated, Section 9-4-602(b). The State Pooled Investment Fund is also authorized to enter into securities 
len,ding agreements rn which U.S. Government Securihes may be loaned to brokers for a fee The loaned securities 
are transferred to the borrower by the custodial agent upon simultaneous receipt of collateral securities. The pool's 
custodial credit risk is presented in the Tennessee Comprehensive Annual Fin.annal Report for the years ended June 30, 
1999 and June 30, 1998. The classification of Cash also iflcludes cash held in a custody account under a contractual 
arrangement for master custod} services. Cash balances with the custodial agent are not classifled mto the credit 
nsk categories established by Statement Number 3 of the Govemmental Accountiflg Standards Boa rd as the custody 
account relationship does not meet the defutition for either a deposit with a financtal institution or a secunty. 

4. Method Used to Value Investments - Investments are reported at fair value. Secunties traded on a nahonaJ or 
international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current exchange rates Short-term investments 
that do not have an established market are reported at cost plus accrued interest which approximates fair value. 
Investment iflcome consists of realized and uruealized appreciabon (depredation) in the fair value of iflvestments. 
Interest income is recogruz.ed when earned. Securibes and securities transactions are recorded if! the financial state­
ments on trade-date basis. 

5 Receivables - Receivables primarily consist of interest which is recorded when earned. The receivables for contribu­
bons as of June 30, 1999 consist of $33.6 million due from other funds within the state and $8.1 million due from other 
governments. The receivables for contributions as of June 30, 1998 consist of $26.2 million due from other funds 
with.in the state and $7 5 million due from other governments. 

(continued) 
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6. Reclassification - Investments m the amount of £208,047,651 that were classified as International Government Bond:; 
on the June 30, 1998 Statement of Plan Net Assets have been reclassified as Intematmnal Corporate Bonds. 

B. PLAN DESCRIPTIONS AND CONTRlBUTJON TNFORMATION 

At June 30, 1997 the date of the latest actuarial valuation. the membership of each plan consisted of the following: 

Retirees and beneftcianes currently receiving benehts 
Terminated members entitled to but not receiving benefits 
Current active members 
Total 
Number of participating employers 

SETH EE PP 
-18,834 
10,681 

120.515 
180,030 

142 

State Employees, Teachers and Higher Education Employees Pension Plan 

PSPP 
1/,828 
2,393 

58..6.26 
78,877 

365 

Plan Description - SETHEEPP is a cost-sharing. multiple employer defined benefit pension plan that covers the employ­
ees of the state, teachers ~'lth Local Education Agencies (LEA's) and higher education employees. The TCRS provides 
retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits to plan members and their benenc1anes. Bene&ts are deter­
mmed by a formula using the member 's high five-year average salary and years of service. Members become eligible to 
retire at the age of 60 with five years of service or at an)' age with 30 years of service. A reduced retirement benefit is 
available to vested members who are at least 55 years of age or have 25 years of service Disability benefits are availab le 
to active members with five years of service who become disabled and cannot engage in gainful employment. There is 
no service requirement for disability that is the result of an accident or injury occurrmg while the member was in the 
performance of duty. Members joining the plan on or after July 1, 1979 are vested after five years of service. Members 
JOirung pnor to July 1, 1979 are vested after four years of service. Compounded cost of living adjustments (COLA) are 
provided each July based on the percentage change m the Consumer Pnce Index (CPI) during the previous calendar 
year except that (a) no COLA is granted iJ the CPT is less than one-half percent; (b) a COLA of 1 % will be granted if the 
CPI increases between one-half percent and one percent; (c) the maximum annual COLA is capped at tlm!e percent. 
Benefit provisions are established by state statute found in Title Eight, Chapters 34 through 37 of the Tennessee Code 
Annotated. State statutes are amended by the Tennessee General Assembly. Ad hoc increases may only be authorized by 
the General Assembly. Public safety officers receive an add1tional supplemental benefit that is paid from age 60 to age 62. 

Superseded Systems and Certain Employment Classifications- Members of superseded systems that became me.mbers of the 
TCRS at consolidation in 1972, have their rights preserved to the benefits of the superseded system, if the benefit from 
the superseded plan exceeds that provided by the Group 1 (teachers and general employees) TCRS forrnula. Likewise. 
pub he safety employees and officials of TCRS Groups 2, 3 and 4 are entitled to the benefits of those formulas, if better 
than the Group 1 benefits. 

Contnbutions and Reserves - Effective July 1, 1981, the plan became noncontributory for most state and higher education 
employees. The contribuhon rate for teachers is five percent of gross salary. The employers contribute a set percentage 
of their payrolls, determined by an actuarial valuahon. Tennessee Code Annotated Title Eight, Chapter 37 provides that 
the contribubon rates be established and may be amended by the Board of Trustees of the TCRS. The admm1Stratwe 
budget for the plan is approved through the state of Tennessee's annual budget process. Fund mg for the adm1mstra h ve 
budget is included in employer contributions. 

The net assets of the plan are legally reqmred to be reserved in two accounts, the Member Reserve and the Employer 
Reserve. The Member Reserve represents the accumulation of employee contributions plus interest. The Employer 
Reserve represents the accumulation of employer contnbutions, investment income and transfers from the Member 
Reserve for retiring members. Benefit payments and interest credited to the members' accounts are reductions to the 
Employer Reserve. At June 30, 1999, the plan's Member Reserve and Employer Reserve were fully funded with bal­
ances of $2,396.9 million and $17,469.2 million, respectively. At June 30. 1998, the plan's Member Reserve and Employer 
Reserve were fully funded with balances of $2,268.7 milhon and $16,116.9 million, respectively. 

(continued) 
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Politi cal Subdivisions Pension Plan 

Plan Descnphon - PSPP LS an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that covers the employees of partmpating 
political subdivisions of the state of Tennessee. Employee class d1fferentiabons are not made under PSPP. The TCRS provides 
rebrement benef:its as well as death and disability benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries Benefits are detemuned by 
a formula usmg the member's high five-year average salary and years of service. Members become eligible to retire at the age 
of 60 with five years of service or at any age with 30 years of sen11Ce. A reduced retirement benefit is available to vested 
members who are at least 55 years of age or have 25 years of service Disability benefits are a\·a1lable to active members with 
five years of service who become disabled and cannot engage in gainful employment. There is no servJCe reqwrement for 
disability that is the result of an accident or injury occurring while the member was m the performance of duty. Members 
joinmg the plan prior to July 1, 1979 are vested after four years of service. Members joining on or after July 1, 1979 are vested 
upon completion of 10 years of service, unless five years ves ting is authonzed by resolution of the chief governing body Cost 
of lwing adjustments (COLA) are the same as provided by SETHEEPP except that the local government may elect (a) to 
provide no COLA benefits or (b) to provide COLA benefits under a non-compounding basis rather than the compounded basis 
applicable under SETHEEPP Benefit provisions are estabhshed and amended by state statute. Pursuant to Article Two, Sec· 
tion 24 of the Consflh1tion of the Stale of Tennessee, the state cannot mandate costs on local governments. Any benefit improve­
ment may be adopted by the governing body ofa governmental entity participating in the TCRS. 

Contributions and Reserves - Political subdivisions may elect contnbutory or noncontributory rehrement for their employees. 
The contribubon rate for contnbutory employees of political subdivisions is five percent of gross salary. The employers con­
tribute a set percentage of their payrolls, equal to at least, the percentage determined by an actuarial valuation. State statute 
provides that the conbibution rates be established and may be amended by the Board of Trustees of the TCRS. The ad.mi.rustra­
ti ve budget for the plan ts approved through the state's annual budget process. Funding for the administrative budget is 
U'lduded in employer contributions. 

The net assets of the plan are legally reqwred to be reserved in two accounts, the Member Reserve and the Employer Reserve. 
The Member Reserve represents the accumulation of employee contributions plus interest. The Employer Reserve represents 
the accumulation of employer contributions, investment income and transfers from the Member Reserve for retiring members. 
Benefit payments and interest crecL ted to the members' accounts are reductions to the Employer Reserve. At June 30, 1999, the 
plan's Member Reserve and Employer Reserve were fuUy funded with balances of $502..0 million and $2,429.4 million, respec­
tively. At June 30, 19981 the plan's Member Reserve and Employer Reserve were fully funded with balances of $46i.6 million 
and $2,204.3 million, respectively. 

C. lNVESTMENTS 

State statute authorizes the TCRS to invest in bonds, debentures, preferred stock and common stock, real estate and mother 
good and solvent securities subject to the approval of the Board of Trustees and further subject to the following restrictions: 

a. The total sum jnvested in common and preferred stocks shall not exceed seventy-five percent (75%) of the total of the funds 
of the retirement system. 

b. TI1e total sum invested in no tes and bonds or o ther fixed income securities exceeding one year in maturity shall not exceed 
seventy-five percent (75%) of the total funds of the retirement system. Private Placements are limited to 15% of the total 
foced income portfolio. 

c. Within the restrictions in (a) and (b) above, an amount not to exceed fifteen percent (15%) of the total of the funds of the 
retirement system may be invested in securities of the same kinds, classes, and investment grades as those otherwise 
eligible for investment in various approved foreign countnes. 

d. The total amount of secunties loaned under a securities lending program cannot exceed thirty percent (30%) of total assets. 

e. The total sum invested in real estate shall not exceed five percent (5%) of the total of the funds of the refuement system. 

The TCRS maintains a portfolio of short-term investments in order to actively manage a 11 funds waiting to be placed in a more 
permanent uwestment. These short-term investments may include U.S. Treasury and Agency obligations, commercial paper, 
medium-term corporate notes, prorrussory notes and repurchase agreements. 

(continued) 
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The TCRS mveshnent securities are categonzed on the chart lhat follows accord.mg to the level of custodial credit nsk associ­
ated with the custodial arrangements. Categor) 1 includes im estmen ts that are 11\Sured or registered. or for which the sccun­
hes are held by the TCRS or its agent m the name of the TCRS Category 2 mcludes uninsured and unregistered investments for 
wh1ch the securities are held by the counterpartv's trust department or agent in the name of the TCRS. Ca tegory 3 includes 
uninsUied and unregtstered in"estments for which the securities are held by the broker or dealer or by the cow1terparty's trust 
department or agent, but not in the name of the TCRS. 

Expressed in Tho1tsands 

Fair Value Fair Value 
June 30, 1999 June 30, 1998 

1NVESTMENTS-CATEGORY1 

Short-term secunties 

Commercial paper 537,039 s 730,938 
Medium-term corporate notes 0 31,584 
U. S government securities 196,069 156,483 

Long-term investments 
Domestic securities 
Government bonds 8,02-1 ,874 7,354,911 
Corporate bonds 2,931,825 3,089,065 
Corporate stocks 7,222,722 6,465,187 

International securities 

Government bonds 1,016,111 1,139,225 
Corporate bonds 437,352 424,316 
Corporate stocks 2,108,893 1,412,509 

TOTALINVESTMENTS-CATEGORY1 22,474.885 20,804,218 

INVESTMENTS - CATEGORY 2 0 0 

INVESTMENTS - CATEGORY 3 
Margin deposit on futures contracts 

Domestic government bonds 11,319 5,092 

INVESTMENTS - NOT CA TEGORJZED 
Unsettled investment acqwsitions 

Domestic securities 

Government bonds 155,578 0 

Corporate bonds 52,752 0 

Corporate stocks 16,4 32 12,064 

International secunties 
Corporate stocks 11,080 35.876 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS- NOT CATEGORIZED 235,842 47,940 

TOT AL INVESTMENTS $ 22,722,046 $ 20,857,250 

As of June 30, 1999 and June 30, 1998, the TCRS had no concentrations of investments, other than those issued or guaranteed by 
the U.S. government, in any one organization that represents five percent or more of plan net assets. 

Securities Lending- The TCRS is authorized by its investment policy, as adopted by the Board of Trustees, to enter in to colJater­
alized securities lending agreements whereby the TCRS loans its debt and eqwty securities for a fee to a select few of the 

(continued) 
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highest quality securities hrms and banks. Loans must be hmited o the total amount on loan does not exceed 30 percent of the 
TCRS' assets. The TCRS' custodian bank manages the lending program and mamta.ms the coUateraJ on behalf of the TCRS. The 
borrower mav deliver collateral to the lending agent in the form of cash or bonds, notes, and treasury bills of the Uruted States 
or other obhgahons guaranteed as to principal and interest by the Uruted States or any of its agencies or by the Federal Home 
Loan Mortgage Corpora hon, Federal Nahonal Mortgage Assoc1atfon, Student Loan .Marketing Association and other Uruted 
States government sponsored corporations or enterprises. Cash recei ved as collateral mav be reinvested bv the lending agent 
in accordance with the investment po hey. as further restricted under the TCRSsecurities lendmg agreement. Collateral securi­
bes cannot be pledged or sold unless the borrowe r defaults. 

The loaned securities are utitially collateralized at 102 percent of their fair value for domeshc securities and 105 percent for 
intemabonal. Collateral 1s marked-to-market daily and addihonal collateral 1s pledged by the borrower tf the fair\ alue of the 
collateral subsequently falls below 100 percent for domeshc securihes and 105 percent tor mtemahonal Although there IS no 
speclfic poucy for matching the maturities of collateral investments and the secunbes loans, the securities on loan can be 
term.mated on demand by either the TCRS or the borrower. Fort.he fiscal yearendmgjune 30. 1999, the TCRShad no securities 
on loan. A5 of June 30, 1998, the TCRS had no secunhes on loan. The TCRS secuntie:. lending income net of expen::.es. was 
$255.741 for the year ended June 30 1998. 

FmancUll lnstn.imenl5 wil/1 Off-Balance Sheet Risk 
The TCRS lS a party to financial instruments Wlth off-balan ce sheet nsk used in the normaJ course o( busmess to generate 
earnings and reduce its own exposure to fluctuahons in market cond1bons. The TCRS is authorized by state statute to engage 
in forward contracts to exchange different currencies at a specJhed future date and rate and in domeshc stock tr'ldex futures 
contracts These contracts involve elements of custodial credit, market and legal nsk in excess of amounts recognized in the 
Statements of Plan Net Assets as of June 30, 1999 and June 30, 1998. TI1e TCRS may purcha!.e or sell domestic stock index 
futures contracts for the purposes of making asset allocation changes and unprovrng liquidity. Futures contracts are limited to 
the S&P 500 Index, the S&P Midcap 400 Index and the Russell 2000 Index. The contractual or notional amounts expre::.s the 
e>.tent of the TCRS' involvement m these instruments and do not represent exposure to crerut loss The credit risk on forward 
and futures contracts JS controlled through linuts and monitonng procedures Market risk, the risk that changing market 
conditions may make a financial instrument Jess valuable, is controlled through linutations on the use of such U\Struments 
Legal ris k is controlled through the use of only authorized instruments and brokers The aUowable currencies for hedging 
purposes are limited by policy of the Board of Trustees to the currencies of those countries otherw1se authonzed for invest­
ment. 

At June 30, 1999, there were forward exchange contracts outstanding at a total net notional amount of $589,694,318 and a fair 
value of $569,519,506. At June 30, 1998, there were forward exchange contracts outstanding at a total net notional amount of 
$528,898,678 and a fair value of $524,041,2&1. 

At June 30, 1999, the nobonal amount of futures contracts was$165,256,250 at a fair value of $172,7U,500. At June 30, 1998, the 
nobonal amount of futures contracts was $138,731.250 at a fair val ue of $142,875,000. The changes infa1r value of outstanding 
futures contracts are settled daily. 

The TCRS JS also authorized by investment policy to engage m the issuance of options. Activity is limited to selling covered call 
options. The TCRS had no options outstanding at June 30, 1999 and June 30. 1998. 

Asset-Backed Securities 
The TCRS invests in collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs) which are mortgage-backed securities. These securities are 
based on cash flows from interest and p rincipal payments on underlying mortgages. Therefore, they are sensitive to prepay­
ments by mortgagees, wtuch may result from a decline in interest rates. The CMOs held were tSsued by quasi-U.S. governmen­
tal agencies. The fair vaJue of these securities was $65,145,109 at June 30, 1999, and $110,059,380 at June 30, 1998. The TCRS 
also invests m vanous asset-backed securities. representing ownership interests in trusts consisting of credit card or auto loan 
receivables. These securities are issued by organizations with AAA or A.A.. credit rabngs. TCRS invests m these securities 
primarily to enhance returns by taking ad\·antage of opporturuties available in this sector of the securities markets. 

0 . COMMITMENTS 

Standby Note Purchase Agreement -The TCRS has agreed to serve as standby note purchaser for notes issued by the Funding 
Board of the State of Tennessee. By serving as a standby note purchaser, the TCRS receives an annual fee of 7.5 basis points on 
the $250 million maximum issuance under this agreement In the unlikely event that the TCRS would be called upon to pur­
chase the notes, the TCRS would receive interest at a rate equal to prune plus 75 basis points. Moody's Investors Services, lnc. 
and Standard and Poor's have given these notes of the Funding Board ratings of MlG l / VMlGl and SP-1 +I A-l +, respectively. 
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The TCRS IS currently addressing the "Year 2000'' (Y2K) issue relating to computer systems and other electronic eqwpment. 
The Y2K issue refers to the fact that many computer software programs use only the last two digits of a data field to refer to 
''year" on the assumption that the first two digits are ' ' 19". These programs would interpret the Year 2000 as the Year 1900, 
the Year 2001 as 1901, etc. The issue therefore extends to computer hardware. electronics and other equipment dependent on 
microchip tedmology. Inaddition. somecomputerprograms may not recognize thatthe Year2000 IS a leap year, resulting in 
mcorrect date calculations. Without reprogramming. such software and eqwpment could impact the ability to input delta 
into computer programs and the abibty of such programs to correctly process data. Y2K affects the computer systems utilized 
directly by the TCRS as well as the other systems upon which the TCRS depends to fulfill its rrussion. The TCRS' Y2K 
initiatives relating to the retirement system did not result in the commitment of sigru.hcant finanaal resources as of June 30, 
1999 and June 30, 1998. 

The TCRS has assessed the impact of Y2K on its computer systems and has determmed that certain computer systems are 
mission-critical, certain are critical, and certain are supportive. Mission critical computer systems are those for wluch there 
are no reliable manual alternatives, and for which failme to be in Y2K compliance would prevent the TCRS from fulfilling its 
mission. Critical computer systems are those for which there are manual alternatives, but the TCRS would be unlikely to be 
able to fully or efficiently perform the functions manually, because of the volume of manual actw1ty that would be required. 
Supportive computer systems are those for which there are manual altemahves that could be performed if necessary. 

The TCRS relies upon three major computer systems to manage the responsibilities of the retirement program The retired 
payroll system generates monthly annuity paymen1s to more than 70,000 retirees each month. The active membership system 
maintains the data of more than 200,000 active and inactive member records. TIUs system 15 utilized to record employee and 
employer contributions; to record service and salary credit for each member; to process lump sum refunds to tenninating 
members; to maintain records of each employer participating in the rebrement plan; to maintain member data including 
beneficiary, date of birth, etc.; to provide annual statements to members; to mvoice members for the purchase of service 
credit; and to provide benefit estimates. The third major system is the investment system which mamtains a perpetual inven­
tory of all the securities owned by TCRS. The investment system mamtains a record of all the acqu1S1hons, dispositions, and 
maturities of securities in the TCRS portfolio and IIl.ltiates settlement Wlth the TCRS investment custodian. Other important 
but less significant systems include the document inventory system and the general ledger accounting system The document 
inventory system is utilized to mamta.in a record of the incoming and outgoing documents and correspondence. The general 
ledger accounting system is utilized to reconcile the subsidiary ledgers and to produce financial statements. 

TCRS has identified the above mentioned computer systems that are mission-critical and has subjected those systems to the 
following stages of work to address Year 2000 issues. 

Awareness stage - Establishing a budget and project plan for dealing with the Year 2000 issue. 
Assessment stage - Identifying the systems and components for which the Year 2000 compliant work is needed. 
Remediation stage - Making changes to systems and eqwpment. 
Validation/testing stage - Validating and testing the changes that were made dunng the remediation stage. 

TCRS' Year 2000 remediation work for its mission-critical systems and electronic equipment are in the following stages of 
work. "C ' means complete and " P" means in progress. While the completion of such stages is an md icahon of progress made 
in addressmg the Y2.K issue, it is not a guarantee that the systems and equipment will be Year 2000 compliant. 

Retired Payroll System 
Achve Membership System 
Investment System 
Document Inventory System 
Accounting System 
Electronic Equipment 

Awareness 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 

Assessment 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 

Remediation 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
p 

Validationff es ting 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
p 

The TCRS has contacted external organizations with a mission critical relationship whose Year 2000 compliance could affect 
the operations of the retirement system. Such organizations have responded that they are Year 2000 compliant or expect to 
achieve compliance prior to January 1, 2000. Other organizations with less critical relationships have been contacted to 
remind them of the potential problems surrounding Year 2000 and the need to evaluate their systems. 

Because of the unprecedented nature of the Year 2000 ISsue, its effects and the success of related remediation efforts will not 
be fully determinable until the Year 2000 and thereafter. Management cannot assure that TCRS is or will be Year 2000 ready. 
that the TCRS' remediation efforts will be successful in whole or in part, or that parties with whom TCRS does busmess will 
be Year 2000 ready. 
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SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS 

SETHEEPP 

For budgetary purposes, the cost of funding the pension obligations of the state employees, teachers and higher edu­
cation employees pension plan (SETHEEPP) is determined separately as follows: 

(1) General state employees and higher educclh on employees 
(2) Teachers (grades K-12) 
(3) State Judges employed after June 30, 1972 
(4) Attorneys General employed after June 30, 1972 
(5) State Judges and Attorneys General employed prior to July L 1972 
(6) County Offmals employed pnor to July 1, 1972 

All the groups above, except the County Ofhcials group and the State Judges and Attorneys General group employed 
prior to July l, 1972, are funded under the aggregate actuarial cost method . The frozen entry age actuarial method is 
utilized for these two groups not under the aggregate actuarial cost method . The aggregate actuarial cos t method does 
not identify or separately amortize unfunded actuanal liabilities. The SETHEEPP groups funded under the aggregate 
method would not have an unfunded actuarial liability under the frozen entry age actuarial method . 

In accordance with GASB 25, a sched ule of funding progress is not presented s ince more than 98% of the ltab1lities are 
detenruned under the aggregate actuarial funding method . 

PSPP 

The political subdivision pension plan (PSPP) represents 365 participating enhtles at June 30, 1997, some of which are 
funded under the aggregate actuarial cost method and others under the frozen entry age actuarial method. The follow­
ing data represents only those political subdivisions where the frozen entry age actuarial method is utilized. 

Expressed in Thousands 

Actuaria] 
Valuation 

Date 

6/ 30/1997 

Actuarial 
Value of 

PJanAssets 
(a) 

1,020,240 

Actuarial Accrued 
Liability (AAl) 

Frozen Entry Age 
(b) 

1,078,231 

Unfunded 
AAL 

(UAAU 
(b-a) 

57.991 

Funded 
Ratio 
(alb) 

94.62% 

Annual 
Covered 
Payroll 

(c} 

583,294 

UAALas a 
Percentage of 

Covered Payroll 
((b-a)/c) 

9.94% 

An actuarial valuahon of the TCRS is performed every two years with the next valuation scheduled to be effective July 1, 
1999. There are 168 of the 365 political subdivisions in TCRS as of the June 30, 1997 actuarial valuation, with an unfunded 
actuanal accrued liab1lity. lnformation according to the parameters for measuring pension expenditures, expense and re­
lated actuarially detennined disclosure information, as required by GASB, is available beginning with the transition year. 

See accompanying Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

SCHEDULES OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 

&pressed in Thousa11ds 

SETHEEPP 
Year Annual 

Ended Required Percentage 
June 30 Contribution Contributed 

1999 $ 244,453 100% 
1998 166,756 100% 

Annual 
Required 

Contribution 

$ 69,230 

PSPP 

Percentage 
Contributed 

100% 

An actuarial valuation of the TCRS is performed every two years with the next valuation scheduled to be effective July 1, 
1999. The June 30, 1995 valuation determined the employer contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 1997 for the SE"IHEEPP 
and the PSPP, and for the year ended June 30, 1998 for the PSPP. Therefore, the Schedule of Employer Contribubons, in 
accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement Number 25, is not available for the year ended June 30, 1997 for either 
plan or for the year ended Jtme 30, 1998 for the PSPP. 

See accompanying Notes to Required Supplementary Information 
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UNA UDITE D 
N ~ Ill C A L S T A T E M E Ill 1 S 

TENNESSEE CoNSOLID A TED RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
NOTES TO R EQUIRED SUPPLEMENT AR)- l NFO RMA TION 

As OF JUNE 30, 1999 AND J UNE 30, 1998 

The mformation presented in the required supplementary Schedule of Funding Progress was determined as part of the 
latest actuarial valuations as of June 30, 1997 Additional information follows. 

SETHEEPP PSPP 

Valuation Date 6/ 30/ J 99:- 6 / 30, 1997 

Actuanal cost method Aggregate (1) (2J 

Amortization method Level Dollar (3) Level Dollar (3} 

Remaining amortization period 18 years (3) (4) 
closed period (3) closed period 

Asset valuat10n method 5-year Moving 5-year Mov ing 
Market Average Market Average 

Actuarial assumpbons: 

Investment rate of return 7.5% 7.5% 

Projected salary increases 55% 5.5% 

Includes inflation at (5) (5) 

Cost-of-living adjustments 3";, 3°10 

Increase in Social Security wage base 4.5% 4.5% 

(1) The frozen entry age actuarial method is utilized for two small closed groups: county officials employed prior to 
July 1, 1972, and a group of state judges and attorneys general employed prior to July 1, 1972 

(2) Some political subdivisions are funded under the aggregate actuarial funding method and some under the frozen 
entry age actuarial method 

(3) Applies to groups funded under the frozen entry age actuarial method. 

(4) The length of the amortization period varies by political subdjvi.sjon but does not exceed 20 years. 

(5) No explicit assumption is made regarding the portion attnbutable to the effect of inflation on salaries 
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TREASURERS A E P 0 A T 

TENNESSEE CONSOLIDATED RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
ACTUARIAL BALANCE SHEET 
A s OF }UNE 30, 1997 

ASSETS 

Present assets creditable to 
Employer accumulation fund 
Members' acctUnulation fund 
Total present assets 

Present value of prospective 
Contributions payable to 

Employer accumuJation fund 
Nonna I 
Accrued liability 

Total employer accumulation 

Members' accumulation fund 

Total prospective contributions 

TOT AL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 

Present va lue of prospective 
Benefits payable on account of 

Present retired members and 
beneficiaries 

Present active members 
Former members 

TOT AL LIABILITIES 

UNAUDITED 

PAGE 80 

Political 
Subdivision 
Pension Plan 

(PSPP) 

$ ] .. 800,448,644 
426,442,166 

2,226,890,810 

358,895.672 
57.991,294 

416,886,966 

238.234.111 

655,121,077 

2,882,011,887 

743,565,148 
2.096,342,374 

42,104,365 
$ 2,882,011,887 

State Employees, 
Teachers, Higher 

Ed. Employees 
Pension Plan 
(SITHEEPP) 

.s 13,529,975,707 
2,141,702,347 

15,671 .678,054 

1,928526,419 
111,172,072 

2,039 ,698,491 

1,105.935,845 

3,145,634,336 

18.817,312,390 

5,456,072,528 
13,156.059,038 

205,180,824 
$ 18,817 ,312,390 

Total 

$ 15,330,424,351 
2,568,144,513 

17,898,568,864 

2,287,422,091 
169,163,366 

2,456,585,457 

1,344, 169 ,956 

3 .. 800,755;113 

21 ,699,324,277 

6,199,637,676 
15,252,401.412 

247,285,189 
$ 21,699,324.277 



F N 4 N C 

STATE O F T ENNESSEE 

DEPARTMENT OF AUDIT 
DIVISION OF STATE AUDIT 

A l S T A i E M E N I S 

FLEXIBLE BENt:FITS P LAN 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S R EPORT 

SUITE 1500, JAMES K. POLK STATE OFFICE BUILDING 
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243·0264 

December 10, 1999 

The Honorable John G. Morgan 
Comptroller of the Treasury 
State Capitol 
Nashville. Tennessee 37243 

Dear Mr. Morgan: 

PHONE (615 ) 741·3697 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of the Flexible Benefits Plan as of June 30, 1999, and June 30, 1998, 
and the related statements of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the years then ended These 
finanaal statements are the responsibility of management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits 

We conducted our audits m accordance with generally accepted government audihng standards. Those s tandards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fmanc1al statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporhng the amounts and 
disclosures m the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits prov1de a reasonable basis for our opuuon. 

In our report dated December 29, 1998, we qualified our opinion on the 1998 financial statements because insufficient 
audit evidence existed to support the Flexible Benefits Plan's disclosures required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Technical Bulletin 98-1, Disclosures about Year 2000 Issues, The Flexible Benefits Plan 's year 
2000 disclosures are now reported as required supplementary information as permitted by GASB TechnicaJ Bulletin 99-
1. OlSclosures about Year 2000 Issues-an amendment of Technical Bulletin 98-1 . Accordingly, our present opinion on the 
1998 financial statements, as expressed herein, is different from our pnor report on the 1998 financial statements. 

ln our opuuon, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Flexible Benefits Plan as of Tune 30, 1999, and June 30, 1998. and the changes in fund balances for the years then 
ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards , we have also issued our report dated December 10, 1999, on our 
consideration of the Flexible Benefits Plan's rntemal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance wt th 
certain provisions of laws, regu lations, and contracts 

Sincerely, 

ayes Jr., CPA 
Director, Division of State Au 
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T A E A S U A E A s REP ORT 

FLEXIBLE BENEFITS PLAN 
COMP ARA TTVE BALANCE SHEETS 

J UNE 30, 1999 AND JUNE 30, 1998 

ASSETS 

Cash 
Due from other funds 

TOT AL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 

LIABILITIES 

Warrants payable 
Accounts payable 
Dependent care deposits 
Medical reimbursement deposits 
Due to other funds 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

FUND BALANCES RESERVED FOR 
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

TOTAL LIABILITIES M'D FUND BALANCES 

Sec accompanying Notes to llte Fmanc1al Statements 
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s 

$ 

June 30, 1999 

367,025 

58.074 

425,099 

5,038 
107,459 
141,270 
102,477 

389 

356,633 

68,466 

425,099 

s 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 1998 

458,712 
l,842 

460.554 

3,151 
103,253 
140,051 
146,849 
67.250 

460,554 

0 

460.554 



S T ~ T E M E N T S 

FLEXIBLE BENEFITS PLAN 
COMPARATIVE STATEMENTS Of R EVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

Fo n THE YEARS E NDED J UNE 30, 1999 AND j uNE 30, 1998 

ACA savmgs 

Aexible benefit forfeiture 

TOT AL REVENUES 

EXPENDITURES 

Deferred compensation match 
Administrative fees 

Employee benefit program 

TOT AL EXPENDITURES 

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES 
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 

OTHER Fl NANCI NG SOURCES (USES) 

Operating transfer from State General Fund 
Operating transfer to State General Fund 
Operating transfer to State Internal Service Fund 

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES 
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES AND OTiiER 
AN • .c\NCING SOURCES (USES) 

FUND BALANCES. BEGINNlNG OF YEAR 

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 

See accompanying Notes to t11e Firumcral Statements 

For the Year Ended 

June 30, 1999 

s 

$ 

2,379.87-1 

b.699 

2,38t>.S73 

1,508,802 

200,789 
71,909 

1,781,500 

605,073 

0 
(182,122) 

1354.485) 

68.466 

0 

68,466 

For the Year Ended 

June 30, 1998 

:!.302 90.2 

2,305,839 

4,569.728 
185,557 

67,813 

4,823,098 

(2.517,259) 

427,598 

Cl51.946J 
(232.994 l 

(2,474.601) 

.2.474,601 

0 
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TREASURER s R E P 0 A T 

FLEXIBLE BENEFITS PLAN 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 1999 AND JUNE 30, 1998 

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTJNG POLICIES 

1. Reporting Entity 
The Flexible Benefits Plan is part of the pn.mary government and has been tncluded tn the Ten11t!f.f.l!1' Compre­
l1ensive Annw1/ Financial Report as an expendable trust fund The state offers its emplorees a cafeteria plan 
created in accordance with /11ternal Revrnue Code Section 125. The plan is available on an ophonal basis to all 
s tate employees. Through the plan, employees may elect to direct a portion ot their salary to pay for certain 
benefits. Benefits which may be purchased through the plan mclude state group medical insurance, state 
group dental insurance, out-of-pocket medical expenses and / or dependent care expenses. Because elections 
must be filed before the salary or the benefits are received and because salary dtrected to the plan ma\ not be 
withdrawn by partmpants for any other purpoc;e, salary directed to the plan 1s exempt from federal income 
tax and social security tax. Elections made by employees may not be changed during the ca lendar plan vear 
except in the event of a corresponding change m the parhopant 's famdy status. Contnbutions to the plan not 
withdrawn by the end of the plan year are forfeited to the state and are used for defraying admi111s tra11ve 
costs, m accordance with IRS Proposed Regulation 1.125-2(Q 7) 

2. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
The accompanying hnanc1al statements have been prepared m conformity with generally accepted account­
tng pn.nciple5 as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) using the flov.• of 
current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this 
method, revenues are recorded when they become both measurable and available, and expenditures are 
recognized at the bme the fund liabilihes are incurred. 

3. Cash 
Cash deposited in the Flexible Benefits Plan is pooled with the State Pooled Investment Fund. admimstered 
by the State Treasurer, which IS authorized by state statute to invest funds in accordance with policy guide­
lines approved by the Funding Board of the State of Tennessee. The current resolution of that board gives the 
Treasurer authority to invest in coJJateralized certificates of deposit in authonzed state depositories, pnme 
commercial paper prime bankers' acceptances, certain repurchase agreements, various U.S Treasury and 
Agency obligations, and in obligahons of the state of Tennessee pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, 
Section 9-4-602(b). The State Pooled Investment Fund is also authorized to enter into securities lending agree­
ments in which U.S. Government securities may be loaned for a fee. The loaned securities are transferred to 
the borrower by the custodial agent upon simultaneous receipt of collateral securities. The Pool's custodial 
credit r isk JS presented in the Tennessee Comprehensive Annual Financ/Jll Report for the years ended June 30, 
1999, and June 30, 1998 

B. OTHER ACCOUNTING DISCLOSURES 

l. The Appropr1atio11s Act of 1997 (Public Chapter 552, Section 12, item 21 >provided for the State match of em­
ployee d eferrals into the State's 40l(k) to be funded first by the Flexible Benefits Fund . The Appropriations 
Act further provided that should the match exceed the fund balance, an operating transfer from the general 
fund would be made to bring the fund balance to zero. At June 30, 1998 an operating transfer of $427,598.11 
was received from the State General Fund in accordance with the appropriations act. Effective July 1, 1998, 
the Flexible Benefits Fund funded only thirty percent {30%) of the expenses of the State match of employee 
deferrals. 
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UNAUDITED 

YEAR 2000 ISSUE 

N ~ N G A L S T A E M E N T S 

FLEXJBLE BENEFITS PLAN 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
}UNE 30, 1999 AND jUNE 30, 1998 

The State Treasurer 1s currently addressing the ''Year 2000'' (Y2K) issue relating to rnmputer systems and other elec­
troruc equipment. The Y2K issue refers to the fact that many computer software programs use only the last two digits of 
a data field to refer to "year" on the assumphon that the first two digits are "19". These programs would mterpret the 
Year 2000 as the Year 1900, the Year 2001 as 1901, etc The issue therefore extends to computer hardware, electronics 
and other equipment dependent on microchip technology. In addition, some computer programs may not recogmze 
that the Year 2000 is a leap year, resulhng in incorrect date calculations. Without reprogramrrung, such sofhvare and 
equipment could impact the ability to input dala into computer programs and the ability of such programs to correct!) 
process data. Y2K affects the computer systems utilized directly by the Flexible Benefits Plan as well a~ the other 
systems upon which the Flexible Benefits Plan depends to fulfill its mission The State Treasurer's Y2K initiatives 
relahng to the Flex:ible Benehts Plan did not result m the commitment of significant resources as of June 30 1999 and 
June 30, 1998. 

The State Treasurer has assessed the impact of Y2K on the Flexible Benefits Plan computer systems and has detennmed 
that certain computer systems are miss1on-critical, certain are cntical, and certain are supportive. M1ssion-crihcal com­
puter systems are those for which there are no reliable manual alternatives, and for wluch failure to be m Y2K compli­
ance would prevent the Flexible Benefits Plan from fulfilling its mission. Critical computer systems are those for which 
there are manual alternatives, but the State Treasurer would be unlikely to be able to fully or efficiently pertorm the 
functions manually, because of the volume of manual activity that would be required. Supportive computer systems 
are those for which there are manual alternatives that could be performed if necessary. 

The Flexible Benefits Plan relies principally upon one major computer system, the Flexible Benefit System for managing 
flexible benefits reimbursement requests. Other systems critical to the Flexible Benefits Plan operabons include the 
State Treasurer's general ledger accounhng system and the Statewide Accounting and Reporting System (STARS) which 
are both utilized to make payments on approved reimbursement clauns, to reconctle the subsidiary ledger and to 
produce financial statements. Another system that is unportant, but less significant. is the document inventory system 
(MODOC) utilized to mamtain a record of the incoming and outgoing documents and correspondence. 

The State Treasurer has idennfied the above mentioned computer systems that are mission-cntical and is subjechng 
those systems to the following stages of work to address Year 2000 issues . 

.Awareness stage- Establishing a budget and project plan for dealing with the year 2000 issue. 
Assessment stage - Identifying the systems and components for which the year 2000 compliant work is needed . 
Remediation stage - Making changes to systems and equipment. 
\ialidat10n/testing stage - Validating and testing the changes that were mad~ during the remediation stage 

As of June 30, 1999, the awareness. assessment, and remediation stages had been completed for the Flexible Benefits 
System. The Flexible Benefit System is in the validation/testmg stage The STARS, MODOC, and general ledger sys­
tems had completed the awareness, assessment, remediahon and validation/ testing stages. While the completion of 
such stages provides an indication of progress made in addressing the Y2K 15sue, 1t is not a guarantee that the systems 
and equipment will be Year 2000 compliant. 

The State Treasurer has solicited information from other organizations whose Y2K compliance could affect the Flexible 
Benefits Plan regarding the status of their assessment, remediation, and validation/ testing of their computer systems. 
Of the organizations that have responded, all expect to acltieve compliance ma manner that will not have a materiaUy 
negative effect on the Flexible Benefits Plan operahons. The State Treasurer does not have full and complete informa­
tion from these organizations regarding the status of implementing Y2K compliance. Any failure by some or all of these 
orgaruzations to be in Y2K compliance may have a material negative impact on the Flexible Benefits Plan opera hons or 
financial status. 

Because of the unprecedented nature of the Year 2000 issue, its effects and success of related remediation efforts will 
not be fully determinable until the Year 2000 and thereafter. Management cannot assure that the Flexible Benefits Plan 
is or will be Year 2000 ready, that the remediation efforts will be successful in whole or m part, or that parties with 
whom the Flexible Benefits Plan does business will be Year 2000 ready. 
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TREASURER ' S REPORT 

CLAIMS AWARD FUND 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

COMPTROLLER C)°F THE TREASURY 
DEPARTMENT OF AUDIT 

DIV ISION OF STATE AUD IT 
SUITE 1500, JAMES K. POLK STATE OFFICE BUILDING 

NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243-0264 

December 10, 1999 

TheHonorableJohn G Morgan 
Comptroller of the Treasury 
State Capitol 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 

Dear Mr. Morgan: 

PHONE (615) 741-3697 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of the Claims Award Fund as oi June 30, 1999, and June 30, 1998, 
and the related statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in retamed eamrngs and cash flows for the years then 
ended . These financial statements are the responsibility of management. Our responsibility 1s to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our auchts. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standa rds 
reqwre that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
.free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the fmanaal statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opuuon. 

In our report dated December 29, 1998. we qualified our opinion on the 1998 financial statements because insufficient 
audit evidence existed to support the Claims Award Fund's disclosures required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Boa rd (GASS) Technical Bulletin 98-1..Disclosures about Year 2000 Issues. The Oaims A ward Fund's year 2000 
disclo$ures are now reported as required supplementary information as permitted by GASB Technical Bulletin 99-1, 
Disclosures about Year 2000 Issues-an amendment of Technical Bulletin 98-1 . Accordingly, our present opinion on the 1998 
fin.ancial s tatements, as expressed herein, is different from our prior report on the 1998 financial statements. 

In our opmion, the financial s tatements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posinon of 
the Claims Award Fund as of June 30, 1999, and June 30, 1998, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 

In accordance with Government AudiHng Sta:ndards, we have also issued our report dated December 10, 1999, on our 
consideration of the Claims Award Fund 's internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, and contracts. 

Sincerely, 
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FINANCIAL S T ~ T E M E N T S 

ASSETS 

Cash $ 
Accounts rece1\·able 

TOT AL ASSETS $ 

LIABILmES AND EQUITY 

UABIUTIES 
Warrants payable $ 
Checks payable 
Accounts payable 
Claims liability 

TOT AL LIABILITIES 

EQUITY 
Retained earnings. reserved for clal.D'\S 

TOT AL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 

See accompanying Notes to the Fm.ancia/ Statementn 

CLAIMS AWARD FUND 

COMPARATIVE BALANCE SHEETS 
JUNE 30, 1999 AND JUNE 30, 1998 

June 30, 1999 

72,309,967 

27.oOO 

72,337,567 

125,832 

710,119 

170,080 

61,560,925 

62,566,956 

9,770,611 

72,337,56/ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 1998 

83,703,656 

0 

83,703,656 

161,114 

339.347 
239,761 

55,663,634 

56,403,856 

27,299,800 

83,703,656 
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TRFASURER S A E P 0 R T 

CLAIMS AWARD FUND 
COMPARATIVE STATEMENTS OF R EVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN RETAINED EARNINGS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED J UNE 3 0, 1999 AND J UNE 30, 1998 

OPERA TING REVENUES 

Insurance premiums 

OPERA TING EXPENSES 

Torts 
Death 
Bodily injury 
Property damage 

Total Torts 

Workers' Compensation 
Death 
Medical 
A.ssault inJUI)' 
Temporary disability 
Permanent disability 

Total Workers' Compensation 

Employee property damage 

Professional/ administrative 

Addition to actuarial liability 

TOT AL OPERA TING EXPENSES 

OPERATING INCOME 

NbN-OPERATING REVENUES 
Interest income 

Taxes 

TOTAL NON-OPERA TING REVENUES 

NET INCOME 

RETAINED EARNINGS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 

RETAINED EARNINGS, END OF YEAR 

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements 
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s 

$ 

For the 
Year Ended 

June 30, 1999 

10,689,200 

927,750 
3,014.917 

998,617 

4,941,284 

435,731 
7,087,668 

0 
1.474,693 
5,070,165 

14,068,257 

33,990 

7,135,779 

5,897191 

32,076,601 

(21,387,401 ) 

3,855,517 
2,695 

3,858,212 

(17,529,189) 

27,299,800 

9,770,611 

s 

For the 
Year Ended 

June 30, 1998 

10,651 .600 

1,211,049 
5,491,359 

701,577 

7,403,985 

236,394 
5,201 ,781 

1,734 
1,035,185 
5,535,865 

12,010,959 

28,095 

6,663,967 

2,201 ,931 

28,308,937 

(17 ,657 ,337) 

5,256,941 
3,785 

5,260,726 

(12,396,611 ) 

39,696,411 

$ 27,299,800 



S T A T E M E N l S 

CLAIMS AWARD F UND 
COMPARATIVE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE Y EARS E NDED J UNE 30, 1999 AND j UNt 30, 1998 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERA TING ACTIVITIES 

Operating mcome 

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net 
cash provided by operating activities 

Change in assets and liabilities 
Increase in accounts receivable 
Increase (decrease) in warrants payable 
Increase in checks pavable 
Decrease in accounts payable 
Increase in claims liabilitv 

Total ad1ustments 

NET CASH USED RY OPERA TING ACTIVITIES 

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANONG ACITVITI ES 
Taxes 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY NONCAPITAL FINANONG 
ACTIVITIES 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Interest on State Pooled Investment Fund 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

NET DECREASE IN CASH 

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 

CASH, END OF YEAR 

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year 
Ended 

June 30, 1999 

$ (21,38i,401 ) 

(27,600) 
(35,282) 
370,772 
(69,681) 

5,89? ,291 

6,135,500 

(15,251,901) 

2,695 

2,695 

3,855,517 

3,855,517 

(11,393,689) 

83,703,656 

$ 72,309 ,967 

For the Year 
Ended 

June 30, 1998 

$ (1 '"',657 ,33") 

0 
58,547 

137,809 
(233,873) 

2.201,931 

2,164,414 

(15,4Q2,923) 

3.785 

3,785 

5.256,941 

5,256,941 

(10,232,197) 

93,935,853 

$ 83,703,656 
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T R E A S U R E R s R E P 0 R T 

CLAIMS AWARD F UND 

NOTES TO TH E FlNANClAl STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 1999 AND } UNE 30, 1998 

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1. Reporting Entity 
The Clatms Award Fund is part of the primary government and has been mcluded m the Tennessee Compre}wn­
srve Annual Financial Rcpori as an internal service fund. 

2. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared m conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles as prescribed by the Govt>rnmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The Claims Award Fund 
follows all applicable GASB pronouncements as well as applicable private sector pronouncements issued on or 
before November 30, 1989. The financial statements have been prepa red using the now of economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned 
and expenses are recorded at the time habihhes are mcurred. 

3. Cash 
Cash deposited in the Clauns Award Fund is pooled with the State Pooled Investment Fund , adnunistered by 
the State Treasurer, which is authonzed by s tatute to invest funds in accordance with polic~ guidelines ap­
proved by the Funding Board of the State of Tennessee. The current resoluhon of that board gives the Treasurer 
authority to mvest m collaterahzed certificates of deposit in authorized state depositories, prime commeroal 
paper. prime bankers' acceptances, certain repurchase agreements, vanous U.S. Treasury and Agency obliga­
tions, and in obl igations of the state of Tennessee pursuant to Tennessee Cnde Annotated, Section 9-4-602(b). The 
State Pooled Investment Fund is also authorized to enter into secunties lending agreements m which U.S. Gov­
ernment securities may be loaned for a fee. The loaned securi ties are transferred to the borrower by the custo­
dial agent upon simultaneous receipt of collateral secunhes. The Pool's custodial credit risk is presented tn the 
Tennessee Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the years ended June 30, 1999, and June 30, 1998. 

B. OTHER ACCOUNTING D ISCLOSURES 

1. Risk Management 
It is the policy of the state not to purchase commercial insurance for the risks of losses for general babihty, 
automobile liability, professional malpractice, and workers' compensation. The state's management believes it 
1s m ore economical to manage these nsks mtemally and set aside assets for claim settlement in ltS internal 
service fund, the ClalIDS Award Fund (CAF). 

CAF services clauns for risk of loss to which the s tate is exposed including general liability, automobile liability, 
professional malpractice, and workers' compensation. Al1 agencies and authorities of the state participate in 
CAF, except for the Board of Professional Responsibility, The Dairy Promotion Board, Women's Suffrage. and 
Certified Cotton Growers' Organization. CAF allocates the cost of providing claims servicmg and dauns pay­
ment b y charging a premium to each agency based on a percentage of each organization's expected Joss costs 
which include both expenence and exposures. This charge considers recent trends in actualcla1ms experience of 
the state as a whole. An actuarial valuation is performed as of each fiscal year end to determine the fund liability 
and premium allocation. 

CAF liabilities are reported when 1t is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be 
reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been mcurred but not reported . Be­
cause actual clatms liabilities depend on such complex factors as inflation, changes in legal doctrines, and dam­
age awards, the process used in computing claims liability does not necessarily result in an exact amount Claims 
liabilities are reevaluated annually to take into consideration recently settled claims, the fre~uency of claims, 
and other economic and social factors. At June 30, 1999, the present value of these liabilities discounted at 5.35% 
was $61.560, 925. Changes in the balances of claims liabilities during fiscal years 1999 and 1998 were as follows: 

Beginning of Fiscal Year Current Year Clilims and Claim Boalance at Fiscal 

LiabiUtiy C hoanges in Estim..;ates Poayments Ye.u End 

1998-99 $ 55,663,634 $ 24,940,823 $ (19,043,532) $ 61,560,925 

1997-98 $ 53,461,703 $ 21,644,970 $ (19.443,039) $ 55,t>63,634 

At June 30, 1999, CAF held $72.3 million in cash designated for payment of these claims. 
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F 

UNAUDITED 

YEAR 2000 ISSUE 

N A N C A L S T T E M E N T S 

CLAIMS AWARD FUND 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY I NFORMATION 

}UNE 30, 1999 AND JUNE 30, 1998 

The State Treasurer is currently addressmg the "Year 2000' (Y2K) issue relating to computer systems and other elec­
troruc equipment. The Y2K issue refers to the fact that many computer software programs use onl~ the last two digits of 
a data field to refer to "year" on the assumpbon that the first hvo digits are "19" These programs would interpret the 
Year 2000 as the Year 1900, the Year 2001as1901 etc. The issue therefore extends to computer hardwa re, elech'onics 
and other equipment dependent on microchip technology. In addition, some computer programs may not recogmze 
that the Year 2000 1s a leap year. resulting m mcorrect date calculations. Without reprogramnung, such sofh.,.are and 
equipment could impact the ability to input data into computer programs and the ability of such programs to correct I\ 
process data. Y2K affects the computer c;ystems uhltzed directly b: the CAF a~ well as the other systems upon which the 
CAF depends to fulfill its mission. The State Treasurers Y2K initiatives relahng to the CAF did not result in the commit­
ment of significant resources as of June 30, 1999 and June 30 1998. 

The State Treasurer has assessed the impact of Y2K on the CAF computer systems and has determ111cd that certain 
computer systems are mission-cntical, certam are cnhcal, and certain are supporhve. Miss1on-crihcal computer svs­
tems are those for which there are no reliable manual alternatives, and for which failure to be m Y2K compliance would 
prevent the CAF from fulfilling its mission. Crihcal computer systems are those for which there are manual altema­
ti\•es, but the State Treasurer would be unlikely to be able to fully or efficiently perform the functions manually, because 
of the \'olume of manual activity that would be required. Supportive computer systems are those for whtch there are 
manual alternatives that could be performed if necessary 

The CAF rehes pnncipall)' upon one major computer system, the Division of Clauns System (DOCS) for managing 
claims filed against the state. Other systems cntical to the CAF operabons include the Statewide Accounting and Re­
porting System (STARS) uhhzed to make payments on approved claims filed with the state, to reconcile the subsidiary 
ledger and to produce financial statements. 

The State Treasurer has identified the above mentioned computer systems that are miss1on-<ritical and is sub1ecting 
those systems to the following s tage!> of work to address Year 2000 issues 

Ar,•areness stage - Establishing a budget and project plan for dealing with the year 2000 issue. 
Assessment stage - [dentifying the systems and components for which the year 2000 compliant work is needed. 
Remediation stage - Making changes to systems and equipment. 
Validation/testing stage - Validating and testing the changes that were made during the remediation stage 

As of June 30, 1999, the awareness, assessment, and remediation stages had been completed for alJ mission-cnhcal 
systems and electronic equipment. The validahon/tesnng stage has been completed for all miss1on-critical systems and 
ism process for all electronic equipment. While the completion of such stages provides an mdicahon of progress made 
in addressing the Y2K issue, it is not a guarantee that the systems and equipment will be Year 2000 compliant. 

The State Treasurer has solicited infonnation from other orgaruzations whose Y2K compliance could affect the CAF 
regarding the status of their assessment, remediation, and validation/testing of their computer systems. Of the organ.i­
zahons that have responded, all expect to achieve compliance in a manner that will not have a materially negabve effect 
on the CAF operations. The State Treasurer does not have full and complete information from these organizahons 
regarding the status of implementing Y2K compliance. Any failure by some or all of these organ.izations to be in Y2K 
compliance may have a matenal negative impact on the CAF operations or financial status. 

Because of the unprecedented nature of the Year 2000 issue, its effects and success of related remediation efforts will not 
be fully determinable until the Year 2000 and thereafter. Management cannot assure that the CAF 1s or will be Year 2000 
ready, that the remediation efforts will be successful in whole or in part, or that parties with whom the CAF does 
business will be Year 2000 ready. 
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TRE .4 SU REFl 'S R E P 0 R T 

CRIMINAL INJURJES COMPENSATION FUND 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

December 10. 1999 

The Honorable John G. Morgan 
Comptroller of the Treasurv 
State Capitol 
Nashville Tennessee 37243 

Dear Mr Morgan: 

COMPTROLLER OF THE TREASURY 
DEPARTMENT OF AUDIT 

DIVISION OF STATE AUDIT 
SUITE 1500, JAMES K POLK STATE OFFICE BUILDING 

NASHVILLE. TENNESSEE 37243-0264 
PHONE (615) 741 ·3697 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of the Crinunal lnjunes Compensanon Fund as of June 30. 1999, and June 
30, 1998, and the related statements of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the years then ended. These 
financial sta tements are the respons1b1lity of management Our responsibility JS to express an opmjon on these finanoal 
statements based on our audits 

We conducted our audits in accordance with genera Uy accepted government aud1tmgs tandards Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are tree of matenal 
mjsstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis. e\'1dence supporting the amounts and disclosures m the financial 
statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluabng the overall financial statement presentabon. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basJS for 
our opinion. 

ln our report dated December 29, 1998, we qualified our opiruon on the 1998 financial statements because insufficient audit 
evidence eXlSted to s upport the CrirrunaJ In Junes Compensation Fund 's c:Usclosures required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Technical Bulletin 98-1, Disclosure> about Year 2000 Issues. The Crurunal lnjuries Compensation 
Fund's ytiar 2000 disclosures are now reported as requfred supplementary i.ntonnation as pemutted by GASB Techrucal 
Bulletin 99-1. Disclosures about Year 2000 Issues-an amendment of Technical Bulletin 98-1 . Accordingly, our present opinion on 
the 1998 financial statemen ts, as expressed herein, is different from our prior report on the 1998 finanaal statements 

ln our opl1Uon, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all matenal respects, the financial posibon of the 
Crimjnal Injuries Compensation Fund as of June 30, 1999. and June 30. 1998, and the changes in fund balances for the vears 
then ended in confornuty with generally accepted accounbng pnnciples. 

ln accordance Wlth Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 10, 1999, on our consideration 
of the Cnminal In1unes Compensation Fund's internal control O\'er financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with 
certam provisions of laws. regulations. contracts, and grants. 
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FIN.4NCIAL S T A 1 E M E N T S 

ASSETS 

Cash 
Accounts receivable 

TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BAL.<\NCES 

LIABfLITIES 
Warrants payable 
Accounts payable 
Claims liability 

TOT AL LIABILITIES 

FUND BALANCES 
Reserved for future benefits 
Reserved for v ictims of drWlk drivers 

TOTAL FUND BALANCF.S 

TOTAL LIABILITIES . .<\ND FUND BALANCES 

See accompanying Notes to the Fm.ancial Statements 

CRIMINAL I NJURIES COMPENSATION FUND 
COMPARATIVE BALANCE SHEETS 

JUNE 30, 1999 AND JUNE 30; 1998 

June 30, 1999 

$ 68,949,350 
775,032 

s 69,724.382 

$ 552,336 
150,140 

4,471,817 

5,1/4,293 

63,899,447 
650,642 

64,550,089 

$ 69,724,382 

June 30.1998 

$ 60,010.113 
646.447 

s 60,656,')60 

597,808 
379,773 

S,449,522 

6,427,103 

53,239,801 
989,656 

54,229.457 

$ 60.656,560 
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TREloSURER ' S R E P 0 R T 

CRIMINAL INJURIES COMPENSATION FUND 
COMPARATIVE STATEMENTS Of REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
Fon THE YEARS E NDED J UNE 30, 1999 ANO JUNE 30, 1.998 

REVENUES 

State 

Taxes 
Fines 

Federal 
Interest income 

TOTAL REVENUES 

EXPENDITURES 

Oaim payments 
Victim's coalition grant 
Administrative cost - Public Awareness Program 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

Excess of revenues over expenditures 

FUND BALANCES, BEGlNNING OF YEAR 

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statement<; 
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$ 

For the 
Year Ended 

June 30, 1999 

8,089,079 
2,.3-14,259 
1,855,000 
3,204,462 

15.492,800 

5,072,168 
100,000 

0 

5,172,168 

10,920,632 

54.229,457 

64,550,089 

$ 

$ 

For the 
Year Ended 

June 30, 1998 

7,712,237 
2,.302,448 
1.005,000 
3,007,089 

14,626,774 

5,640.148 
L00,000 
101,025 

5.841,173 

8.785,601 

45,443,856 

54,229,457 



F N ~ N C S T E M E N i S 

CRIMTNAL I NJURIES COMPENSATION F UND 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

J UNE 30, 1999 AND J UNE 30, 1998 

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1. Reporting Entity 
The Criminal Injuries Compensation Fund is part ot the primary government and has been included m the 
Tennessee Comprehensive Annual Financial Report as a special revenue fund. The Crirrnnal Iniuries C<.1m­
pensation Program (CIC) 1s hmded through privilege taxes assessed in courts agamst certain criminal defen­
dants upon conviction, fees levted against parolees, probationers and employed releasees, the proceeds from 
sales of illegal contraband and bond forfeitures in felony cases, and a federal grant. Payments made under 
the CIC program are intended to defray the costs of medical services, loss of eammgs. burial costs, and other 
pecurnary losses to either the vicbm of a crime or to the dependents of deceased victim'> According to state 
statute, the CIC program can only compensate victims to the extent funds are available within the program. 
State funds cannot be utilized for claim payments. 

2. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
The accompanying fmancial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted account­
ing pnnctples as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) usmg the flow of 
current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of dCcounnng. Under this 
method, revenues are recorded when they become both measurable and a\'atlable. and expenditures dre 
recogmzed at the time the fund liabiJihes are incurred. 

3. Cash 
Cash deposited in the Criminal Injuries Compensation Fund is pooled with the State Pooled Investment 
Fund, administered by the State Treasurer. which is authonzed by statute to mvest funds in accordance \v1th 
policy guidelines approved by the Funding Board of the State of Termessee. The current resoluhon of that 
board gives the Treasurer authority to invest in collateralized certificates of deposit in authorized state de­
positories, pnme commercial paper. prime bankers' acceptances, certam repurchase agreements, various 
U.S. Treasury and Agency obbgahons, and in obligations of the state of Tennessee pursuant to Tmnessee Codi! 
Annotated, Section 9+602(b). The State Pooled Investment Fund 1s also authonzed to enter mto securities 
lending agreements in which U.S. Government secunties may be loaned for a fee The loaned secuntie5 are 
transferred to the borrower by the custodial agent upon simultaneous receipt of collateral secunties. The 
Pool's custodial credit risk is presented in the Tennessee Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the years 
ended June 30, 1999, and June 30, 1998 

B. OTHER ACCOUNTING DISCLOSURES 

1. Reserves 
The Victims of Drunk Drivers Compensation Fund (VDDC) is a part of the Cruninal Injuries Compensation 
Fund . A requirement of the CIC and VDDC combination is that a reserve be established annually for an 
amount equal to three times the awards paid for VDDC dunng the fiscal year. Chapter 761 of the Public Acts of 
1992 discusses the fund combination as well as the VDDC reserve reqwrement. 
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T R E 4 S U R E R s R EPO RT 

CRIMINAL INJURIES COMPENSATION FUND 
REQUIRED SUPPl'EMENTARYINFORMATION 

}UNE 30, 1999 AND }UNE 30, 1998 

YEAR 2000 lSSUE 

UNAUDITED 

The State Treasu rer 1s currently addressing the ''Year 2000" (Y2K) issue relating to computer systems .and other elec­
tToruc eqwpment. The Y2K issue refers to the fact that many computer softwa re programs use only the last two digits of 
a data field to refe r to ''year" on the assumphon that the first two digits are "19" These programs would mterpret the 
Year 2000 as the Year 1900, the Year 2001as1901, etc. The tSsue therefore extends to computer hardware, electrorucs 
and other equipment dependent on microchip technology. In addition, some computer programs may not recognize 
that the Year 2000 1s a leap year resultmg in incorrect date caJculations. Without reprogramming, such software and 
equipment could impact the ability to input da ta into computer programs and the ability of such p rograms to correctly 
process data Y2K affects the computer systems utilized directly by the CIC program as well as the other systems upon 
which the CIC program depends to fulfill its mission The State Treasurer's Y2K initiatives relating to the OC program 
did not result in the commitment of s1gm ficant resources as of June 30, 1999 and June 30, 1998. 

The State Treasurer has assessed the impact of Y2I< on the CIC program computer systems and has determined that 
certam computer systems are mission-critical , certain are critical, and certam are supportive. Mission-critical computer 
systems are those for which there are no reliable manual al temahves, and for which failure to be in Y2K compliance 
would prevent the CIC program from fulfill ing its mission. Critical computer systems are those for which there are 
manual altemahves, but the State Treasurer would be unlikely to be able to fully or efficiently perform the functions 
manuaUy, because of the \'Olume of manual activity that would be required. Supportive computer systems are those for 
which there are manual alterna tives that could be performed if necessary . 

The CIC program relies prmc1pally upon one major computer system, the Criminal Injury System (05) for managmg 
claims filed by victims of a cnme or dependents of deceased victims. Other systems cnhcal to the CIC program opera­
tions include the Statewide Accounbng and Reportmg System (STARS) utilized to make payments on approved claims, 
to reconcile the subs1d1ary ledger and to produce financial statements. 

The State Treasurer has identified the above mentioned computer systems that are mission-cn hcal and LS sub1ecting 
those systems to the foUowing stages of work to address Year 2000 issues. 

Awareness s tage - Establishing a budget and project plan for dealing with the year 2000 issue. 
Assessment stage - Identifying the systems and components for which the year 2000 compliant work is needed . 
Remediation stage - Making changes to systems and equipment. 
Validation/testing stage - Validating and testing the changes that were made during the remediation stage. 

As of June 30, 1999, the awareness, assessment, and remediation stages had been completed for all mission-critical 
systems and electronic equipment The validation/ testing stage has been completed for all mJSsion-critical systems and 
is in process for electroruc equipment. While the completion of such stages provides an indication of progress made m 
addressing the Y2K issue, it 15 not a guarantee that the systems and equipment will be Year 2000 compliant. 

The State Treasurer has solicited information from other orgaruzations whose Y2K compliance could affect the CIC 
program regardmg the status of their assessment. remediation, and validation / testing of their computer systems. Of 
the organizations that have responded, all expect to achieve compliance in a manner that will not have a materially 
negative effect on the CIC program operations. The State Treasurer does not have full and complete information from 
these organizations regarding the status of unplementing Y2I< compliance. Any failure by some or all of these organ12a­
tions to be m Y2K compliance may have a material negative impact on the CIC program operations or financial status. 

Because of the unprecedented nature of the Year 2000 issue, its effects and success of related remediation efforts will not 
be fully determinable until the Year 2000 and thereafter. Management cannot assure that the CIC program is or will be 
Year 2000 ready, that the remediation efforts will be successful in whole or in.part, or that parties with whom the CJC 
program does business wiJI be Year 2000 ready. 
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F N ;. N C /4 L S T A E M E N 

BACCALAUREATE EoUCATlON SYSTEM TRUST 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

COMPTROLLER OF THE TREASURY 
DEPARTMENT OF AUDIT 

DIVISION OF STATE AUDIT 
SUITE 1500, JAMES K. POLK STATE OFFICE BUILDING 

NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243-0264 

December 10, 1999 

The Honorable John G. Morgan 
Comptroller of the Treasury 
State Capitol 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 

Dear Mr. Morgan: 

PHONE (615) 741-3697 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of the Baccalaureate Education System Trust as of June 30, 1999, and 
June 30, 1998, and the related statements of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the yea rs then 
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of management. Our responsibility is to express an opiruon on 
these financial statements based on our audits 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards 
reqwre that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes exanurung, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our op1ruon. 

In our report dated December 29, 1998, we qualified our opinion on the 1998 financial statements because insufficient 
audjt evidence existed to support the Baccalaureate Education System Trust's disclosures required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Techrucal Bulletin 98-1, Disclosures about Year 2000 Issues. The Baccalaureate 
E1ucation System Trust's year 2000 disclosures are now reported as required supplementary information as permitted 
by GASB Technical Bulletin 99-1, Disclosures about Year 2000 lssue~n amendment ofTecJznical Bulletin 98-1. Accordingly. 
our present opinion on the 1998 financial statements, as expressed herein, is different from our prior report on the 1998 
financial statements. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, mall material respects, the financial position of 
the Baccalaureate Education System Trust as of June 30, 1999, and June 30, 1998, and the changes in fund balances for 
the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting pnnciples. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 10, 1999, on our 
consideration of the Baccalaureate Education System Trust's internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its 
compliance with certain prov15ions of laws, regulations, and contracts. 
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TRE.6SURER S R E P 0 R T 

B ACCALAUREATE E DUCATION S YSTEM TRUST 
C OMPARATIVE B A LANCE SHEETS 

} UNE 30, 1999 AND } UNE 30, 1998 

ASSETS 

Cash 
Contributions receivable 
Investment income receivable 
Investments. at fair value 
Short-term investments 
Long-term investments 
Government bonds 
Corporate bonds 

Investment in equity mutual fund 
TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILillES AND FUND BALANCES 

LIABILITIES 
Advance from State General Fund 

FUND BALANCES 
Fund balances reserved for plan participants 
Fund balances, unreserved 
TOTAL FUND BALANCES 

TOTAL LIABILITIF.S AND FUND BALANCES 

See accompanying Notes to tile Fmanctal Statements 
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$ 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 1999 

78,016 
8.716 

175.016 

542,870 

7,851,533 
2,464,201 
4,058,015 

15,178,367 

0 

14,514.560 
663,807 

15,178,367 

15,178,367 

$ 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 19q5 

408.961 
3,121 

66,644 

705.720 

4,287,537 
487,533 

1.120,374 
7,079.890 

940.000 

5.987,551 
152,339 

6.139,890 

7,079,890 



F I N>N CIA ~ S T > T E ~ E N T ~ 

BACCALAUREATE EDUCATION SYSTEM TRUST 

COMPARATIVE STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
FOR THE Y EARS ENDED JUNE 30, 1999 AND j UNE 30, 1998 

RE\'ENUES 
Contributions 
Investment income 

Net increase m fair value of investment~ 
Interest and dindcnd income 

Administrati\·e fees 
TOT AL REVENUES 

EXPENDITURES 
Refunds 
Administrati\•e cost 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDlTURES 

OTHER HNANCINC SOURCES 
Operating transfer from State General Fund 

Excess of revenues and other financing sources over 
expenditures 

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING OF YEAR 

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 

See accompanying Notes to tlze Fmanc1al Statements 

$ 

$ 

For the Year 
Ended 

June 30, 1999 

7,409,tNJ 

351,615 

bU8.703 

693,062 

9.063,271 

2..359 
962A35 

96-1,79-1 

8,098.47 7 

940,000 

9,038.477 

6,139,890 

15, 178,367 

For the Year 
Ended 

June 30, 1998 

~ 5.856,1 o5 

155,580 

228.651 

"'05,058 

b,9-15,454 

4,325 

4.83,777 

488,102 

6.457,352 

0 

6,457,352 

(317.462) 

$ 6.139,890 
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T R f A S U R E R s R E P 0 R T 

BACCAL.\UREATE EDUCATION SYSTEM TRUST 

NOTES TO THE FI NANCIAL STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 1999 AND J UNE 30, 1998 

A. SUMMARY OF SJGNTFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICI ES 

I. Reporting Entity 
The Tennessee Baccalaureate Education System T ru>t Fund (BEST), which began operating in lune, 1997, 1s an 
integral part of the rnmary government and has been i.ncluded in the 1 t'nllt'C:Sf!t' Comprehl!IZSIVI' Am11111/ Fmam 1al 
Rt!porJ as an expendable trust tund. 

2. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
The accompam mg fmanc1al s tatements ha,·e been prepared m conformity with generalh· acceplPd accounhng 
principles as p re::.cnbed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board CGASB). The financial statement<; 
have been prepared usi.ng the flow of current financial economic resources measurement tocus and the modi­
fied accrual ba>1s of accounting. Under thi5 basis. revenues are recorded when they become both measurable 
and available and expenditures are recognized at the hme the fund babilit1cs are incurred. 

3. Cash 
The class1f1cahon of Cash and Cash Equivalents, by definition. mcludes cash and short-term inveshnents "'1th 
a maturity date w1thll"I three months of the acquisi tion date. The pnmarv government's policy regarding the 
defin1hon of Cash and Cash Equivalents includes cash management pools a5 cash. In additlon short-term 
securities m portfolios where the primary purpose is to facilitate the placement of funds in long-term 10\ est­
ments are classified as inveshnents. Cash rece1\'ed by the BEST that cannot be invested unmed1ately in securi­
hes is invested m the State Pooled Investment Fund admimstered by the State Treasurer. The State Pooled 
Investment Fund i~ authonzed by state s tatute to mvest funds m accordance with policy guidelines approved 
by the Funding Board of the State ofTeri.nessee. The current resolution of that board gives the Treasurer author­
ity to inve4't 111 col lateralized certificates of deposit in authorized state depo,c;itones, prime commercial paper, 
pnme bankers' .icceptances, certain repurchase agreements, vanous U.S. Treasury and Agency obligations 
and tn obligations of the state of Tennessee pursuant to Tennessee Codl' Annotated. Section 9-J-t>02(b) The State 
Pooled Investment Fund is also authorized to enter mto secunties lending agreements in which U.S Govern­
men t Secunhes may be loaned to brokers for a fee. The loaned securities are transferred to the borrower by the 
custod ial agent upon simultaneous receipt of collateral securihes The Pool's custodiaJ credit rnk 1s presented 
m the Tennessee Comprehensrve Annual Firumcial Report for the years ended June 30, 1999 and June 30. 1998. 

4. Method used to Value Investments 
Inveshnents are reported at fair value. Securities traded on a national exchange are valued at the last reported 
sales price. The fair value of investments in open-end mutual funds IS based on the share price. Short-term 
investments are reported at cost plus accrued interest which approximates fa ir value. Investment income con­
sists of realized and unrealized appreciahon (depreciation) in the fair value of uwestments and interest and 
dividend i.ncome. lnterest income is recognized when earned. Securihes and secunties transactions arc recorded 
m the financial statements on trade-date basis. 

5. Fund Balance, Reserved for Plan Participants 
The amount of Fund Ba lance Reserved for Plan Participants is based on the number of outstanding tuition units 
and the weighted average tuition unit pnce i.n effect at year-end. 

B. INVESTMENTS 

The authority for investing the assets of the BEST is vested i.n its Board of Trustees and the responsibili ty for unple­
mentmg the investment pohcy established by the Board 1s delegated to the State Treasurer. In accordance with the 
i.nvestment policy, the BEST assets may be invested in any instrument, obligation, security or property that consti­
tutes a legal i.nveshnent for assets of the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System. 

The classification of Short-term lnveshnents includes funds invested in a portfolio of short-term secunhes main­
tained by the Tennessee Consolidated Rebrement System. These short-term secunhes may include U.S. Treasury 
and Agency obhgahons, commerc1aJ paper, medium-term corporate notes. promissory notes and repurchase agree­
ments. (continued} 
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F N A N C ,. L S T A T E M E N T S 

BACCALAUREATE EDUCATION SYSTEM TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 1999 AND JUNE 30, 1998 (cON TINUED) 

The BEST investments included SEC-registered open-end mutual funds of S-4,058,015 as of June 30, 1999 and 
$1,120,374 as of June 30 1998 

The BEST investment securities are categorized below accord mg to the level of custodial credit risk associated with 
the custodial arrangements at year-end Categor~ 1 consists of investments that are insured or registered, or for 
which securities are held by the BEST or 1ts agent m the name of the BEST. Category 2 consists of uninsured and 
unregistered mvestments for whtch the securities are held by the counterparty's tru st departmen t or agent in the 
name of the BEST. Category 3 consists of uninsured and unregistered investments for which the secu rities are held 
by the counterpa rty or by its trust department or agent but not in the name of the BEST. The open-end mutual fund 
1s not categorized as the investment is not evidenced b) securibes that exist ill physical or book entry form 

June 30, 1999 June 30, 1998 
Fair Value Fair Value 

INVESTMENTS - CATEGORY 1 

Short-term investments 
Commercial pa per s 397,680 705,720 
Government bonds 145,190 0 

Long-term investments 
Government bonds 7,851,533 4,287,537 
Corporate bonds 2,464,201 487,533 

TOTALINVESTMENTS-CATEGORYl 10,858,604 5,480,790 

INVESTMENTS - CATEGORY 2 0 0 

INVESTMENTS - CATEGORY 3 0 0 

INVESTMENTS - NOT CATEGORIZED 

Investment in open-end mutual fund 4,058,015 1,120,374 
TOTAL INVESTMENTS $ 14,CJ16,619 $ 6,601,164 

c. DESCRIPTION OF THE BEST 

The Tennessee Baccalaureate Educahon System Trust, administered by the State Treasurer, 1s created under Ten­
nessee Code Annotated, Title 49, Chapter 7, Part 8 for the purpose of improving higher education ill the State of 
Tennessee by assisting students or their families to pay in advance, a portion of the tuition costs of attending 
colleges and universities. Under the program, a purchaser may enter into a contract with BEST to purchase tu1bon 
units on behalf of a beneficiary. Each tuition urut purchased entitles the benefioary to an amount no greater than 
one percent of the weighted average tuition of Tennessee's four-year public uruversities during the academic 
term in which it 1s used, however, the tuihon unit or eguivalent funds may be used at any accredited public or 
pnvate, in-state or out-of-state institution Tiw price of the tuition unit is detenruned annually by the BEST Board 
of Trustees. Refunds and tuition payments are guaranteed only to the extent that BEST program funds are avaiJ­
able and neither the State of Tennessee nor the BEST Board of Trustees is liable for any amount in excess of 
available program funds. 

D. OTHER ACCOUNTING DISCLOSURES 

Advance from State General Fund 
The advance from the State General Fund to the BEST was authorized by Chapter 1083 of the Public Acts of the 99th 
General Assembly for the purpose of covenng implementation and other costs for the BEST program from the 
admirustrahve revolving account maintained by the State Treasurer. The BEST's obligation to repay the advance 
was forgiven by provision of the Public Acts o/1999 (Chapter 539, Section 41, Item 25) and recorded as an operat­
ing transfer to the BEST. The advance was reported as "Advance from State Contingent Revenue Fund" on the 
Comparative Balance Sheets as of June 30, 1998 and June 30, 1997, but should have been reported as "Advance 
from State General Fund." 
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TREASURER ' S REPORT 

BACCALAUREATE EDUCATION SYSTEM TRUST 

REQUlRED SUPPLEMENT ARY INFORMATION 
}UNE 30, 1999 AND }UNE 30, 1998 

YEAR 2000 ISSUE 

UNAUDITED 

The State Treasurer is currently addressing the " Year 2000" (Y2K) issue relah.ng to computer systems and other elec­
tronic equipment The Y2K issue reters to the tact that many computer software programs use only the last two dtgJts of 
a data field to refer to ·yedr" on the assumption thdt the first two d1g1t. are " 19" These programs would interpret the 
Year 2000 as the Year 1900, the Year 2001as1901. etc. The 1ssm~ therefore extends to computer hardware, electronics 
and other equipment dependent on microchip technology. In addition, some computer programs ma~· not recogrnze 
that the Year 2000 is a leap year resulhng in incorrect date calculations. Without reprogramming, such software and 
equipment could impact the ability to input data into computer programs and the ability of such programs to correctly 
process data. Y2K affocts the computer systems utilized direct!}' by the BEST as well as the other systems upon which 
the BEST depends to fulfill 1ts miss10n. The State Treasurer's Y2K irutiahves relating to the BEST did not result in the 
commjtment of significant resources as of June 30, 1999 and June 30, l 998 

The State Treasurer has assessed the Ul1pact of Y2K on the BEST computer systems and has determined that certain 
computer systems are mission-cnhcal, certain are cnt1cal, and certain are supportive. Mission-critical computer sys­
tems are those for which there are no reliable manual alternatives, and for which failure to be in Y2K compliance would 
prevent the BEST from fulfiUrng 1ts mission. Critical computer systems are those for which there are manual altema­
hves, but the State Treasurer would be unlikely to be able to fuUy or eff1c1ently perform the functions manually, be­
cause of the volume of manual activity that would be regwred. Supportive computer systems are those for which there 
are manual alternatives that could be performed if necessary. 

The BEST relies pnncipally upon one ma1or computer system (the BEST system) for maintenance of data and partici­
pant accounhng Other systems cri tical to the BEST operabons mclude the State Treasurer's generaJ ledger accounting 
system, utihzed to reconcile the subsidiary ledgers and to produce fmanc1al statements, the document inventory sys­
tem, uhhzed to maintain a record of mcornmg and outgoing documents and correspondence and the investment sys­
tem, whtch mamtalilS a perpetual inventory of all the secunhes owned by BEST, maintains a record of aH acqwsitions, 
d1spos1hons and matunties of securihes m the BEST portfolio, and initiates settlement with the BEST investment custo­
d ian. 

The State Treasurer has identified the above mentioned computer systems that are mISsion-crihcal and has subjected 
those systems to the following stages of work to address Year 2000 lssues. 

Awareness stage - Establishmg a budget and project plan for dealing with the year 2000 issue. 
Assessment stage - Identifying the systems and components for wluch the year 2000 compliant work is needed. 
Remediation stage - Making changes to systems and equipment. 
Val1dat1on/testmg stage - Validatmg and testing the changes that were made during the remediation stage. 

As of June 30. 1999. the awareness, assessment and remed1abon stages had been completed for all miss10n-crihcal 
systems and electronic equipment. The validation/testing stage had been completed for all m1ssion-crit1ca] systems 
and was m progress for electronic equipment. While the completion of such stages is an indicanon of progress made in 
add ressing the Y2K issue, it is not a guarantee that the systems and equipment will be Year 2000 compliant. 

The State Treasurer has solicited information from other organizations whose Y2K compliance could affect the BEST 
regarding the status of their assessment, remedtation, and validation/ testing of their computer systems. Of the organi­
zations that have responded to date, all expect to adueve compliance in a manner that will not have a materially 
negative effect on the BEST operabons. The State Treasurer does not have full and complete information from these 
organizations regarding the status of implementing Y2K compliance. Any failure by some or all of these organizations 
to be in Y2K compliance may have a material negative impact on the BEST operations or financial status. 

Because of the unprecedented nature of the Year 2000 issue, its effects and success of related remediation efforts will 
not be fully detenmnableuntil the Year2000 and thereafter. Management cannot assure thatthe BEST is or will be Year 
2000 ready, that the remediabon efforts will be successful in whole or in part, or that parties with whom the BEST does 
business will be Year 2000 ready. 
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CHAJRS OF EXCELLENCE 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

.. 
COMPTROLLER OF THE TREASURY 

DEPARTMENT OF AUDIT 
DIVISION OF STATE AUDIT 

SUITE 1500. JAMES K . POLK STATE OFFICE BUILDING 
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243·0264 

December 10, 1999 

The Honorable John G. Morgan 
Comptroller of the Treasury 
State Capitol 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 

Dear Mr- Morgan: 

PHONE (615) 741-3697 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets ot the Chairs of Excellence as of June 30 1999. and June 30, 1998, 
and the related statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund balances and cash flows for the years then 
ended. These fmanc1al statements are the responsibility of management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these ftnanaaJ statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standard~. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the arnoun~s and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and sigruhcant 
eshmates made by management, as welJ as evaluating the overall financial sta tement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our report dated December 29, 1998, we qualified our opinion on the 1998 financial statements because insufficient 
audit evidence existed to support the Chairs of Excellence's disclosures requjred by the Governmental Accowiting 
Standards Board (GASB) Technical Bulletin 98-1, Disclosures about Year 2000 Issues. The Chairs of Excellence's yea r 
2000 disclosures are now reported as required supplementary information as permitted by GASB Technical Bulletin 
99-1, Disclosures about Year 2000 Issues-an amendment ofTechmcal Bulletin 98-1. Accordingly, our present opinion on 
the 1998 financial statements, as expressed herein, is different from our pnor report on the 1998 financial statements. 

ln our opiruon, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Chairs of Excellence as of June 30, 1999, and June 30, 1998, and the results of 1ts operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in conformity with genera Uy accepted accounting principles. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 10, 1999, on our 
consideration of the Chairs of Excellence's internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, and contracts. 

Sincerely, 
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TREl\SUREA S R E P 0 R i 

CHAIRS OF EXCELLENCE 
COMPARATIVE BALANCE SHEETS 
}UNE 30, 1999 AND }UNE 30, 1998 

ASSETS 

Cash 

Investments, at fair value 

Short-tenn investments 

Long-term investments 
Domestic securities 
Government bonds 
Corporate bonds 
Corporate stocks 

International securities 
Corporate bonds 
Corporate stocks 

Total investments 

Receivables 
Due from College and University Fund 
Investment income receivable 
Investments sold 

Total receivables 

TOT AL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 

LIABILITIES 

Due to College and University Fund 
Due to the Academ.ic Scholars Fund 
Due to State General Ftmd 
Investments purchased 

TOT AL LIABILITIE.S 

FUND BALANCES 

Endowment reserve 
Special reserve 

TOT AL FUND BALANCES 

TOT AL LIABILITIES AND FUND BAL.<\.NCE5 

See accompanying Notes to the Finl.lncial Statements 

PAGE 10~ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 1999 

0 

12,176,332 

66,243,892 

27,078.058 
115,653,946 

5,418,895 
4,496.215 

231,067,338 

460,000 

1,547,313 
519,946 

2,527,259 

233,594,597 

2,638,557 
3,621,389 

58,765 

860.925 

7,179,636 

219,007,482 

7,407,479 

226,414,961 

233,594,597 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 1998 

35,227 

15,549,349 

t:>S,176.079 
15,385,900 

103,821,809 

5 .617,335 

2,315,187 
210,865,719 

410,000 
1,573,740 

0 

1.983,7-10 

212,884,686 

1,783,159 
3,673.891 

0 
0 

5,457,050 

200,558,716 

6,868,920 

207,427,636 

212,884,686 



FINANCIAL S T A T E M E N T S 

CHAIRS OF ExCELLENCE 
COMPARATrvE STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

Fon THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 1999 AND }UNE 30, 1998 

OPERATING REVENUES 

Investment income 
Contributions from prn·ate sources 

TOTAL OPERA TING REVENUES 

OPERA TING EXPENSES 

Payments to the Uruversity of Tennessee 
Payments to the Tennessee Board of Regents 
Interest payments to the Academic Scholars Fund 
Administrative cost 

TOTAL OPERA TING EXPENSES 

NETlNCOME 

FUND BAI.ANCES, BEGINNING OF YEAR 
Add: Cmnulative effect of change in 
accounting principle (Note A.4) 

RESTATED FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING OF YEAR 

FUND BAI.ANCES, END OF YEAR 

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements 

$ 

For the Year 
Ended 

June 30, 1999 

26,856,551 

304,250 

27,160,801 

3,595,830 
4,103,766 

300,246 
173,634 

8,173,476 

18,987,325 

207,427,636 

0 
207,427,636 

226,414,961 $ 

For the Year 
Ended 

June 30, 1998 

33,649,111 
732,000 

34,381,111 

3.418,265 
2.911 ,168 

298,230 
157,373 

6,785,036 

27,596,075 

153,601,997 

26,229,564 
179,831,561 

207,427,636 
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T R E > S U R E R s R E P 0 R T 

CHAJRS OF EXCELLENCE 

COMPARATIVE S TATEMENTS OF CASH F LOWS 

F OR THE YEARS E NDED } UNE 30, 1999 AND J UNE 30, 1998 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIYmES 

NET INCOME 

ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE 1'.TET INCOME TO NET 
CASH USED BY OPERA TING ACTIVITIES 

Investment income 
Interest paid to the Academic Scholars Fund 
Changes in assets and habtllties 
Increase i.n due from College and Unh·ersity Fund 
Increase {decrease) m due to College and University Fund 
Decrease in due to Academic Scholar~ Fund 
Increase (decrease) m due lo State General Fund 

NIT CASH USED BY OPERA TING ACTIVITIES 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Investment i.ncome received 
Proceeds from sales and matunhes of investments 
Purchase of- investments 
Interest paid to the AcademlC Scholars Fund 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY fNVESTING AcnvmES 

NET INCREASE(DECREASE) IN CASH 

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 

CASH, END OF YEAR 

For the Year 
Ended 

June 30. 1999 

18.987,325 

(26,856,551) 
300,246 

(50,000) 
855,398 
(52,502) 
58,765 

(6.- 57,319) 

8,739,153 

142.729,741 
(144 446,556) 

(300,246) 

6.722,092 

(35,227) 

35227 

0 

NON CASH rNVESTING. CAPITAL AND FINANCING ACI1VITIES 

$ 

$ 

For the Year 
Ended 

June 30, 1998 

27 .596,075 

(33.649,11 ll 
298,230 

(-14,000) 
115,7971 
(46,970) 

(35519) 

(5 897,092) 

8,313,828 
246,084,070 

(248,167,349) 
(298.230) 

5.932,319 

35,227 

0 

35,227 

The Cham of Excellence Trust had $860,925 of unsettled investment purchases and $519 ,946 unsettled 
uwestment sales at June 30, 1999. There were no unsettled investment purchases or sales at Jwie 30, 1998. 

See accompanying Notes to the Fmancirzl Statements 
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A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1. Reporting Entity 

" L 5 T A T E M E N s 

CHAIRS OF ExCELLENCE 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

}UNE 30, 1999 AND }UNE 30, 1998 

The Chairs of ExceUence (COE) Trust forms an integral part of the primary government and has been m­
cluded as a nonexpendable trust fund m the Tennessee Com:prchen~n·P Annual Fmancial Report . 

2. Measurement Focus and Basis of Ac.counting 
The accompanying financia l statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted account­
ing principles as prescnbed by the Governmental Accountmg Standards Board (GASB). The COE Trust fol ­
lows all applicable GASB pronouncements as " ·ell as applicable pnvate-sector pronouncements issued on or 
before November 30, 1989. The financial statements have been prepared using the flow of economic re­
sources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accountmg. Under this basis. revenues are recorded 
when ea med and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred. 

3. Cash 
Cash and cash equivalents, by defirution, includes cash and short-term mvestmentc; with a matunt} dtite 
within three months of the acquisition date. The state' s accounting policy regarding the defirutJOn of cash 
and cash equivalents includes cash management pools as cash. Jn addibon, under the policy short-tenn 
secunhes otherwise defined as cash equi\·alents, that are in portfolios where the pnmar) purpose is to facili­
tate the placement of tunds in long-term investments, are dass1hed as investments . 

Cash received by the COE Trust that cannol be 1mmediately invested in securities 1s invested rn the State 
Pooled Investment Fund administered by the State Treasurer. The State Pooled investment Fund is authcr 
rized by state statute to invest funds in accordance with policy guidelines approved by the Funding Board of 
the State of Tennessee. The current resolution of that board gwes the Treasurer authority to invest m coUat­
eralized certificates of deposit in authorized state depositories, pnme commercial paper, pnme bankers 
acceptances, certain repurchase agreements, various U.S. Treasury and Agency obhgat1ons. and in obliga­
tions of the state of Tennessee pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Section 9-4-602(b) . The State Pooled 
Investment Fund JS also authorized to enter into securities lending agreements in which U.S. Government 
securities may be loaned to brokers for a fee. The loaned securities are transferred to the borrower by the 
custodial agent upon simultaneous receipt of collateraJ securihes. The pool's custodial credit risk is pre­
sented in the Tennessee Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the years ended June 30, 1999, and June 30, 
1998. The classification of Cash also includes cash held in a custody account under a contractual arrangement 
for master custody services. Cash balances with the custodiaJ agent are not classified into the credit risk catego­
ries established by Statement Number 3 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board as the custody account 
relationship does not meet the defirution for either a deposit with a fmancial institution or a security. 

4. Changes in Accounting Principles 
Effective July 1, 1997, the COE Trust adopted Statement Number 31 of the Governmental Accounting Stan­
dards Board (GASB) Accounting and Firumc1al Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment 
Pools. The provisions of this statement require that the investments of the COE Trust be reported at fair value 
on the balance sheet. The cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle as of July 1, 1997 resulted 111 

increases to both Investments and Fund BaJance of $26,229,564. 

5. Method Used to Value Investments 
Investments are reported at fair value For fair vaJue reporting, securihes traded on a nationaJ or interna­
tional exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current exchange rates. Short-term investments 
are reported at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value. Investment income mcludes real­
ized and unrealized appreciation (deprec1abon) 111 the fair value of investments, and interest and dividend 
income. Interest income is recognized when earned. Securities and securities transactions are recorded in the 
financial statements on trade-date basis. 

6. Fund Balance 
The Endowment Reserve includes funds provided by contributions from the state, colleges and universities 
and private sources, as well as gains and losses from fixed income and equity investments. The income from 
both fixed and equity investments that is not used to meet current needs is distributed to the Special Reserve 
At the discretion of the Board of Trustees of the COE Trust, the SpeaaJ Reserve may be used for future 
nonrecurring expenses or to supplement corpus or income. (continued) 
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TREASURER ' S REPORT 

CHAJRS OF EXCELLENCE 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

}UNE 30, 1999 AND ) UNE 30, 1998 (cONTlNUED) 

B. INVESTMENTS 

The investment policy of the COE Trust requires that public funds capital gains on public fwlds . and all current 
income exceed mg withdrawals be JJ1\·ested in fixed mcome secunties. Pnvate contribuhons may be invested in 
equity secunties, including domestic and foreign common stocks p reterred stocks and com·ertible bonds. Subse­
quent to the lillhal tundmg of a chair. funds may be transferred from egu1ty corpus to the hxed income corpus but 
not from the hxed income corpus to the equity corpus. 

The classihcation of Short-term Investments mcludes funds invested m a portfolio of short·tenn mvestments 
maintained br the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System These short-term investments may mclude U.S. Trea­
sury and Agency obligations, commemal paper. medium-term corpora te notes, promissory notes and repurchase 
agreement~. 

The COE Trust mvestment securities are categorized below according to the level of custodial credit risk assoc1· 
ated with the custod ial arrangements at year-end . Category 1 tncludes investments that are insured or registered, 
or for which securities are held by the COE Tnist or its agent in the name of the COE Trus t. Category 2 includes 
unmsured and unregis tered investments for which the securities are held by the counterparty's trust department 
or agent m the name of the COE Trust. Category 3 includes unmsured and unregistered investments for which the 
securities are held by the counterpa.rty 's trust department or agent but not in the name of the COE Trust. 

INVESTMENTS - CATEGORY 1 

Short-term Investments 
Commercial Pa per 
Government Bonds 

Long-term Investments 
Domest ic Securities 
Government Bonds 
Corporate Bonds 
Corporate Stocks 

International Securities 
Corporate Bonds 
Corporate Stocks 

TOTAL INVES1MENTS - CATEGORY 1 

INVESTMEN1S-CATEGORY2 

INVESTMEN'IS- CA TE GORY 3 

INVESTMEN'IS - NOT CATEGORIZED 
Unsettled Investment Acquisitions 

Domestic Securities 
Corporate Stocks 

TOT AL INVESTMENTS 

PAGE !OS 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 1999 
Fair Value 

8,919,783 

3,256,549 

66,243,892 

27,078,058 
114,779,446 

5,418,895 

4,496,215 

230,192,838 

0 

0 

874,500 

231,067,338 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 1998 
Fair Value 

15,549,349 

0 

68.176,079 

15,385,900 
103,821,86q 

5,617,335 

2,315,187 

210.865,719 

0 

0 

0 

210,865,719 
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N fl N C A L S T A T E M E N T S 

CHAIRS Of EXCELLENCE 
NOTES TO THE FINANOAL STATEMENTS 

}UNE 30, 1999 AND JUNE 30, 1998 (CONTINUED) 

The COE Trust is authorized by its investment policy. as adopted b~· the Board of Trustees of the COE Trust . to 
enter into collateralized securihes lending agreements whereby the Trust loans its debt and equity securities for a 
fee to a select few of the highest quality securihes firms and banks. Loans must be limited so tbe total amount on 
loan does not exceed 30 percent of the Trust's assets. The borrower may deliver collateral to the lending agent in 
the form of cash or bonds, notes, and treasury bills of the Uruted States or other obl1gahons guaranteed as to 
principal and mterest by the United States or any of its agencies or by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corpora­
tion. Federal Nahonal Mortgage Association, Student Loan Marketing Association and other United States gov­
ernment sponsored corporahons or enterpnses. Cash received as collateral may be reinvested by the lending 
agent in accordance v..'ith the investment policy, as further restricted under the COE securities lend mg agreement 
Collateral securities cannot be pledged or sold unless the borrower defaults . 

The loaned securities are initially collatera1ized at 102 percent of their fair value for domestic securities and 105 
percent for international. Collateral is marked-to-market daily and additional collateral is pledged by the bor­
rower if the fair value of the collateral subsequently falls below 100 percent for domestic securities and 105 per­
cent for intemahonal. Although there is no specific policy for matching the maturities of collateral investments 
and the securities loans, the securities on loan can be terminated on demand by either the COE Trust or the 
borrower 

During the years ended June 30, 1999 and June 30, 1998, the COE Trust had no secunties on Joan 

C. OTHER ACCOUNTING DISCLOSURES 

1. Chairs of Excellence Endowment Trust 
The COE Trust is a nonex.pendable trust fund authorized by the 94th General Assembly to further the cause 
of education m Tennessee. The COE Trust is administered by the State Treasurer. The Trust is set up into 
two general accounts which equally djvide any state appropriat10ns: one for the Uru,·ersity of Tennessee 
and one for the Tennessee Board of Regents. As each Chair is designated, a portion of the appropriation is 
transferred to a sub-account for that Chair. The awarding college or uruversity must provtde matching 
contribuhons, of which at least 50 percent of the funds are from private contributions. 

As of June 30, 1999, 97 Chairs have been established with matching contributions received totaling $54,2...":\0,456. 
nus is an increase of 1 Chair and $304,250 since June 30, 1998. Total contributions to the COE Trust totaled 
$98,230,456 as of June 30, 1999. nus includes $44,000,000 from the State, $10,321,300 from Colleges and 
Universities, and $43,909.156 from private contributions. 

2. Academic Scholars Fund 
Funds from the Academic Scholars Fund are combined with the COE Trust for investment purposes only. 
The Academic Scholars Fund general account receives only the income earned on its principal and does not 
receive any COE Trust state contributions or appropriations. These funds are invested in domestic fixed 
income secunties. 
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TREASURER ' S REPOR1 

CHA1RS OF EXCELLENCE 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY I NFORMATION 
} UNC 30, 1999 AND }UNE 30, 1998 

YEAR 2000 ISSUE 

UNAUDITED 

The State Treasurer 1s current!) addressmg the "Year 2000·· (Y2KJ issue relating to computer systems and other elec­
tronjc equipment. The Y2K issue refers to the fact th<1t many computer software programs use onJy the l<1st tvvo digits 
of a data field to refer to ''yea r'' on the assumption that the first two digits are "19". These programs would interpret 
the Year 2000 as the Year I 900, the Year 2001 as 1901, etc. The issue therefore extends to computer hard ware, electron­
ics and other equipment dependent on m1croch1p technology. In addition, some computer programs may not recog­
nize that the Year 2000 ts a leap ) ear, resultmg m 111correct date calcu lations. Without reprogrammmg, such software 
and equipment could impact the ability to mput data into computer programs and the abilitv of such programs to 
correctly process data. Y2K affects the computer systems utilized directly by the COE Trust as well as the other sys­
tems upon which the COE Trust depends to fulfill its mission The State Treasurer's Y2K 111ihatives relahng to the COE 
Trust d id not result in the commitment of significant resources as o{ }W1e 30. 1999 and June 30. 1998. 

The State Treasurer has assessed the impact of Y2K on COE Trust computer systems and has detennmed that certain 
computer systems are miss1on-cntical, certain a.re cntical, and certain are supportive. Mission-critical computer sys­
tems are those for which there are no reliable manual alternatives, and for which failure to be in Y2K compliance 
would prevent the COE Trust from fulfillmg its m1ss1on. Critical computer systems are those for \\'hlch there are 
manual alternatives, but the State Treasurer would be unlikely to be able to fully or efficiently perform the funcbons 
manually. because of the volume of manual activity that would be required. Supportive computer systems are those 
for which there are manual alternatives that could be performed 1f necessary 

The COE Trust relies prmcipally upon one maior computer system . the Treasury Earnings and Account Management 
System (TEAMS) for participant level accountmg Other systems critical to the COE Trust operations include the State 
Treasurer's general ledger accounting system, utilized to reconcile the subsidiary ledgers and to produce finanaal 
statements, and the investment system which maintams a perpetual inventory of all the securities O\.\'Jled by the COE 
Trust, maintams a record of all acquisitions, d1spos1tions and matunhes of securities in the COE Trust portfolio, and 
inihates settlement with the COE Trust investment custodian. 

The State Tredsurer has identified the above mentioned computer systems that are mission-crHical and is subjecting 
those systems to the following stages of work to address Year 2000 issues. 

Awareness stage - Establishing a budget and project plan for dealing with the year 2000 issue 
Assessment stage - ldentitymg the systems and components for whkh the year 2000 compliant work is needed. 
Remediation stage - Making changes to systems and eqwpment. 
Validat1011/tesling stage - Val.tdating and testing the changes that were made during the remediation stage. 

As of June 30, 1999, the awareness, assessment and remediation stages had been completed for all mission-critical 
systems and electronic equipment. The validation / testing stage had been completed for all nussion critical systems 
and was in process for electronic equipment While the completion of such stages is an indication of progress made in 
addressing the Y2K issue, it 1.S not a guarantee that the systems and equipment will be Year 2000 compliant. 

The State Treasurer has sol1c1ted information from other organizations whose Y2K compliance could affect the COE 
Trust regarding the status of their assessment, remediation, and validation/ testing of their computer systems . Of the 
organizations that have responded to date, all expect to achieve compliance in a manner that will not have a materially 
negabve effect on the COE Trust operations. The State Treasurer does not have ful l and complete mfonnation from 
these organizahons regarding the status of unplemenbng Y2K compliance. Any failure by some or all of these orgaru­
zatiorts to be in Y2K compliance may have a matenal negative rm pact on the COE Trust operations or financial status. 

Because of the unprecedented nature of the Year 2000 issue, its effects and success of related remediation efforts will 
not be fullv determinable until the Year 2000 and thereafter. Management cannot assure that the COE Trust is or will 
be Year 2000 ready, that the remediation efforts will be successful in whole or in part, or that parties with whom the 
COE Trust does business will be Year 2000 ready. 
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F N N C A l S T A T E M E N T S 

BONO REFUNDING TRUST 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S R EPORT 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

COMPTROLLER OF THE TREASURY 
DEPARTMENT OF AUDIT 

DIVISION OF STATE AUDIT 
SUITE 1500, JAMES K POLK STATE OFFICE BUILDING 

NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243-0264 

December IO, 1999 

The Honorable John G. Morgan 
Comptroller of the Treasury 
State Capitol 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 

Dear Mr. Morgan· 

PHONE (615) 741 -3697 

We have audited the accompanylilg balance sheets of the Bond Refunding Trust as of June 30, 1999, and June 30, 1998, 
and the related statement of changes in assets and liabilities for the year ended June 30, 1999. These financial statements 
are the responsibility of management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based 
on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted government aud1tmg standards. Those standards 
reqwre that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. A.n audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
dtsdosures in the financial statements . . .o\n audit also rncludes assessing the accounting pnnc1pJes used and s1gnihcant 
estimates made by management, as weU as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our report dated December 29, 1998, we qualified our opinion on the 1998 financial statements because insufficient 
audit evidence existed to support the Bond Refunding Trust's disclosures required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Technical Bulletin 98-1, Disclosures about Year 2000 Issues. The Bond Refunding Trust' s year 
2000 disclosures are now reported as required supplementary infonnation as permitted by GASB Technical Bullehn 99-
1, Disclosures about Year 2000 Issues-an amendment of Technical Bulletin 98-1. Accordingly, our present opiruon on the 
1998 financial statements, as expressed herein, is different from our pnor report on the 1998 fmancial statements. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Bond Refunding Trust as of June 30, 1999, and June 30, 1998, and the changes in assets and liabilities for the year 
ended June 30, 1999, m conformity with generally accepted accountmg principles. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 10, 1999, on our 
consideration of the Bond Refunding Trust's internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws. regulations, and contracts. 

-P A GE 11 1 



1 R E A S U R E R s R E P 0 R l 

BOND R EFUNDING TRUST 

COMPARATJVI: BALANCE SHEETS 

JUNE 30, 1999 AND JUNE 301 1998 

ASSETS 

Cash 
Investments, (see Note CJ 
Accrued interest receivable 

TOT AL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 

Amounts held in custodv for others 

See accompany mg Notes to the Finrmc1a/ Sfatem~nts 

BOND REFUN DING TRUST 

$ 

$ 

5 

June 30, 1999 

430 
72,249,005 

331,660 

72.581.095 

72.581.095 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LlABIUTIES 
FoR THE YEAR ENDED } UNE 30, 1999 

Balance 
Julyl, 1998 Additions 

ASSETS 

Cash $ 1,068 $ 78,450.252 

Investments 99,022,489 51,369,172 

Accrued interest receivable 365,966 331,660 

TOTAL ASSE1S $ 99,389,523 $ 130,151,084 

LIABILITIES 

Amounts held in custody 
for others $ 99,389,523 $ 0 

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements 

F"GE 112 

s 

s 

$ 

Deductions 

$ 78,450.890 

78,1 42,656 

365,966 

$ 156,959,512 

$ 26,808,428 

June 30, 1998 

1,068 

99,022,489 

365,966 

CJ9.38CJ523 

99,389523 

Balance 
June 30, 1999 

$ 430 
72,249,005 

331,660 

$ 72,581.095 

$ i2,581,095 
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A. SUMMARY OF SJGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1. Reportin g Entity 

A L E T A T E M E N T S 

BOND REFUNDING TRUST 
NOTES TO THE FlNANClAL STATEMENTS 

}UNE 30, 1999 AND )UNE 30, 1998 

The Bond Refundmg Trust forms an integral part of the primary government and has been included as an 
agency fund in the Tennessee Comprelwnsive Annual Fmancuil Report. 

2. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
The accompanymg financial statements have been prepared in conformity \'\-ith generally accepted account­
mg principles as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). TI1e agency fund is 
custodial in nature and does not measure results of operations or have a meas urement focus . 

3. Method Used to Value Jnvestments 
U.S. Government Secunhes are valued at the last reported market price and State and locaJ Government 
Series Securities are reported at cost. 

B. CASH 

Cash held by the trustee is pooled w1th the State Pooled Irwestment Fund admmistered by the State Treasurer 
which is authorized by state statute to mvest fundsm accordance with policy guidelines approved by the Funding 
Board of the State of Tennessee (Funding Board). The current resolution of the Funding Board gwes the Treasurer 
authority to invest in collateralized certificates of deposit m authorized state depositories, prime commercial 
paper, prime bankers' acceptances, certain repurchase agreements, various U.S. Treasury and Agency obliga­
tions, and in obligations of the state of Tennessee pursuant to Tennessee. Code Annotated, Section 9-4-602{b). The 
State Pooled Investment Fund is also authorized to enter into securities lending agreements in which U.S. Govern· 
ment Securities may be loaned for a fee . The loaned securities are transferred to the borrower by the custodial 
agent upon simuJtaneous receipt of collateral securities. The State Pooled investment Fund's custodial cred it risJ... 
is presented m the Tennessee Comprehensfue Annual Financial Report for the years ended June 30, 1999 and June 30, 1998. 

C. INVESTMENTS 

The investments held by the trustee at June 30, 1999 consisted of U.S. Government Securihes at a fa jr value of 
$53,162,625 and State and Local Government Series Securities reported at cost of $19,086,380. As of June 30, 1998, 
investments conststed of U.S. Government Securities at a fair value of $78,953,699 and State and Local Govern­
ment Series securities reported at cost of $20,068,790. The trust is restricted by the Tennessee Local Development 
Authority·s and the Funding Board's Bond Resolutions to investing in direct general obligations of. or obligations 
the payment of the principal and interest of which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, 
which are non-callable at the option of the issuer. All securities are held m accounts with the Federal Reserve Bank 
or the Bureau of Public Debt in the state's name. 

D: OTHER ACCOUNTING DISCLOSURES 

The State Treasurer has been designated as a trustee for the Tennessee Local Development Authority, and for the 
Funding Board pursuant to various refunding trust agreements. Refunrung bonds are issued to take advantage of 
lower interest rates and the proceeds resulting from the advance refundings are held by the trustee in an irrevo­
cable trust to provide for the debt service payments and call premiums at the redemption dates. In February, 1996, 
the Funding Board issued refunding bonds of $190,965,000 to refund: (1) $26,385,000 of the General Purpose 
bonds dated August 1, 1980 maturing on and after March 1, 1997, (2) $98,000,000 of the General Purpose bonds 
dated May 1, 1986 maturing on and after April 1, 1997, (3) $23,000,000 of the General Purpose bonds dated )Wle 
15, 1989 maturing on and after June 1. 2000 and (4) $50,000,000 of the General Purpose bonds dated June 15, 1991 
maturing on and after June 1, 2002. 

In March 1996, the 1980 refunded bonds were redeemed and in April 1996, the 1986 refunded bonds were re­
deemed. The 1989 refunded bonds were redeemed in June 1999 and the 1991 refunded bonds will be redeemed in 
June 2001. 

In November, 1997 the Tennessee Local Development Authority issued refunding bonds of $37,385,000 to refund 
$19,515,000 of the 1991 Series A State Loan Program Revenue bonds, dated June 25, 1991 maturing on and after 
March I, 1998 and $16,495,000 of the 1997 Series A State Loan Program Revenue Bond Antic1pation Notes. The 
Note refunding matured and paid out in May 1998. 
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TRfASURfR s A E P 0 A T 

BOND REFUNDING TRUST 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENT ARY lNFORMA TION 
}UNE 30, 1999 AND }UNE 30, 1998 

YEAR 2000 ISSUE 

UNAUDITED 

The- State Treasurer is currently ad dressing the " Year 2000' (Y2K) issue relating to computer systems and other elec­
troruc equipment. The Y2K issue refers to the fact that many computer software programs use only the last two digits 
of a data field to refer to '·yea r" on the assumption that the fustnvo digits are ''19" . These programs would interpret the 
Year 2000 as the Year 1900, the Year 2001as 1901, etc. The issue therefore extends to computer hardware, electronics 
and other equipment dependen t on microchip technology. In add1tton, some computer programs may not recognae 
that the Year 2000 1s a leap year, resulting m incorrect d$te cakul3tions. Without reprogramming, such software and 
equipment could impact the ability to mput data mto computer programs and the ability of such programs to correctly 
process data. Y2K affects the computer applications utilized directly by the Bond Refunding Trust as well as the other 
applicahons upon which the Bond Refunding Trust depends to fu Ifill tl<> miss10n. The State Treasurer's Y2K Ln1tiatives 
relating to the Bond Refunding Trnst did not result in the comrrutrnent of significant resources as of June 30. 1999 and 
June 30, 1998. 

The State Treasurer has assessed the impact of Y2K on the Bond Refunding Trust computer systems and has deter­
mmed that certain computer systems are miss1on-critica1, certain are critical, and certain are supportive. Mission­
critical computer systems are those for which there are no reliable manual altemahves, and for which failure to be m 
Y2K compliance would prevent the Bond Refunding Trust from fulfilling its mission. Critical computer systems are 
those for which there are manual alternatives, but the State Treasurer would be unlikely to be able to fully or effic1ently 
perform the funcnons manually, because of the volume of manual activity that would be required. Supportive com­
puter systems are those for which there are manual altemahves that could be performed if necessary. 

Systems critical to the Bond Refunding Trust operations include the State Treasurer's general ledger accounting sys­
tem, utilized to reconcile the subsidiary ledgers and to produce financial statements, and the investment system, which 
maintains a perpetual inventory of all the securities owned by the Bond Refunding Trust and maintains a record of all 
acquisitions, dispositions and maturities of securihes in the Bond Refunding Trust portfolio. 

The State Treasurer has idenhfied the above mentioned computer systems that are mission-critical and has subjected 
those systems to the following stages of work to address Year 2000 issues. 

Awareness stage - Establishing a budget and project plan for dealing with the year 2000 issue. 
Assessment stage - ldenhiying the systems and components for which the year 2000 compliant work is needed. 
Remediah°on stage - Making changes to systems and equipment. 
Validatzon/testing stage - Validating and testing the changes that were made during the remediation stage. 

As of June 30, 1999, the awareness, assessment and remediation stages had been completed for both miss10n-cnhcaJ 
systems and electronic equipment. The validation/testing stage has been completed for all mission-critical systems 
and is in process for electronic equipment. While the completion of such stages provides an indicabon of progress 
made m addressing the Y2K issue, it is not a guarantee that the systems and eqwpment will be Year 2000-compliant. 

The State Treasurer has soHcited information from other organizations whose Y2K compliance could affect the Bond 
Refunding Trust regarding the status of their assessment. remediation, and validation/ testing of their computer sys­
tems. Of the organizations that have responded to date. all expect to achieve compliance in a manner that will not have 
a materially negative effect on the Bond Refunding Trust operations. The State Treasurer does not have full and com­
plete inf onnahon from these organizations regarding the status of implementing Y2K compliance. Any failure by some 
or a 11 of these organizations to be in Y2K compliance may have a material negative impact on the Bond Refunding Trust 
operahons or financial status. 

Because of the unprecedented nature of the Year 2000 issue, its effects and success of related remediation efforts will 
not be fully determinable until the Year 2000 and thereafter. Management cannot assure that the Bond Refunding Trust 
is or will be Year 2000 ready, that the remediation efforts will be successful m whole or in part, or that parties with 
whom the Bond Refunding Trust does business will be Year 2000 ready. 
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On the cover: 

Norris Dam State Park, located in East Tennessee, is famous not 
only for Norris Dam but also the 18th Century Rice Grist Mill that 
still grinds com meaJ in the summer. The park also offers several 
seasonal programs including Hill Cave tours, the Spring Heritage 
Festival, annual w ildflower hikes and many more exciting adven­
tures. 

Tennessee is well known for its state parks and natural areas. From 
the rolling Mississippi to the mountains of East Tennessee there are 
over 50 state parks with activities including hiking, biking, fishing, 
boating, camping and golf. Several parks offer resort inns. 

For more information about Tennessee State Parks, visit them on 
the web at www.state.tn.us/environment/parks/ or call toll free 
1-888-TN-PARKS. 

Photos furnished by State of Tennessee Photographic Services. 

The Tennessee Department of Treasury operates 
all programs and activities free from 
discrimination on the basis of sex, race, or any 
other classification protected by federal or 
Tennessee state law. Individuals with disabilities 
who may require an alternative communicatwn 
format for this or other Treasury Department 
publications. please contact the Treasury ADA 
coordinator at 615-741-4985. 

Treasury Department 
December 1999 

Authonzation No. 309084 
500 copies. This public document 
was ponied at a cost of 5623 each. 
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